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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAO Leiwen
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (resigned on May 10, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (3R ¥}, alias R 2 %f)
Mr. FAN Xin (appointed on May 10, 2023)
Mr. HE Haijian

Ms. HUANG Bei

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Mr. HE Haijian (Chairman)
Mr. LI Ji
Ms. HUANG Bei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman)

Mr. FAN Xin (appointed on May 10, 2023)
Mr. HE Haijian

Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (3R, alias 5k 2 &F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias 5k 2 %F ) (Chairman)

Mr. FAN Xin (appointed on May 10, 2023)
Mr. HE Haijian
Ms. HUANG Bei

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairrman)

Mr. LI Ji

Mr. YAO Leiwen

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (resigned on May 10, 2023)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na
Ms. LI Ching Yi (appointed on March 13, 2023)
Ms. TSANG Wing Man (resigned on March 13, 2023)
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As to Cayman Islands law
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York House, The Landmark
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Hong Kong
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Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEHR

REGISTERED OFFICE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman KY1-9010

Cayman lIslands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

7/F, Building 3
Xingguangyao Plaza

No. 1888, Caoyang Road
Putuo District, Shanghai
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

19/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-9010

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.medbankshealthtech.com
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

For the year ended December 31,

HZ12A3ALEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023% 20225 20214 20205 20195
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTFR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Revenue A 4,712,107 4,119,478 3473930 2,699,647 1,039,011
Gross profit EF 414,698 337,352 283,449 186,860 81,804
Loss for the year FAEE (246,707) (1,371,764) (3,748,503) (1,042,029)  (596,071)
Loss for the year attributable NEEEA

to owners of the parent EiEENEE (255,768) (1,370,572) (3,740,455) (1,042,781)  (594,595)
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) FRLARER

for the year (R s

ERIFE) (150,095)  (258,682)  (365,084)  (258,563)  (254,241)
As of December 31,
HZ12A31R8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®TT ARETT AR®ETR

Total assets BmEE 2,815,040 2,929,554 2,892,819 2478598 1,151,106
Total liabilities BeE 1,183,889  1,095422 8,323,729 4,270,245 2,158,043
Equity attributable to owners of VN/NGIETZ=IN

the Company RS 1,618,859 1,836,901  (5,429,224) (1,796,652) (1,010,590)
Total equity/(deficits) Exm/ (B4 B8 1,631,151 1,834,132  (5430,910) (1,791,647) (1,006,937)

TRRENEERAT —E==558 5



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE D

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Overview

We connect and deliver clear values to patients, doctors, medical
institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across China’s
healthcare system through our robust technology platform and
data-enabled operational capabilities. We currently run three business
lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the “Specialty Pharmacy
Business”), physician research assistance (the “Physician Research
Assistance”), and health insurance services (the “Health Insurance
Services”).

Our Services

Specialty Pharmacy Business

Our Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from our pharmacy
and receive pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE
consultation, and medication delivery. We also built up the first and
only nationwide specialty medicine management platform, providing
follow-up assessment service under a unified system, and differentiating
us from our peers.

As of December 31, 2023, we operated 95 specialty pharmacies
across mainland China. Our pharmacies specialize in prescription
medicines for cancer and other critical diseases. We provide a wide
selection of specialty medicines, including innovative drugs newly
introduced to the market. Our professional pharmacist services ensure
patients to have better medication adherence and treatment efficacy.
Collaborating with the payer side, our specialty pharmacies also provide
direct billing with social medical insurance (BIZRE{R) and major
insurance carriers, offering additional payment solutions to patients.

6 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023

R HE
5

HAFIRE R RN BATF & RBURE R & &R
N BTBEERREEASNEE BL BE
B RERR RN IBBER YRS
FEREAREREE - TP B AT 2 = IREBR
BRFEEEXG ((REEEEK]) B4
FoEimBh ([BEW R W) Mg B iR b AR 75
([2RRBRAREE]) -

A B BR 7%
R BEELPS 55

TAPIRVAT BEBE S RIS RS i BE B S N (E
BEXERERY FIaREBREREME
BRBARE BE AU E M EFERE
BURTEEY) - YRS BERIRMARTS - 1N R BE4RE -
PR ARERR X RMTELEEDR
E-—EERENFEEEYe R
R AR HBER AT A RS R AR ITH
fRa T o

H £2023F12A31H » HAE B R b 48 &
BRIFEEBERE - RPN ESEPREAER
EREMEERROES S - RMREERBE
MERMISHNEIFNENTENNSERE R
MO EEERMREITRREEESETN
BRI ORISR - AT A0 i BE sk s B
SfFma e MEBRRERKEZRERAR
EVEMNEY BB EREEIINHRR
GEL



Physician Research Assistance

In our Physician Research Assistance business line, we mainly engage
in SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies in their drug
R&D process across all phases of clinical trials. Currently, the SMO
business contributes the majority of the Physician Research Assistance
revenue. Our in-depth experience and professional expertise in assisting
clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate us from our peers. Notably,
we have achieved 100% coverage of 27 provincial specialized oncology
hospitals and five national cancer treatment centers. As of December
31, 2028, we had completed 644 SMO projects and 756 SMO projects
were ongoing. We proudly serve 307 biotech and pharma clients,
which include all of the top ten public pharmaceutical companies in
China that engage in R&D of innovative drugs. During the Reporting
Period, we achieved a 100% client retention rate with respect to our
top ten SMO clients, as measured by revenue during the same period
of time. Over 95% of our SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology
drugs and typically contract our services for three to five years.

Health Insurance Services

In our Health Insurance Services business line, we offer solutions
of health plans mainly in two categories. One is Hui Min Insurance,
which serves as a supplement to the national basic medical insurance,
offering additional coverage for critical diseases, medical services, and
specialty medicines at a price affordable to the general population.
The other one is Enterprise Health Insurance, which provides a more
comprehensive and advanced protection to employers and their
employees, offering flexible quality health and disease management
services.

What differentiates us from industry peers who are also offering health
insurances are our health management capabilities built in our health
insurance offerings, particularly in Enterprise Health Insurance business.
Our robust health service provider network, together with our Specialty
Pharmacy Business, provide our members with high quality health
management services such as preventive care, GP service, specialist
referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare network. Leveraging
our data insights and actuarial capabilities, we have co-developed
differentiated health insurance plans with major insurance carriers at
competitive prices.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Business Highlights

Preliminary formulation of “dual-drivers” model

Through the organic development of our businesses, we have initially
established a “dual-drivers” system of “health insurance plus healthcare
management”. The system on one hand, improves the design of health
insurance products to attract larger customer base, and on the other
hand, provides professional consulting and services to help enterprises,
employees and insurance payers better manage their healthcare
expenditures and more proactively participate in preventive care and
value-based care.

Amount of Total Healthcare

Management Premium = Number of Members X
Healthcare Management Expenses Per Person

BRRREIEREEN-
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—

Enterprise Health

©

Insurance

R ERFRR

Health Plan Design

and Distribution
ERERIRHE) ‘
sREHAIENE ©)

Health Plan
Customer Base

ERIRER

Medbanks

2 ® om O B R

Municipal Hui Min
Insurance @
IR RRR
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Barriers to entry and Differentiation:

Professional
Medical Fulfillment
and Healthcare
Management
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National Network of
Critical Diseases Specialists

LESHREREE

Enterprise Health
Management Services

EEEREERE

National Network of
Medication Management

SEEYERES

the Self-Sustainable and Specialized Infrastructure
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Recovery and Steady Organic Growth

2023 is a year of slow recovery for almost all stakeholders in healthcare
system. We have continued with our strategy of organic growth, which
is the key to our nationwide quality control in offering standardized
professional services. Growing topline and quickly narrowing loss in
2023 continue to validate our strategy, growth disciplines, revenue
quality, and our execution capabilities accumulated in the past several
years of solid operations. The following table sets forth a breakdown of
revenue by business segments and gross margin segments during the
Reporting Period:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT

BEMRERHIER

HRBRAGNETMAENSHEBIMS

2023F RAR BB —F - RMABRK B HIE
EORE EERME2EEENRHREE
LB XIRFHE B1EHIRBISE - 20235 A
MR ATEE & - BRREWE  HERE T
PR  RRALE  WABEMEFIEB
EHRFRBELTHEENNTEEN - TRE
SR s B RGO MBE DR ARERN
KA -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2023 2022 Year-on-year

20234 20224 Change

Revenue N RMB’000 RMB’000 @] L & B

AR¥T T AREEFTT %

Specialty Pharmacy Business I L B 4,188,080 3,661,809 14.4
Physician Research Assistance EEMRHBIES

Business 361,781 319,449 13.3

Health Insurance Services Business {52 1R k2 AR 7% % 7% 162,246 138,220 17.4

Total 4AET 4,712,107 4,119,478 14.4

2023 2022

20234 20224F

Gross Margin ER=E % %

Specialty Pharmacy Business FREEgEfE 3 7S 4.7 5.0

Physician Research Assistance Business BEMMRHES 31.7 20.7

Health Insurance Services Business ER AT ES 64.2 63.5

Total #Et 8.8 8.2

We keep pressing on operational efficiency. Low tide period represents
a rare opportunity to stress test the management’s competence in
organizational adaptability and awareness-to-action responsiveness.
We achieved the business growth mentioned above continuously
by emphasizing internal efficiency. The size of the work force was
optimized from 3,210 as of December 31, 2022 to 3,096 as of
December 31, 2023. Nevertheless, thanks to the functional upgrade
achieved through efficiency streamlining, we managed to deliver double
digit growth in both revenue and gross profit. Such optimization has
laid a solid foundation for future sustainable growth prospects.

B THRERSEENE - RBEEAHEHE
BEEASEEENNEERITHNRIE
RENFTEETE AR BESEE - HMEF
BIRRATE BEH FMEKIER - ETH
B HE E2022F12 A1 B S 210ABILEE,
£2023%F12A31H H3,096 A o & & 0 It - 57
NN ERMEBEER T AR BME
ERNERTKRARENNELEIE R Z
HEELARRNAIFELRAISET TRE
HOELHRE -

BRRENEERAT —S-=258% ¢



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

R&D and Technology

Technology and R&D capabilities are core to our business. We have
developed our technology and digital infrastructure to enhance
our operations and services. Utilizing our expertise and statistics
accumulated from our day-to-day operations, our technology and
digital infrastructure well support our Specialty Pharmacy Business,
Physician Research Assistance and Health Insurance Services
operations and connect the dots among the business segments to
provide a holistic insights into the dynamics in healthcare industry
across products, providers and payers.

We invest substantial time, attention, and resources to improve our
technology and digital infrastructure, strengthen our data processing
and analytic capabilities, develop new solutions that are complementary
to existing ones and find ways to better serve our members, patients,
doctors, pharmaceutical companies, and insurance carriers. Our R&D
personnel primarily consist of data engineers, data scientists, software
engineers, technology infrastructure architects, health management
specialists and actuaries.

2023 Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the 2023 Share Award Scheme (2023
Scheme”) on August 30, 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Scheme is to recognize the contributions
by certain eligible participants and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Eligible participants under the 2023 Scheme include (i) directors and
employees (including full-time employees and part-time employees)
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including persons who are
granted awards under the 2023 Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with these companies); (i) directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow Subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company; and (iii) persons who provide services to
the Company and/or its Subsidiaries on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long-term growth of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, for
the avoidance of doubt, such service provider may not include placing
agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions, as well as professional service providers
such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.
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Subject to any early termination by the Board, the 2023 Scheme shall
continue in effect for a term of ten years from the Adoption Date, after
which no further awards will be granted.

The Administrator shall not make any further award of awarded shares
which will result in the aggregate number of the shares awarded
exceeding 3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date. On March 19, 2024, the maximum aggregate number
of the shares awarded under the 2023 Scheme was increased from
3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
to 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption
Date. The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a
selected participant under the 2023 Scheme shall not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.

During the period from October 31, 2023 to January 18, 2024, the
trustee has purchased 12,715,200 Shares in aggregate on the market
at the total consideration of approximately HK$94,884,012, ranged
from approximately HK$6.37 per Share to approximately HK$8.97 per
Share pursuant to the 2023 Scheme.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
August 30, 2023, November 2, 2023, November 29, 2023, January
22, 2024 and March 19, 2024. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized
terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined in the
announcement dated August 30, 2023.

Supplemental Agreement to the Concert Party
Agreement and Change in Public Float

Pursuant to the Concert Party Agreement dated August 5, 2021
entered into by Mr. Ma Xuguang, Mr. Li Ji, Wise Approach Investments
Limited (“Wise Approach”), Creative Pioneer Investments Limited
(“Creative Pioneer”) and Sail Far Holdings Limited (“Sail Far”)
(together, the “Concert Parties”), the Concert Parties confirmed that
they have been acting in concert in the management and operation
of the Group since the establishment of the Company and until the
termination of Concert Party Agreement.

Each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is an employee
incentive platform pursuant to the 2017 Plan and the RSU Scheme.
In order to facilitate the implementation of the 2017 Plan and the RSU
Scheme, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far will no longer
be bound by the Concert Party Agreement or acting in concert with
Mr. Ma and Mr. Li, while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li will continue to be bound
by the Concert Party Agreement acting in concert with each other in
the management and operation of the Group upon execution of the
Supplemental Agreement.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Mr. ZHOU Teng (A} ) , who is a core connected person (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company due to his directorship in
several subsidiaries of the Company, will be involved in the decision
making process in relation to the exercise of voting rights of the shares
held by each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far in the
capacity as one of the directors of each of these platforms. As a result,
the Shares held by each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail
Far are not considered as being held in public hands pursuant to Rule
8.24 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual report and based
on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum
public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 7, 2023 and the supplemental announcement on January
11, 2024. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used above
shall have the same meanings as defined in the announcement dated
December 7, 2023.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group’s online insurance brokerage service is conducted by
Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bj& (165 ) 4845 Fli%
BABR A 7)) (“Sipai Beijing Network”) and Sipai (Beijing) Insurance
Brokerage Co., Ltd. (B (L ) R &E 4B R A ) (‘Beijing Sipai
Brokerage”) each of which holds an ICP license.

On December 7, 2023, the Board announced that, in view of the
current requirements on the ownership of the operation of commercial
internet information services under relevant PRC laws and regulations,
for the purpose of satisfying the “narrowly tailored” requirement
under the Chapter 4.1 under the Guide for New Listing Applicants to
achieve the business and operation purposes of the Company under
the current PRC regulatory framework so as to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Company adopted
the New Contractual Arrangements to replace the Existing Contractual
Arrangements through steps of (1) shareholding adjustment of Sipai
Beijing Network and the Transitional Contractual Arrangements; (2)
capital injection by Sipai Healthcare Investment; and (3) reproduction of
the Existing Contractual Arrangements.
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In light of the above, (i) the Existing Contractual Arrangements were
terminated with effect from December 7, 2023; (i) the Transitional
Contractual Arrangements were entered into on substantially the
same terms as those currently in place under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements with effect from December 7, 2023; (i) approximately
RMB1.08 million were injected from Beijing Sipai Health Technology
Co., Ltd. (It RBIKEEHEM AR A F]) (“‘Beijing Sipai Health”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Sipai Healthcare Investment, to Sipai Beijing
Network and acquired 50% of the increased registered capital of Sipai
Beijing Network; and (iv) the New Contractual Arrangements were
entered into on substantially the same terms as those currently in place
under the Existing Contractual Arrangements concurrently with effect
from the termination of the Transitional Contractual Arrangements.

As a result, Sipai Beijing Network was owned as to approximately
27.69%, 22.31% and 50% by Mr. Ma, Mr. Li and Beijing Sipai Health,
respectively. As a result of the New Contractual Arrangements, the
Company is interested in 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare Investment’s equity interest in
Sipai Beijing Network and obtain control of the rest 50% of the equity
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare
Investment’s contractual rights and, at its sole discretion, is able to
receive all the economic interest returns generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Since the New Contractual Arrangements are reproductions of the
Existing Contractual Arrangements as provided under the conditions
of the VIE Waiver, the Company has sought the confirmation from the
Stock Exchange, and the Stock Exchange has confirmed, that the
transactions contemplated under the New Contractual Arrangements
shall continue to fall within the scope of the VIE Waiver and are exempt
from (i) the announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the New Contractual
Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (i) the
requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the
New Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules,
and (i) the requirement of limiting the term of the New Contractual
Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing
Rules, for so long as its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to compliance with the same conditions of the VIE Waiver.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
December 7, 2023 and December 28, 2023. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalized terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated December 7, 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Change of Joint Company Secretary, Authorized
Representative, Process Agent in Hong Kong and
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

With effect from March 13, 2023:

(0.

).

due to commercial arrangement between the Company
and SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited
(“SWCS”), Ms. TSANG Wing Man, as an employee of
SWCS, has resigned as the joint company secretary of the
Company (the “Joint Company Secretary”), and ceased
to act as the authorized representative of the Company as
required under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules (the “Authorized
Representative”) and the authorized representative of the
Company for accepting on the Company’s behalf service of
process or notice to be served on the Company in Hong Kong
under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Process Agent in Hong Kong”);

Ms. LI Ching Yi (“Ms. Li") has been appointed as the Joint
Company Secretary, the Authorized Representative and the
Process Agent in Hong Kong, while Ms. REN Na (“Ms. Ren”)
continues to act as the other Joint Company Secretary of the
Company; and

the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
was changed to 14/F, Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong. With effect from December 21, 2023, the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong was further
changed to 19/F, Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Stock Exchange has granted a new waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the relevant requirements of Rules 3.28 and 8.17
of the Listing Rules for the remaining period of the waiver previously
granted from March 13, 2023 (i.e. date of the appointment of Ms. Li as
a Joint Company Secretary to December 22, 2025) in relation to the
eligibility of Ms. Ren to act as a Joint Company Secretary.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
March 13, 2023 and December 21, 2023. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalized terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated March 13, 2023.
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Resignation of Non-Executive Director and Appointment
of Independent Non-Executive Director

Resignation of Non-Executive Director

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (“Mr. Zhang”) tendered his resignation as a
non-executive director of the Company and a member of the strategy
committee of the Company with the effect from May 10, 2023, as he
would like to devote more time to his personal business engagements.
Mr. Zhang has confirmed that he had no disagreement with the
Board and there is no other matter relating to his resignation from his
positions in the Company that need to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Appointment of Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. FAN Xin has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, a member of the nomination committee of the
Company and a member of the audit committee of the Company with
the effect from May 10, 2023.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
May 10, 2023. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used above
shall have the same meanings as defined in the announcement dated
May 10, 2023.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue was primarily
generated from Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research
Assistance and Health Insurance Services. The following table sets
forth a breakdown of revenue by segments and year over year growth:

Bt %5 0 R
ME

T ERRNFREMED B ENHE
B P W —fFBIE -

L'ON
R|EHA NREBOBRATRRE K

B 5% BT B MR ERBRIRTS - TR
R0 EBE 7 M A K [R] b 1 R R AR -

Year-on-year Year-on-year

2023 2022 Change Change

2023 20224 [R] £t il 3

Revenue ON RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %

AR¥T T AR®BFTT ARETT

Specialty Pharmacy Business F %% %% = Z£ 7% 4,188,080 3,661,809 526,271 14.4
Physician Research EAEREWBEER

Assistance Business 361,781 319,449 42,332 138.3
Health Insurance Services i BT R B2 AR 75 £ 75

Business 162,246 138,220 24,026 17.4

Total BET 4,712,107 4,119,478 592,629 14.4

Specialty Pharmacy Business

Revenue generated from Specialty Pharmacy Business increased
by approximately 14.4% from approximately RMB3,661.8 million in
2022 to approximately RMB4,188.1 million in 2023, which was mainly
attributable to the organic growth of the business following the steady
market demand for the specialty medicines.

Physician Research Assistance

Revenue generated from Physician Research Assistance business
increased by approximately 13.3% from approximately RMB319.4
million in 2022 to approximately RMB361.8 million in 2023.

Health Insurance Services

Revenue generated from Health Insurance Services business increased
by approximately 17.4% from approximately RMB138.2 million in 2022
to approximately RMB162.2 million in 2023, which was mainly due to
the rapid growth of enterprise health insurance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT

Cost of Sales #H & A
Year-on-year Year-on-year
2023 2022 Change Change
20234 20224 [A] bt & A bt
Cost of sales HER A& RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARET R AREEFIT AR®ETF T

Specialty Pharmacy Business 3 %% %% f= 2 7% 3,992,122 3,478,464 513,658 14.8
Physician Research BEMRHBIES

Assistance Business 247,164 253,211 -6,047 2.4
Health Insurance Services fi FR AR B B 7% % 75

Business 58,123 50,451 7,672 15.2

Total Bt 4,297,409 3,782,126 515,283 13.6

Cost of sales increased by approximately 13.6% from approximately
RMBS3,782.1 million in 2022 to approximately RMB4,297.4 million
in 2023, which was primarily due to (i) an increase of approximately
RMB513.7 million in procurement cost for medicines relating to
Specialty Pharmacy Business; (i) an increase of cost as the natural
growth to Health Insurance Business; and (i) the increase has been
partially offset by the decreased cost of sales of Physician Research
Assistance business.

SHE K AN H2022F ) AR #3782 1H BT
# hN#713.6% £2023%F M 49 A R 84,007 .48
B DEBHA() TSR XS R A
PR ER BB R A3 N A R¥E513. 7B E 7T (i)
B AN B 2 R AR F 3765 B SR B8 R 1 388 00+ % i)
7NN BR AE R T W BY TS AU SE B R AR
EBHEEE o

_ _ ERREFE
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
2023 2022
20234 20224
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Gross Margin Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin

Gross Margin EFMREFZER EF ERE EH FEH =
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T ARBFT

Specialty Pharmacy Business 5 %% %4 5= % 75 195,958 4.7 183,345 5.0
Physician Research EERRHBER

Assistance Business 114,617 31.7 66,238 20.7
Health Insurance Services 2 RIRIR RIS TS

Business 104,123 64.2 87,769 63.5

Total st 414,698 8.8 337,352 8.2

Gross profit in 2022 and 2023 were approximately RMB337.4 million
and RMB414.7 million, respectively, representing a robust year-on-year
increase of approximately 22.9%. Gross margin realized a slight
increase from approximately 8.2% in 2022 to approximately 8.8% in
2023, highlighting a significant increase in gross margin of the Physician
Research Assistance Services business and a relatively stable gross
margin of the Health Insurance Services business.

R2022F R20283F W EF DAl BB ARE
3VABETRARBAMA4TEE T FILLERE
R %922.9% © T FI = 520224 #) 498.2% &
T 12 hN £ 2023F M 418.8% T ERIVAEE £
o 75 199 Bh AR 745 S 75 B9 B 71 3= K 0g 38 n - 1@ Bk
RE2PRTS E G R EF EAEEIZTE ©

BEREREARAT —2==FF8 {7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants, interest
income, gains on financial assets at FVTPL.

Other income and gains increased by approximately 27.1% from
approximately RMB60.2 million in 2022 to approximately RMB76.5
million in 2023, which was primarily due to increase in the interest
income.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of staff costs,
marketing and promotion fees, depreciation and amortization expenses,
travel and business related expense and others.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 12.2%
from approximately RMB332.9 million in 2022 to approximately
RMB292.3 million in 2023.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses consist primarily of staff costs, consulting and
service fees, travel and business related expense, depreciation and
amortization expenses, listing expense and others.

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 39.5% from
approximately RMB575.0 million in 2022 to approximately RMB347.8
million in 2023, which was mainly resulting from (i) the decrease of the
share-based payment compensation; and (ii) the discontinuation of
listing expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses primarily consist of staff
costs and outsourcing cost and others. Research and development
expenses decreased by approximately 26.7% from approximately
RMB62.7 million in 2022 to approximately RMB45.9 million in 20283,
which was mainly due to the corresponding reduction in research and
development expenditure as the upfront research and development
investment has paid off.
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Change in fair value of convertible redeemable
preferred shares

Fair value loss on convertible redeemable preferred shares decreased
from approximately RMB775.3 million in 2022 to nil in 2023. These
preferred shares were automatically converted to Ordinary Shares of
the Company on a 1:1 basis upon completion of the Global Offering by
the Company on December 23, 2022 and no further loss or gain on fair
value changes are expected to be recognized thereafter.

Other expenses

Other expenses increased by approximately RMB25.9 million to
approximately RMB36.9 million in 2023, primarily due to impairment
losses on goodwill of approximately RMB31.3 million incurred during
2023 (nil in 2022) related to prior business combinations.

Income Tax

Income tax expense decrease by approximately 68.7% from
approximately RMB3.3 million in 2022 to approximately RMB1.0 million
in 2023.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted loss (non-
IFRS measure) as an additional financial measure, which is not required
by, or presented in accordance with, IFRSs. We believe adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) facilitates comparisons of company to company by
eliminating potential impacts of items.

We believe adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) provides useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
combined results of operations in the same manner as adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) help our management. However, our presentation
of adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use of
adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) has limitations as an analytical tool,
and you should not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute
for an analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as
reported under IFRSs.

We define adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) as profit/(loss) for the
year, excluding (i) fair value changes of convertible redeemable
preferred shares; (i) share-based payment compensation; and (i) listing
expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

The convertible preferred shares have been converted into Ordinary
Shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis after the completion of the
Global Offering, and no further loss or gain on fair value changes is
expected to be recognized afterwards.

The following table reconciles adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) for
the years presented to the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRSs, which is loss for
the years indicated:

AEREERDNEHREE THERIIHL
PIBBmARAR TR BAERE T SE
—THERRFEESNE RS-

TREEINNFREHEEE GBI
3 & QG &) BIR IR B PR B1 75 sl 5 22 B
AAEREINRSERA LN BIER (B
PR FAREE) E1THER:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Reconciliation of loss to adjusted loss EEHELAEE R (BRI
(non-IFRS measure): WMEERFE)WEIER:
Loss for the year FANEE (246,707) (1,371,764)
Add: -
Fair value loss on convertible redeemable 7] &2 i 7] £ [0 {8 5t fR B9 A A
preferred shares E5 18 - 775,260
Share-based payment compensation LARR 17 A B0 =2 < 0 57 B 96,612 315,852
Including: Selling and marketing expenses B ¥E : $5& K& & 55 X 4,647 10,657
Administrative expenses THHAX 90,919 300,045
Research and development EEFE X
expenses 1,046 5,150
Listing expense EHAX - 21,970
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) FRKLAZEEE GEERIMKER
for the year HERFE) (150,095) (258,682)

Capital Management

During the Reporting Period, we primarily funded working capital
requirements through capital contributions from our shareholders
including net proceeds from the Global Offering. We monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. Net cash used in operating activities was approximately
RMB133.5 million in 2023.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2023, we recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB1,300.5 million. As at December 31, 2023, the
gearing ratio, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was
approximately 42.1%, as compared with approximately 37.4% as at
December 31, 2022.

As our business develops and expands, we expect to generate net
cash from operating activities, through the sales revenue of our future
commercialized products. Going forward, we believe our liquidity
requirements will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of
cash and cash equivalents and net proceeds from the Global Offering.
As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and selected financial assets
of approximately RMB1,452.3 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Subscription of Wealth Management Products from
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank (“SPD Bank”)

Sipai Wisdom Pharmacy (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (BIREZE K& E (&
M) BBRZAR]) , a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, subscribed
for structured deposit products with a principal amount of RMB500
million and RMB300 million from SPD Bank on January 3, 2023 and
April 6, 2023, respectively, for treasury management purpose. As at
the date of this annual report, all of the structured deposit products
subscribed from the SPD Bank had been redeemed. The fair value gain
from such structured deposit product during the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB5.6 million.

Subscription of Wealth Management Products from The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation (“‘HSBC”)

The Company subscribed for wealth management products with a
principal amount of US$5.5 million and US$16 million on July 20,
2023, and RMB70 million on August 3, 2023 from HSBC, for treasury
management purpose. As at the date of this annual report, the Group
held wealth management products from HSBC with a fair value of
approximately RMB117 million, which accounted for approximately
4.2% of the total assets of the Group. The fair value gain from such
wealth management products during the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB3.2 million. As at the date of this annual report, the
wealth management products subscribed from HSBC with a principal
amount of US$5.5 milion and RMB70 million had been redeemed,
respectively, and the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
wealth management products subscribed from HSBC was US$16
million.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Subscription of Wealth Management Products
from China Construction Bank Corporation (“China
Construction Bank”)

Bixun (Xiamen) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (tbifk (EF9) B&E Rl
BRAF), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, subscribed
for a wealth management product with a principle amount of RMB340
million from China Construction Bank on September 26, 2023 for
treasury management purpose. As at the date of this annual report,
the abovementioned structured deposit products subscribed from the
China Construction Bank had been redeemed. The fair value gain from
such wealth management product during the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB2.0 million.

Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd. ( Bk fE@FEEEKREGR AR,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for a wealth
management product with a principle amount of RMB180 million from
China Construction Bank on October 7, 2023 for treasury management
purpose. As at the date of this annual report, the Group had a wealth
management product from the China Construction Bank with a
fair value of approximately RMB181.1 million, which accounted for
approximately 6.4% of the total assets of the Group. The fair value gain
from such wealth management product during the Reporting Period
was approximately RMB1.1 million. As of the date of this annual report,
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the wealth management
products subscribed from China Construction Bank was RMB180
million.

For details of the above subscription of wealth management products,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated September
26, 2023, September 28, 2023 and October 8, 2023.

Acquisition of Hubei Siweite

On January 6, 2023, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with Sinopharm Group Hubei Co., Ltd ( B &5 R% 4L A
R &]) (“Sinopharm Group”) to acquire additional 45.00% equity
interests in Hubei Siweite Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (1t B4 45 K& =
BRAF], formerly known as Bl 2547 J§ B 445 K825 (i) B R
A ] Sinopharm Holdings Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co., Ltd., “Hubei
Siweite”) for a total cash consideration of RMB3,218,000 (the
“Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on January 6, 2023
when the Company obtained control of the operating and financing
activities of Smart Pharmacy. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
Group holds 80.0% of the equity interest in Smart Pharmacy and the
remaining 20.0% equity interest is held by an Independent Third Party.
On July 15, 2023, the Group acquired further 20.0% equity interests
from the remaining shareholder and Smart Pharmacy became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group.
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Smart Pharmacy is primarily engaged in the retail of drugs and
pharmaceutical products in Hubei Province. Sinopharm Group, a
subsidiary of Sinopharm Group Co., Ltd. (B Z g% () B R 2~
Al) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1099),
is a state-owned enterprise primarily engaged in the distribution of
pharmaceutical products. The Acquisition of Smart Pharmacy is
complementary to our principal businesses and will enhance our
presence in Hubei Province. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing Rules and
Exemptions From Strict Compliance with The Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, there were
no significant investments, and material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

Capital Expenditure
Principal capital expenditures relate primarily to the purchase of office

equipment, softwares as well as leasehold improvements. The following
table sets forth capital expenditures for the periods indicated.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Currency Risk

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China and
a majority of its transactions were settled in Renminbi, the functional
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. The Group is exposed
to foreign currency risk as a result of certain cash and bank balances
denominated in non-functional currency. We currently do not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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Pledge of Assets

The pledged deposits pledged by the Group for letters of credit and
bills payable increased from approximately RMB76.17 million as
of December 31, 2022 to approximately RMB147.12 million as of
December 31, 2023.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31,
2023.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As of December 31, 2023, we had 3,096 employees in total. Most of
them are stationed in China. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, including work experience, educational background and the
requirements of a relevant vacancy. We assess our employees based
on their performance to determine their salary, promotion and career
development.

We enter into standard employment agreements and confidentiality
agreements or clauses with all of our employees. We also enter into
non-compete agreements with senior management and core personnel.
These agreements include a standard non-compete covenant that
prohibits such employee from competing with us, directly or indirectly,
during his or her employment and for a certain period after termination
of his or her employment. We maintain a good working relationship
with our employees, and we have not experienced any material labor
disputes.

We are committed to establishing a competitive and fair
remuneration. In order to effectively motivate our employees, we
continually refine remuneration and incentive policies through market
research. We conduct performance evaluation for our employees
at least once a year to provide feedback on their performance.
Compensation for employees typically consists of base salary and a
performance-based bonus.

Future Investment Plans and Expected Funding

As of December 31, 2023, we did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.
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OUTLOOK

We aspire to lead the digital transformation of China’s healthcare
industry. As our name “Medbanks” suggests, we started our journey
by building a robust “bank” of digital solutions and data insights, as
well as strong operational capabilities, to support more participants in
the healthcare ecosystem. Our journey will ultimately lead us to create
an integrated health management network that will bring quality and
accessible care to a large population.

We believe, by delivering clear values and serving and connecting the
stakeholders in China’s healthcare system, including patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers, we build
deep and trusting relationships that can be transformative to the
industry landscape.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the period from January 1, 2024 to January 18, 2024, the
trustee has purchased 4,250,000 Shares in aggregate on the market at
the total consideration of approximately HK$28,063,786, ranged from
approximately HK$6.48 per Share to approximately HK$6.83 per Share
pursuant to the 2023 Scheme. On March 19, 2024, the maximum
aggregated number of the shares awarded under the 2023 Scheme
was increased from 3% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the Adoption Date to 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the Adoption Date. For details and capitalized terms used, please
refer to the section headed “2023 Share Award Scheme” in this annual
report and the announcement of the Company dated March 19, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Group has no significant events occurred after the Reporting Period
that require additional disclosure or adjustments.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Mr. MA Xuguang (B /BE) , aged 53, co-founded with Mr. Li Sipai
(Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( BJk (dt ) BER L AR
‘A 7)) (“Sipai Beijing Network”) in March 2014 and the Company in
May 2015, and has been the Director, Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer since then. Mr. Ma was re-designated as the
executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years’ sales & marketing and management
experience in healthcare industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma
served as a district sales manager of Schering-Plough Corporation,
currently a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, stock code: MRK), from June 1997 to
October 2004. He then joined Schering AG (currently known as Bayer
HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc.), a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), as the
head of sales from August 2004 to September 2012. From January
2013 to March 2014, Mr. Ma served as the chief executive officer of
Guangjijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ([E#Z M (1L3)
BEREMRERRAA) .

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University (5 8872 2 £ A E) in July 1994.

Mr. LI Ji (Z4#£) , aged 46, co-founded with Mr. Ma Sipai Beijing
Network in March 2014 and the Company in May 2015. He has been
the Director since August 2015 and President since March 2020. Mr. Li
was re-designated as the executive Director in July 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the district manager of
Schering-Plough (China) Co., Ltd. (JLE &M (R E) BRAA]) from
January 2002 to June 2008. Mr. Li served as a regional sales manager
of Bayer (China) Ltd., a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company listed on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), from June 2008
to March 2010. Mr. Li re-joined Bayer (China) Ltd. and served as a
regional sales manager from February 2011 to December 2012. He
then joined Guangijijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (/& #
ER (dbR) BERIEBR A A]) as the general manager from January
2013 to March 2014.

Mr. Li graduated from the Shanxi Medical University ( [l 7828 %} K £2)
in July 2000, majoring in medical image. He then received his MBA
degree from the Beijing Jiaotong University (1t 32 @K 2) in January
2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. YAO Leiwen (k& X) , aged 42, joined the Group in October
2019 and has served as the Director since then. He was re-designated
as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Yao was an associate at Deutsche Bank from February 2005 to
August 2008 and an investment director at Shenzhen Mindray Bio-
Medical Electronics Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to June 2011. Mr. Yao
has been the non-executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3888) since August 2022 and a non-executive director of TUHU Car
Inc. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 9690) since October 2019. He has served as a Vice General
Manager of Tencent Investment Department of Tencent since June
2011.

Mr. Yao received his bachelor’'s degree in Economic Information
Management (4% {z B8 1) and master’s degree in finance from
University of International Business and Economics ( ¥f4h 48 75 &
5 KE)in July 2002 and July 2005, respectively. He obtained his
master’s degree in Business Administration from Institut Européen
D’administration des Affaires (INSEAD) in France in 2010.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (R, alias RE ¥ ), aged 65, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021
(effective from the Listing Date).

Mr. Chang is currently a standing council member of China Institute
of Internal Audit. Mr. Chang has been an independent non-executive
director of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9633) since March 2020.
Mr. Chang also has been an independent director and chairman of
audit committee of Cowealth Medical China Co., Ltd. (&5 (R H)
EERERMD AR AR (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 603122) since April 2019. Mr. Chang has been
a professor at Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai
Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was a professor at National
Taiwan University from August 2016 to June 2018. Prior to that,
Mr. Chang successively served as partner of business risk services and
Asia Pacific life sciences leader for Ernst & Young; managing partner
of China advisory services and global business risk services leader for
Grant Thornton; and the chief operating officer of MarcumBP where he
also led its China advisory services from September 2007 to October
2016.
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Mr. Chang received his bachelor’s degree in business administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree in
accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United States
in August 1983; and his PhD from Texas Tech University in the United
States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a Certified Public Accountant of
Texas, United States.

Mr. FAN Xin (32fiX) , aged 45, has served as the chief financial officer
of Bilibili Inc. (Nasdag: BILI; HKEX: 9626) since September 2017 and its
vice president of finance since April 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Fan served
as a finance director at NetEase, Inc. (Nasdaqg: NTES; HKEX: 9999)
from 2011 to 2016. Prior to 2011, Mr. Fan held various positions at
KPMG Huazhen for an aggregate of eight years and served as a senior
manager there from 2008 to 2011. Mr. Fan served as an independent
director of UP Fintech Holding Limited (Nasdaqg: TIGR) from March
2019 to November 2022 and Gaotu Techedu Inc. (NYSE: GOTU)
(formerly known as GSX Techedu Inc. (NYSE: GSX)) from May 2019 to
September 2021.

Mr. Fan received his bachelor’s degree in international accounting
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2001. Mr. Fan
is a regular member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a certified public accountant in China. He also holds
licenses as chartered global management accountant and chartered
certified accountant in the United Kingdom.

Mr. HE Haijian ({8 #), aged 42, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from
the Listing Date).

Mr. He has been the chief financial officer and executive director of
Kingsoft Cloud Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Nasdaq,
stock code: KC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3896) since January 2020 and December 2022
respectively. Mr. He served as an executive director in the corporate
finance department at Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC from September
2015 to January 2020. Mr. He was an associate at Bank of America
Merrill Lynch from May 2014 to September 2015, and a vice president
at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. from October 2010 to May 2013.

Mr. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in information system from
Southeast University (R A2 ) in June 2003, a master’'s degree
in electromagnetic field and microwave technology from Southeast
University in April 2006, and received an MBA from University of
Chicago in March 2014. Mr. He is also a CFA charter holder.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. HUANG Bei (Z7%£) , aged 46, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from the Listing
Date).

Ms. Huang served as a vice president of Fidelity Ventures in Shanghai
office from November 2011 to February 2015. She has served as the
president of Bonre Orthopedics Hospital Group Co., Ltd. ( F3 8 & 7} 28
P& E AR5 B BR A A]) since March 2015.

Ms. Huang received her bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from
Zhejiang University in June 2000, her master’s degree in engineering
from University of Michigan-Ann Arbor in the United States in
December 2004, and her MBA degree from University of Pennsylvania
in the United States in June 2009.

Other Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in this annual report, each of our Directors confirms
with respect to himself or herself, to the best of his or her knowledge,
information and belief, that as of the date of this annual report, (1) he or
she did not hold other long positions or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares, debentures of our Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); (2) he or she
had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders of our Company; (3) he or she did not hold
any other directorships in the last three years in any public companies
whose securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
and/or overseas; and (4) there were no other matters concerning his
or her appointment that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange or shall be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules.

Each of our Director confirms that he or she does not have any
interest in a business, apart from the business of our Company,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our
business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na ({E#) , aged 46, was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company in July 2021. Ms. Ren joined in
the Group in July 2020 and has served as the general counsel since
then.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Ren worked in the legal department of
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. (fi/NF 2B ERAF]), a subsidiary
of CPMC Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0906)) from May 2010 to October
2011. From November 2011 to November 2014, Ms. Ren served as
the group legal manager of PAIG (China) Automobile Investment Co.,
Ltd. (BEEHE (FE) AEREBRAF) . She then served as a legal
specialist of ZhongAn Online P & C Insurance Co., Ltd. ( R Z &5
ERBIRMABRAT), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6060), from March 2017 to July 2020.

Ms. Ren obtained her bachelor’s degree in international economic law
from East China University of Political Science and Law ( ZE R BUA A
2) in July 2000 and master’s degree in international and transnational
law from Chicago-Kent College of Law, lllincis Institute of Technology in
the United States in May 2016.

Ms. LI Ching Yi (Z&18) , has been appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on March 13, 2023. Ms. Li is a senior
manager of the Listed & Fiduciary Corporate Services Department of
Trident Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services
firm. She has over 10 years of professional experience in company
secretarial field. She is currently the company secretary of Yadong
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1795), and a joint company
secretary of Yidu Tech Inc. (stock code: 2158), Pop Mart International
Group Limited (stock code: 9992), Acotec Scientific Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6669) and 3D Medicines Inc. (stock code: 1244), all of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). She obtained a bachelor’s degree in social
sciences in October 2011 from Lingnan University in Hong Kong and a
master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate governance
in July 2015 from GCity University of Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group connects and delivers clear values to patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across
China’s healthcare system through its robust technology platform
and data-enabled operational capabilities. The Company currently
runs three business lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the
“Specialty Pharmacy Business”), physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance”), and health insurance services
(the “Health Insurance Services”).

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from the Company
and receive pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE
consultation, and medication delivery. The Company also built up the
first and only nationwide specialty medicine management platform,
providing follow-up assessment service under a unified system, and
differentiating the Company from its peers.

Physician Research Assistance

In the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
engages in SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies in
their drug R&D process across all phases of clinical trials. Currently,
the SMO business contributes the majority of the Physician Research
Assistance revenue. Its in-depth experience and professional expertise
in assisting clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate the Company
from its peers. Notably, the Company has achieved 100% coverage of
27 provincial specialized oncology hospitals and five national cancer
treatment centers. The Company proudly serves all of the top ten
public pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in R&D of
innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, the Company achieved
a 100% client retention rate with respect to its top ten SMO clients, as
measured by revenue during the same period of time. Over 95% of its
SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology drugs and typically contract its
services for three to five years.
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Health Insurance Services

In the Health Insurance Services business line, the Group offers
solutions of health plans mainly in two categories. One is Hui Min
Insurance, which serves as a supplement to the national basic medical
insurance, offering additional coverage for critical diseases, medical
services, and specialty medicines at a price affordable to the general
population. The other one is Enterprise Health Insurance, which
provides a more comprehensive and advanced protection to employers
and their employees, offering flexible quality health and disease
management services.

What differentiates the Company from industry peers who are also
offering health insurances are its health management capabilities built in
its health insurance offerings, particularly in Enterprise Health Insurance
business. The Group's robust health service provider network, together
with its Specialty Pharmacy Business, provide its members with high
quality health management services such as preventive care, GP
service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare
network. Leveraging its data insights and actuarial capabilities, the
Company has co-developed differentiated health insurance plans with
major insurance carriers at competitive prices.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 169 to 286 of
this annual report.
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DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

During the year ended December 31, 2023, no dividends have been
paid or declared by the Company.

The Company intends to retain most, if not all, of the Company’s
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of the Company’s business and has not yet adopted a dividend
policy to declare or pay any dividends in the near future.

The Board has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject
to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law and the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), namely
that the Company may only pay dividends either out of profits or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may
a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable
to pay its debts at they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In addition, our Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a
dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by
our Board. Even if our Board decides to declare and pay dividends,
the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on,
among other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our
capital requirements and surplus, the amount of distributions, if any,
received by us from our subsidiary, our financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of
directors.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, June 20, 2024.
The notice of the AGM will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
June 17, 2024 to Thursday, June 20, 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. The record
date for entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Thursday, June
20, 2024. In order to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM,
all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, June 14, 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as well as the outlook of the Group’s
business are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 25 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced the Group can be found throughout this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred after December 31, 2023, if any, can also be found in the
notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by
reference to financial key performance indicators and environmental
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Each of
the above-mentioned relevant contents form an integral part of this
Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business of the Group involves certain risks as set out in the
section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus. The following list is a
summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
some of which are beyond its control.

° its ability to manage the growth of business and operations or
implement business strategies;

° its ability to properly manage, create values or maintain a
symbiotic ecosystem for various participants in the healthcare
industry, including patients, doctors, medical institutions,
pharmaceutical companies and payers;

° its ability to adopt new technologies or adapt our products or
services to changing customers’ requirements or emerging
industry standards, and our efforts to invest in the development of
new technologies may be unsuccessful or ineffective;

° its ability to maintain compliance with data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations;

° its ability to obtain and maintain the requisite licenses, permits
and approvals applicable to its business;

° all material aspects of its research and development activities;
and

o risks relating to industry, business and operations.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of,
or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG governance
and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable development
with the overall corporate development strategy. It has established a
top-down ESG governance structure with clear responsibilities. The
Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the overall ESG
objectives, management strategies and management approaches,
including identifying, evaluating, prioritizing and managing material ESG-
related issues. The Group conducted its first materiality assessment
on ESG issues during the Reporting Period and prioritized the
management and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment, considered
material issues as part of the formulation of the Group’s overall strategy
and oversaw the management and performance of these issues.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023 is set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section in this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the Reporting Period are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of any
related party transactions which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully exempted under Rule
14A.73 of the Listing Rules are disclosed below. Unless otherwise
stated, capitalized terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those used in the Prospectus.

Payment Services Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a payment services framework agreement
dated December 6, 2022 with Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems
Company Limited ORJI AT E# XS B R 2 7)) (“Tencent
Computer”) (the “Payment Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide the Group with payment
services through its payment channel to enable the members of the
Group to pay their insurance premiums for the health insurance plans
on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment channel. The Group
collects such insurance premiums on behalf of insurance carriers and
pay a withdrawal fee to Tencent Group. This connected transactions
is also a related party transaction, which is disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by Tencent Group is calculated as a
percentage of the total insurance premiums collected and withdrawn
by the Group on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment
channel. Such pre-determined fee rates are published on the website
of Tencent’s subsidiary providing such payment services which also
applies to other third parties, and are generally comparable with those
offered by Tencent Group’s competitors for services of a similar nature
and volume. The service fee rate currently applicable to the Group is
0.60%.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Payment
Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess its business
needs and compare the terms (including the service fee rate) proposed
by Tencent Group with those offered by other comparable service
providers. The Group will also take into account () the synergy with
its online platform such as its Weixin official account, (i) the quality
and stability of such payment services, and (i) the familiarity with its
business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees charged by Tencent Group for the
payment services for the year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to
RMB10.0 million, and year ending December 31, 2024 will amount to
RMB12.5 million.

Health Management Services Framework Agreement

Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a health management services framework
agreement dated December 6, 2022 with Medpion Cayman (the
“Health Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Excluded Group will provide the Group with
health management services for the individual members enrolled in
the Enterprise Health Plans, including physical and mental health
consultation. The Group has offered such health management services
as part of the promotion efforts for its Enterprise Health Plans. Individual
members enrolled in the Enterprise Health Plans will have free access
to such health management services provided by the Excluded Group
as and when necessary during the term of the Enterprise Health Plans.
This connected transactions is also a related party transaction, which
is disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by the Excluded Group is calculated based
on arm’s length negotiation between the Group and Excluded Group
with reference to the fees charged by other market players for similar
services. The Group historically paid, and currently expects to pay,
approximately RMB500 to the Excluded Group for each individual
member enrolled in its Enterprise Health Plans who consumes such
health management services.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Health
Management Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess
its business needs and compare the terms (including the service fee)
proposed by the Excluded Group with those offered by other service
providers for comparable services. The Group will also take into
account (i) the quality and stability of such health management services,
and (i) the familiarity with its business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees payable by the Group for the
health management services for the year ended December 31, 2023
amounted to RMB13.0 million, and year ending December 31, 2024
will amount to RMB28.0 million.
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Contractual Arrangements

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the
Company conducts online insurance brokerage service as part its
Health Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China. As of the date of this annual report, the Company
indirectly held 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, but effectively control the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
are able to derive substantially all of their economic benefits through
contractual arrangements.

On December 7, 2023, the Board announced that, in view of the
current requirements on the ownership of the operation of commercial
internet information services under relevant PRC laws and regulations,
for the purpose of satisfying the “narrowly tailored” requirement
under the Chapter 4.1 under the Guide for New Listing Applicants to
achieve the business and operation purposes of the Company under
the current PRC regulatory framework so as to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Company adopted
the New Contractual Arrangements to replace the Existing Contractual
Arrangements through steps of 1) shareholding adjustment of Sipai
Beijing Network and the Transitional Contractual Arrangements; 2)
capital injection by Sipai Healthcare Investment; and 3) reproduction of
the Existing Contractual Arrangements.

In light of the above, (i) the Existing Contractual Arrangements were
terminated with effect from December 7, 2023; (ii) the Transitional
Contractual Arrangements were entered into on substantially the
same terms as those currently in place under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements with effect from December 7, 2023; (i) RMB1.08 million
were injected from Beijing Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (1t &
IR ER T AR A a)) to Sipai Beiing Network and acquired 50% of
the increased registered capital of Sipai Beijing Network; and (iv) the
New Contractual Arrangements were entered into on substantially the
same terms as those currently in place under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements concurrently with effect from the termination of the
Transitional Contractual Arrangements.
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As a result, Sipai Beijing Network was owned as to approximately
27.69%, 22.31% and 50% by Mr. Ma, Mr. Li and Beijing Sipai Health,
respectively. As a result of the New Contractual Arrangements, the
Company is interested in 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare Investment’s equity interest in
Sipai Beijing Network and obtain control of the rest 50% of the equity
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through Sipai Healthcare
Investment’s contractual rights and, at its sole discretion, is able to
receive all the economic interest returns generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Since the New Contractual Arrangements are reproductions of the
Existing Contractual Arrangements as provided under the conditions
of the VIE Waiver, the Company has sought the confirmation from the
Stock Exchange, and the Stock Exchange has confirmed, that the
transactions contemplated under the New Contractual Arrangements
shall continue to fall within the scope of the VIE Waiver and are exempt
from (i) the announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the New Contractual
Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (i) the
requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the
New Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules,
and (i) the requirement of limiting the term of the New Contractual
Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing
Rules, for so long as its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to compliance with the same conditions of the VIE Waiver.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
December 7, 2023 and December 28, 2023. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalised terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated December 7, 2023.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group under the
New Contractual Arrangements:
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“—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.

“----»” denotes contractual relationship. Under the New Contractual
Arrangements, Sipai Healthcare Investment shall provide technical services
to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
shall pay service fees to Sipai Healthcare Investment directly.

————— ” denotes the control by Sipai Healthcare Investment over the registered
shareholders through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights
in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) exclusive options to acquire
all or part of the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and (jii) equity pledges over the equity interests in each of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks that are associated with the New Contractual
Arrangements, including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, the Company could
be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification of
the New Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of its
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The Company relies on New Contractual Arrangements with the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their shareholders for a portion
of its business operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

The ultimate shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
may have conflicts of interest with the Company.

The New Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities.

The Company does not have any insurance which covers the
risks relating to the New Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.
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° The Group’s current corporate structure and business operations
may be affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 7, 2023.

Summary of the Material Terms of the New Contractual
Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment and Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries entered into an exclusive business cooperation agreement
on December 29, 2023 (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”), pursuant to which Sipai Beijing Network has engaged
Sipai Healthcare Investment as the exclusive provider to provide Sipai
Beijing Network and its subsidiaries with comprehensive technical
service, technical consulting and other services, including operation
and business support, technical service, network support, business
consulting, financial consulting, intellectual property licensing, property
lease, market consulting, product research and development, system
maintenance, management consulting and other related services as
requested by Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries to the extent
permitted under PRC laws.

Without the Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Sipai
Beijing Network shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, (i)
receive services which are identical or similar to the services covered
by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement from any third party,
or (i) enter into any similar cooperation with any third party.

In consideration of the services provided by Sipai Healthcare
Investment, Sipai Beijing Network shall pay services fees to Sipai
Healthcare Investment, which, subject to Sipai Healthcare Investment’s
adjustment at its sole discretion, shall consist of all the consolidated net
profit of Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries (net of accumulated
deficit in the previous financial years (if any), costs, expenses, taxes and
payments required by the applicable laws to be reserved or withheld).
The service fees shall be paid annually by Sipai Beijing Network.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall become effective
upon signing and remain effective until, among other things, Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee acquire all the equity interest in
and/or all assets of Sipai Beijing Network pursuant to the Exclusive
Purchase Option Agreement below. Sipai Beijing Network shall not
unilaterally terminate the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.
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Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into an exclusive
purchase option agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Exclusive
Purchase Option Agreement”), pursuant to which Sipai Beijing
Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li have granted Sipai Healthcare Investment
or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at any
time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (j)
from each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li all or any part of their equity interests in
Sipai Beijing Network and/or (i) from Sipai Beijing Network all or any of
its assets or interests in any of its assets.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Sipai
Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall not sell, transfer, pledge or
otherwise dispose of the shares or assets with a value of more than
RMB1 million (as the case may be) of Sipai Beijing Network.

The purchase price payable by Sipai Healthcare Investment or its
designee in respect of the transfer of shares or assets shall be the
nominal value or the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws,
and Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall return the purchase price in full to Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee to the extent permitted under the
PRC laws applicable then.

The Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement shall become effective upon
signing and remain effective until that (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment or
its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets of Sipai
Beijing Network; and (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment and its subsidiaries
are permitted to carry out the business of Sipai Beijing Network under
the applicable PRC laws. Sipai Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li shall
not unilaterally terminate the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into an equity
pledge agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Equity Pledge
Agreement”), pursuant to which, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li has pledged
all of their respective equity interests in Sipai Beijing Network to
Sipai Healthcare Investment as the first priority security to guarantee
performance of their contractual obligations under the New Contractual
Arrangements and all liabilities, monetary debts or other payment
obligations arising out of or in relation with the New Contractual
Arrangements.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li shall not transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of the
pledged shares.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the
Equity Pledge Agreement), unless it is successfully resolved to Sipai
Healthcare Investment’s satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified
by Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Healthcare Investment may
exercise its right of pledge at any time, including (i) requesting Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li or Sipai Beijing Network to pay Sipai Healthcare Investment
any due payments, debt or any other payment under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement and/or any loan, or (ii) dispose
the pledged equity interests in accordance with the Equity Pledge
Agreement or otherwise as permitted under PRC laws, including selling
the pledged equity interests at discount or by way of auction. Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li have agreed to irrevocably waive their pre-emptive right as
existing shareholders when Sipai Healthcare Investment exercises such
right of pledge.

The Equity Pledge Agreement shall become effective upon signing
and remain effective until, among other things, (i) all obligations of
Sipai Beijing Network, Mr. Ma and Mr. Li are satisfied in full, or (i) Sipai
Healthcare Investment or its designee acquire all the equity interest
in and/or all assets of Sipai Beijing Network, and Sipai Healthcare
Investment and its designees are permitted to carry out the business of
Sipai Beijing Network under the applicable PRC laws.

The Company has registered the pledge of all the equity interests

in Sipai Beijing Network with the relevant administration for market
regulation of the PRC.
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Voting Proxy Agreement

Sipai Healthcare Investment, Sipai Beijing Network and/or its
subsidiaries (if applicable), Mr. Ma and Mr. Li entered into a voting proxy
agreement on December 29, 2023 (the “Voting Proxy Agreement’),
pursuant to which Mr. Ma and Mr. Li have appointed Sipai Healthcare
Investment and/or its designee as their exclusive agent and attorney to
act on their behalf on all matters concerning Sipai Beijing Network and
to exercise all of their rights as shareholders of Sipai Beijing Network.

Without Sipai Healthcare Investment’s prior written consent, Mr. Ma
and Mr. Li shall not exercise any rights attached to the shares of
Sipai Beijing Network which have been authorized to Sipai Healthcare
Investment or its designee.

As a result of the Voting Proxy Agreement, the Company, through
Sipai Healthcare Investment, will be able to exercise management
control over the activities that most significantly impact the economic
performance of Sipai Beijing Network and its subsidiaries.

The Voting Proxy Agreement shall become effective upon signing
and remain effective until, among other things, (i) Sipai Healthcare
Investment or its designees acquire all the equity interest in and/or all
assets of Sipai Beijing Network, and (i) Sipai Healthcare Investment and
its designees are permitted to carry out the business of Sipai Beijing
Network under the applicable PRC laws.

Spouse Consents

The spouse of each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li has executed a consent
letter, pursuant to which she has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed
to the execution of the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the
Equity Pledge Agreement and the Voting Proxy Agreement, and has no
objection regarding the New Contractual Arrangements.
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The spouse of each of Mr. Ma and Mr. Li further agrees that (i) any
equity interests held by her spouse as a registered shareholder in Sipai
Beijing Network are not their communal properties; (i) he/she does
not have any interest in the equity interests of Sipai Beijing Network,
and will not raise any claim on the equity interest of Sipai Beijing
Network; (iii) she will not take any measures that are in conflict with the
New Contractual Arrangements; and (iv) she will take any necessary
measures to procure the performance of the relevant agreements
underlying the New Contractual Arrangements.

The Foreign Investment Law

On March 15, 2019, the NPC promulgated the Foreign Investment
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( (& AR LFBEINFGIRE
7%) ) (the “FIL”) and replaced effective on January 1, 2020. After the
FIL comes into effect, the FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures ( (RANE B#EE %) ), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures ( (M 4NG EAL & B2 )E) ) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises ( (YNE 1 2%) ) and became the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC.

The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign investment, but does not
explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. The FIL does not
mention concepts including “de facto control” and “controlling through
contractual arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on
controlling through contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL
stipulates that foreign investment includes “Foreign Investors invest
in China through many other methods under laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council”. There
are possibilities that future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions promulgated by the State Council may regard Contractual
Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which time it will be
uncertain whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the
above-mentioned Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Therefore,
there is no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangements and the
business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will not be materially
and adversely affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws and
regulations. In the event that such measures are not complied with, the
Stock Exchange may take enforcement actions against us which may
have a material adverse effect on the trading of the Shares.
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Reasons for Adopting the New Contractual
Arrangements

The Company conducts online insurance brokerage service (the
“Relevant Service”) as part of its Health Insurance Services business.
The Company currently operates the Relevant Service through the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities as PRC laws currently restrict foreign
ownership of value-added telecommunications service providers.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by PRC laws, the Company is
unable to directly own or hold more than 50% of equity interest in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the term ‘ownership’ or
the relevant concept, as applied to the Company in this annual report,
refers to an economic interest in the assets or businesses through the
New Contractual Arrangements without holding any equity interest in
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The New Contractual Arrangements,
through which the Company is able to exercise control over and derive
the economic benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, are
narrowly tailored to achieve its business purpose and minimize the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List)
for Foreign Investment Access (2021 Edition) (4} & & & A4 Bl
EEE (AMESE) (2021), the “Negative List”), provision of
value-added telecommunications services falls within the “restricted”
category. As such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor
in companies engaged in value-added telecommunications services
(other than electronic commerce, domestic multi-party communication,
storage-forwarding and call center) shall not exceed 50%. In addition,
pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services (BBt {z B IR & B #t)%, the “Administrative
Measures”), a provider of “commercial internet information services”
(2T BEE B IR, namely provision of information or
website-design services through the internet to internet-users for a fee)
is required to obtain an ICP license.
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The online insurance brokerage service of the Company involves
operation of commercial internet information services under the
Administrative Measures, such as online exhibition and sales of
insurance products, online information search and online claim initiation.
Such commercial internet information services is a sub-category of
value-added telecommunications services under the Negative List and
is therefore subject to foreign ownership restrictions and an ICP license
is required.

In addition to the foreign ownership restrictions above, pursuant
to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (2016 Revision) (9h 8 & & 15 1
¥ B IR T (20161&%]) , the “FITE Regulations”) which has been
further amended by the Order No. 752 below, a “major foreign investor”
(i.e., a foreign investor who contributes more than 30% of the foreign
investment and is the largest investor among all the foreign investors)
who invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in, and a proven track record of good
performance of, operating value-added telecormmunications businesses
(the “Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.

On April 7, 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations ( B 7585 B8 7AM& 24 F EE | F 21
DITBULIRHYRTE, the “Order No. 752”), which among other things,
removed the Qualification Requirements with effect from May 1, 2022.

The Group’s online insurance brokerage service is conducted by Sipai

Beijing Network and Beijing Sipai Brokerage each of which holds an
ICP license.
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The Company discussed with its PRC legal adviser to understand
the current ownership requirements in relation to the operation of
commercial internet information services and recent market practice.
As advised by the PRC legal adviser, in respect of the ownership
requirements in relation to the ICP licenses held by relevant subsidiaries
of Sipai Beijing Network, currently there is no legal impediment for Sipai
Healthcare Investment to directly hold no more than 50% of the equity
interest in Sipai Beijing Network.

In light of the new guidance that the Company received above, in
view of the current requirements on the ownership of the operation of
commercial internet information services under relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company considered that a new VIE structure in which
Sipai Healthcare Investment directly holds 50% of the equity interest in
Sipai Beijing Network while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li holds the rest 27.69%
and 22.31%, respectively, has become more appropriate for the
purpose of satisfying the “narrowly tailored” requirement under Chapter
4.1 under the Guide for New Listing Applicants to achieve its business
and operation purposes under the current PRC regulatory framework
so as to minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced during
the Reporting Period. There was no material change in the New
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the New Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound on the basis that none of
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the New Contractual
Arrangements had been removed. As of December 31, 2023, our
Company had not encountered interference or encumbrance from
any PRC governing bodies in operating its businesses through
its Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the New Contractual
Arrangements.
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The table below set out the annual caps and the actual transaction
amount of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions for

the year ended December 31, 2023:

TREFNE E2023F 124310 ILEE Ll i
BRERXINFELREEBRR S5

Actual

Transaction

Annual cap for Amount for

the year ended the year ended

December December

Connected Connected 31, 2023 31, 2023

Connected Transaction ~ Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
B ZE2023F

B Z2023F 12A31H 1t

12A31H 1t FEH

FENFELR ERR5¢H

HEXZ BEAL HEBF L (AR%EER) (AR¥EER)
Payment Services Tencent Computer ~ Tencent Computerisa  Tencent Group will provide 10 4.24

Framework Agreement subsidiary of Tencent,  the Group with payment
one of the substantial  services through its
Shareholders payment channel to
enable the members of
the Group to pay their
insurance premiums for
the health insurance plans
on the platform of the
Group through Tencent
payment channel.
SN PRBIER G = BAAE BAAERARAN RBASESBAEXANR
MERE B BRAREERM MR
FERRZ— B EREENSEEH
BBRANXNREE
KEENTS FHERE
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2023 31, 2023
Connected Transaction ~ Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
EZ2023F
B Z2023%F 12A31A L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR BERXZEE
BERZ HEAL HERF HH (AR¥BEn) (AR%EER)
Health Management Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman is the  The Excluded Group will 13 3.05
Services Framework holding company of provide the Group with
Agreement the Excluded Group. health management
As the shareholding services for the individual
structure of members enrolled in
Medpion Cayman the Enterprise Health
substantially mirrored ~ Plans, including physical
the Company’s and mental health
shareholding consultation.
structure before
Series F financing
(including the
Founders and other
major Shareholders),
the Company will
voluntarily treat
Medpion Cayman as
its connected person.
BEEERBER S Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman & ZIBEEE St
HEEENZERR rEREERREENE
] ° i % Medpion AEEMAEERER
CaymanMIRIERE  EREERE BEHLR
ABBTTARLAE  EHH-
FiRal & < AIEARE
Rig (BREIBAR
HEtRRR) - AR
711 B B2 £ Medpion
Cayman 4% A E i
Ate
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2023 31, 2023
Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
220235
H22023% 12A31A L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZ¢H
BERZ HEAL BEREZ Bk (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
New Contractual Mr. MA Xuguang ~ Each of Due to regulatory restrictions N/A N/A
Arrangements Mr. LI Ji Mr. MA Xuguang on foreign ownership
and Mr. LI Jiis an in China, the Company
executive Director of conducts online insurance
the Company brokerage service as part
of its Health Insurance
Services business through
the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China.
ME RN SRELE SREEERZELE MR EHMNERAEN NEM T
FlgsE HRARTRITESE  EERE AARARBE

PR E TR

REBBREELCRE
ERERRERBRRBEE

BR -850

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the BV IEHTEELEH LMBHEBESS

above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed  WHERXZ5E:
that the transactions had been entered into:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (1) MAEBBER-—REZBIEPEIL:

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and Q) H—REEBRREEEGERETL &

REREZSXHINBRRATFRER
A8 PR B BN 2 A R FRAT AL

(38) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are (3
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.
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The auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the above mentioned continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The auditors of the Group had informed the Board and confirmed
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the listed issuer’s board of directors;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the listed issuer’s group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the listed issuer’s group;

(8) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

In respect of each of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted us, a waiver from strict compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, there was no connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules, save for the foregoing.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
five financial years are set out on page 5 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 3,096 employees in total.
Most of them are stationed in China.

The Company enters into standard employment agreements and
confidentiality agreements or clauses with all of its employees. The
Company also enters into non-compete agreements with its senior
management and core personnel. These agreements include a
standard non-compete covenant that prohibits such employee from
competing with the Company, directly or indirectly, during his or her
employment and for a certain period after termination of his or her
employment.

The Company is committed to establishing a competitive and
fair remuneration. In order to effectively motivate its employees,
the Company continually refines its remuneration and incentive
policies through market research. The Company conducts conduct
performance evaluation for our employees at least once a year
to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for its
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

The Company believes that it has maintained good working
relationships with its employees. During the year ended December
31, 20283, the Company was not subject to any material claims,
lawsuits, penalties or administrative actions relating to non-compliance
with occupational health and safety laws or regulations, and had not
experienced any strikes, labor disputes or industrial actions which have
had a material effect on its business.

Major Customers

The Company has a broad base of customers. Its top customers
are primarily pharmaceutical companies for the Specialty Pharmacy
Business and Physician Research Assistance business, and insurance
carriers for the Health Insurance Services business. The Specialty
Pharmacy Business customers consist of individual patients that
purchase medicines at the specialty pharmacies, and pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmaceutical companies that procure medication
from Guangdong Dahui. During the Reporting Period, a substantial
portion of the Specialty Pharmacy Business revenue was generated by
medication retail sales to individual patients.
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for approximately 7.68% of the
Group’s total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 3.20%.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or executive
officers of the Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates
or any Shareholders of the Company holding more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately following the
completion of the Global Offering, had any interests in any of the five
largest customers during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report.

Major Suppliers

The top suppliers of the Company are primarily pharmaceutical
manufacturers and distributors for the Specialty Pharmacy Business.
Suppliers of the Health Insurance Services business are mainly
companies providing business promotion and fee processing services
to the Company. Since the Group provides professional services by
itself in the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
does not need third party suppliers. We typically had more than three
years of collaboration with our medication suppliers.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 76.78% of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 35.18%.

All of the five largest suppliers during the year ended December 31,
2023 are Independent Third Parties. So far as the Directors are aware,
none of the Directors or executive officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries, their respective associates or any Shareholders of the
Company holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company immediately following the completion of the Global Offering,
had any interests in any of the five largest suppliers during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2023, the issued share capital of the Company
was 761,500,114 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2023 are set out on pages 173 to 174 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any distributable
reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group had an unsecured bank loan amounted to approximately
RMB2 million as at December 31, 2023 (2022: nil). Such loan was
payable within one year with effective interest rate at 4.05%. The loan
had been repaid in full by January 2024. Details of the bank loan are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:
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Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term

®E RARQE] 2B RETHHNETEH

Directors

-

Mr. MA Xuguang Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 19, 2015

BBESLE WITES EFSEFREFUITE 201595198

Mr. LI Ji Executive Director and President August 17, 2015

TR WITESREH 201548 A17H

Mr. YAO Leiwen Non-executive Director October 29, 2019

hEE Xkt FHMITES 20199108 29H

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan Non-executive Director December 11, 2020
(resigned on May
10, 2023)

REREE EHMITES 2020%12811H
(74202345 A10H
BHE)

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi  Independent Non-executive Director July 30, 2021

(3R, alias KRB ) BUFNTES
CHANG Stanley Yi (55
- Bl BRBE) o &

Mr. FAN Xin Independent Non-executive Director
BRESE BYUEMITES
Mr. HE Haijian Independent Non-executive Director
fAgREEE BIMIEHITES
Ms. HUANG Bei Independent Non-executive Director
mELT BIMIEHITESF

(effective from the

Listing Date)
202147A30H (&

77 B ERE AR

May 10, 2023
2023458108

July 30, 2021
(effective from the
Listing Date)

20217 HA308 (A
FiEHERAER)

July 30, 2021
(effective from the
Listing Date)

202147 A30H (H
L AERAERD)
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Appointment
Name Position in the Company date of current term
" E A NYNE| o= A A RESHNEEAH
Senior management
BREEE
Mr. MA Xuguang Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 2015
BBELE EEEIRERAFNTE 201545 A
Mr. LI Ji President August 2015
xS B 201548 A

To the best of the Board’s knowledge, information and belief, save as FLE B S FTRM BB LIS B ARFERATH
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management TEEIN EEZENSRETEE 2 B ET M H
do not have any relationship amongst them. Ro

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set ZENMEAEEEBMNEEFBHNANERSE
out on pages 26 to 30 of this annual report. 26Z2308 °
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as an executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by
either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in
writing served by either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30
days’ notice in writing served by either the independent non-executive
Director or the Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement
and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and
remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

R2023F 128318 A AR EE M ESITH
ABRA QRS EEMER A (EER &
FREEEH) EXVED) B - BRERD &
BEEEPHEERE (EHFIBEKR) EXV
HETRSD B MG AR E KRB R FTHE S
AR (BIERE (BHEERPEEG) NERH
BXHEES R BERNERLAR) IR
B (BEHERBEEN) E325L 8N EFE
MELMAOER AR  HIRBIZESTR S
THEARRAR R ATHES AR IT

RS2 R AT K M B IR 42 A e

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (EERATREN
EEgR B RERMtE HERAEH"Y BMOT D (%)
Mr. MA Xuguang (“Mr. Ma”)®® Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 (L) 12.74%
interest held jointly with another person
SHELEE (TBxE]) REZIEEE R R
HE—ZATHERBENER
Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. LI")#® Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 (L) 12.74%

interest held jointly with another person

TS ([ERE])® N IERE A

R B AT HEHANER

Notes:

(1)  As at December 31, 2023, the Company had issued 761,500,114 Shares in
total. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS
LIMITED (“Wise Approach”), CREATIVE PIONEER INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(“Creative Pioneer”) and Sail Far Holdings Limited (“Sail Far”) entered into
a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted in concert in the
management, decision-making and all major decisions of the Group. On
December 7, 2023, the Company announced that each of Wise Approach,
Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is no longer intended to be bound by the
concert party agreement, while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li will continue to be bound
by the concert party agreement acting in concert with each other in the
management and operation of the Group.
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Lucky Seven Healthcare Co., Ltd. (“Lucky Seven”) beneficially owns
57,000,000 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Lucky Seven was
owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul International Holdings Limited (the
“Simul”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93%
by Salutem Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia Investment Holdings
Limited (“Hygeia”), both of which are the holding companies pursuant to the
family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Simul and
Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession Limited (“Spire-succession”) beneficially owns 40,000,000
Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Spire-succession was
owned as to approximately 0.0002% by Shining-succession Limited
(“Shining-succession”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in
BVI of Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession Holdings Limited
(“Sper-succession”), a holding company pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Li,
respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Shining-succession and Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Spire-succession.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of

the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken

or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, the following persons (not being
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

IR 40 B AH B8 IR 4 B9

MR2023F12A318 " BARREETS ZEIT
BABATRA THAL (WIHFEARBESK
EKeTHAB)RBRHOKEEBRODFERIR
B (BHFRHEGH) FEXVEBFE2RID Bk
NARARAFELCHEREARARE GB
H R EEIEM) F336IKEFENE LA
AR

RS2 B A0 K 8 B8 IR 40 R

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
FERSe~ (EERATREN
BRREE BB 54 ERMtE HERAEHY BMOT D (%)
Mr. Ma®®® Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 12.74%
55 2 A OO interest held jointly with another
person
REEEE R
HE—-ATHRAZFEOEZR
Mr, Lj&He) Interest in controlled corporation; 97,000,000 12.74%
2= 5 4 OO interest held jointly with another
person
REEEE R
HE—-ATHRAZFEOEZR
Wise Approach® Beneficial owner 40,410,926 5.31%
EREEA
Lucky Seven® Beneficial owner 57,000,000 7.49%

BEaBAA
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Total number

EEEHE

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (AR DTREN
BEKE BB B EmtE HERGEHY MAOED (%)
Simul® Interest in controlled corporation 57,000,000 7.49%
REIEEE R ER
Spire-succession® Beneficial owner 40,000,000 5.25%
E=EE A
Shining-succession® Interest in controlled corporation 40,000,000 5.25%
REEEE R ER
Tencent Mobility Limited® Beneficial owner 168,266,382 22.10%
(“Tencent Mobility”) BELEAA
TPP Follow-on | Holding H Limited®  Beneficial owner 40,852,974 5.36%
(“TPP Follow-on”) E=EAA
Tencent® Interest in controlled corporation 209,119,356 27.46%
e REIEEE R R
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Name of Shareholder

BREREE BB

Capacity/Nature of interest

50 REEME

Total number
of Shares/
underlying

Shares held"
RS,

AR A"

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interest in the
Company (%)™
1752 B IR HY
WA E 2 L (%)

Eight Roads Investments"”

Eight Roads Holdings Limited”

Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited”

Pandanus Partners L.P."
Pandanus Associates Inc.”

Impresa Fund Il Limited
Partnership”

Impresa Management LLC"
Abigail P. Johnson"”

Edward C. Johnson V"

FMR LLC"

Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang®
Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang 5t 4 ©
Jeneration Group Limited

Ms. Leung Catherine Ho Yan
RAREZ £

Purple Panther

ARK Trust (Hong Kong) Limited

Beneficial interest; interest in controlled
corporation
EmilEm NI EBENER

Interest in controlled corporation
MR EEB N R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEEE N ER

Interest in controlled corporation
MR EEB N ER

Interest in controlled corporation
REEEENER

Beneficial interest; interest in controlled

corporation
Enfs: NXWEENER

Interest in controlled corporation
MEREEENER

Interest in controlled corporation
REIEEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
MEREEENER

Interest in controlled corporation
REIEEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
MEREEENER

Interest in controlled corporation
REIEEE R R

Interest of spouse
Fo B s

Interest in controlled corporation
REIEEE R R

Tlustee
ZEEA

68,231,737

68,853,538

68,853,638

68,853,538

68,853,638

69,191,196

69,324,439

69,324,439

69,324,439

69,324,439

45,025,224

45,025,224

45,025,224

45,025,224

40,410,926

8.96%

9.04%

9.04%

9.04%

9.04%

9.09%

9.10%

9.10%

9.10%

9.10%

5.91%

5.91%

5.91%

5.91%

5.31%
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All interests stated are long positions.

The table above assumes the Preferred Shares will be automatically converted
into Ordinary Shares of par value US$0.0001 each upon completion of the
Global Offering.

On December 7, 2023, the Company announced that each of Wise
Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is no longer intended to be bound
by the concert party agreement, while Mr. Ma and Mr. Li will continue to be
bound by the concert party agreement acting in concert with each other in
the management and operation of the Group.

Lucky Seven beneficially owns 57,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Lucky Seven was owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul,
a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93% by Salutem
Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia, both of which are the holding
companies pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under
the SFO, each of Simul and Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity
interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession beneficially owns 40,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Spire-succession was owned as to approximately 0.0002%
by Shining-succession, a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of
Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession, a holding company pursuant
to the family trust of Mr. Li, respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of
Shining-succession and Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the equity interest
held by Spire-succession.

Tencent Mobility beneficially owns 168,266,382 Shares of the Company and
is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent. TPP Follow-on beneficially
owns 40,852,974 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which is controlled by
Tencent. As such, under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest held by each of Tencent Mobility and TPP Follow-on.
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Eight Roads Investments directly holds 28,752,315 Shares. In addition, it has
more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures Il L.P., ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP as a limited
partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Eight Roads Investments is deemed to
be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held by Asia Ventures Il L.P,
12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and 11,843,827
Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP
respectively.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is the sole shareholder of Eight Roads
Investments. In addition, Eight Roads GP is indirectly wholly owned by Eight
Roads Holdings Limited and Eight Roads GP is the general partner of Asia
Partners Il LP and ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP. Therefore, under the
SFO, Eight Roads Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 334,952
Shares directly held by Asia Partners Ill LP, 286,849 Shares directly held
by ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP and 68,231,737 Shares in which Eight
Roads Investments is interested.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is owned as to more than one-third by Eight
Roads Shareholdings Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P., whose general
partner is Pandanus Associates Inc. Therefore, under the SFO, each of
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited, Pandanus Partners L.P. and Pandanus
Associates Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Eight Roads
Holdings Limited is interested.

Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership directly holds 29,711,774 Shares. In
addition, it has more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures Ill L.P,
ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV
LP as a limited partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa Fund Il Limited
Partnership is deemed to be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held
by Asia Ventures Ill L.P., 12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and 11,843,827 Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners
Healthcare Fund IV LP respectively.
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Impresa Management LLC is the general partner of Impresa Fund Ill Limited
Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, it is deemed to be interested in
the 69,191,196 Shares in which Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership is
interested. In addition, Impresa Management LLC is the managing member
of Impresa Holdings LLC, which is the general partner of F-Prime Capital
Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa
Management LLC is also deemed to be interested in the 133,243 Shares
directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP.

Impresa Management LLC is controlled (as defined under the SFO) by each
of Abigail P. Johnson and Edward C. Johnson IV and owned, directly or
indirectly, by various shareholders and employees of FMR LLC. Therefore,
each of Abigail P. Johnson, Edward C. Johnson IV and FMR LLC is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Impresa Management LLC is
interested.

JenCap RX and JenCap RX Partners L.P. beneficially owns 13,581,724 and
24,065,391 Shares of the Company.

JenCap RX, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands, is wholly owned by
Jeneration Capital Partners Il L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership of
which Jeneration Capital GP Il is the general partner. As such, under the SFO,
Jeneration Capital GP Il is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held
by JenCap RX. Jeneration Capital GP Il is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy
Ching-Hsin Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is
deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX. JenCap RX
Partners L.P. is a Cayman Islands limited partnership of which JenCap RX GP
is the general partner. As such, under the SFO, JenCap RX GP is deemed to
be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P. JenCap
RX GP is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang. As such,
under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is deemed to be interested in
the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P.

Purple Panther, a company incorporated in Cayman lIslands, is owned by
Jeneration Group Limited, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands.
Jeneration Group Limited is owned by, including JenCap RX and JenCap RX
Partners L.P..

Ms. Catherine Ho Yan Leung is the spouse of Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Catherine Ho Yan Leung is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required
to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2023, no issuance of debentures
was made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interests in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, save for the transactions
as set out above and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
for which the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no other related party
transactions listed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
in this annual report, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction which was required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the Group
conducts online insurance brokerage service as part of its Health
Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in China. As of the date of this annual report, the Company indirectly
held 50% of equity interests in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
but effectively control the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and are able
to derive substantially all of their economic benefits through the New
Contractual Arrangements.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions — Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract which is significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisting during the year ended December 31, 2023 or at
the end of the year ended December 31, 2023.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for disclosed on this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company, or one of its subsidiary
companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended December 31, 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2023
between the Company and a person other than a Director or any
person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its
associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2023 as
at the date of this annual report.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the
date of this annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the
Company or associated companies.
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STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
relevant Director's experience and qualifications, level of responsibility,
performance and the time devoted to the business of the Group, and
the prevailing market conditions.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, the Group enters into
individual employment contracts with its employees covering matters
such as terms, wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety,
confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds for termination.
The remuneration package of its employees includes salary and bonus,
which are generally based on their qualifications, industry experience,
position and performance. The Company considers the remuneration
package of its employees to be competitive among our domestic
competitors. The Company, by itself or through third-party human
resource agencies, make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds for its employees as required by the applicable PRC
laws and regulations, and did not have any material non-compliance in
this regard during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended December 31, 2023. are set out in note
9 and note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2023:
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TRIWREBE2023F12A31HILFESRE
1B [E i e E S5 r F i

Emoluments bands in Bl ([#x]) Number of Individuals
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) BREEE R E ] A
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,000/%8 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t 23,000,000/ 7T 1
SHARE SCHEMES % 5 5t &

2017 Plan 201751 &

The Company has adopted the amended and restated 2017 global
share plan (the “2017 Plan”).

The purpose of 2017 Plan is to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional
incentives to selected employees, Directors, and consultants and
to promote the success of our Company’s business. The 2017
Plan permits the grant of options and share purchase rights as the
Administrator may determine.

The participants of 2017 Plan include employees, directors or
consultants of our Group. The administrator may, from time to time,
select from among all eligible individuals to whom awards in the form of
options, share purchase rights, will be granted and will determine the
nature and amount of each option.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under
the 2017 Plan shall be determined by meetings of Shareholders of
the Company from time to time. The Company did not and will not
grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing. The Shares may be
authorized but unissued or reacquired Shares. The number of Shares
that are subject to awards outstanding under the 2017 Plan at any
time shall not exceed the aggregate number of Shares that then remain
available for issuance under the 2017 Plan. The Company, during the
term of the 2017 Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep available
sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of outstanding awards
granted under the 2017 Plan.

The 2017 Plan commenced on January 5, 2018 and shall continue in
effect for a term of ten years. Termination of the 2017 Plan shall not
affect the administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it
hereunder with respect to awards granted under the 2017 Plan prior to
the date of such termination. No Shares shall be issued or sold under
the 2017 Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an
Award granted prior to the termination of the 2017 Plan.
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company had (i) issued most of the
underlying Shares of the 2017 Plan Options to Creative Pioneer
and Wise Approach before the Listing, respectively, and (i) granted
9,905,505 outstanding 2017 Plan Options, representing approximately
1.30% of the total number of Shares in issue. During the Reporting
Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options divided by the weighted average number of total Shares in
issue during the Reporting Period is approximately 1.54%. All the
outstanding 2017 Plan Options were granted between January 31,
2018 and October 18, 2022 (both days inclusive) and the Company
did not and will not grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing.
Subject to the maximum number of underlying Shares may be issued
under the 2017 Plan and requirements under the Listing Rules, no
maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under the 2017
Plan. The exercise price of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options is
between US$0.018 and US$0.330. The grantees were not required
to pay any consideration for the grant of the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options. No 2017 Plan Option was granted during the Reporting
Period.
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Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding 2017

Plan Options throughout the Reporting Period: — L FEEBRENE TS
Fair value of
per 2017
Plan Options Approximate
at the percentage
date of grant Forfeited/ of total
and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December  December 31,
Grantees ' 1,2023 Period Period (US$) grant adopted® schedule period Period 31,2023 2023
017538
ShERE
RELAH
ZhTE 120235
20235 Rz REEHR #2028  12B31A4E
1518 REE REE Fi: 3 gitg 2R/ 128318 BTRHAE
AR HRITE HRERT BREIE (%7) RAAH REF FENEX BHH B VeS| HRTE HENELL
Employees 9,962,102 - - - - - - 10 years 896,597 9,065,506 1.19%
B8 - - - - 106
Senvice providers 850,000 - - - - - - 10 years - 850,000 0.11%
TR fe{tE 106
Total 10,802,102 - - - - - 896,597 9,905,505 1.30%"
agt
Exercisable at 7,977,508
December 31,
2023
120235
12A31H
BEEES
\Weighted average - - 0.1297
exercise price
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i
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Notes:

1. The grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options include current
employees, former employees and external consultants of the Group. None
of the grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options are () Directors, chief
executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associate; (i) granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limited;
and (i) related entity participant or service provider with 2017 Plan Options
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital. For details, please refer to note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

& For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted in relation to and
the basis of the measurement of fair value of 2017 Plan Options, please refer
to notes 2 and 32 to the financial statements in this annual report.

4. The discrepancies between total and sums of amounts listed above are due
to rounding.

Further details of the 2017 Plan are set out in the Prospectus.
RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the restricted share unit scheme adopted by
the Company in 2021 (the “RSU Scheme”).

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to recognize and motivate the
contributions the grantees under the RSU Scheme, provide incentives
for them to remain with the Company, and attract suitable personnel for
our further development.

Participants of the RSU Scheme include (i) the employees or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors of the Group); (i) any person or entity (including but not
limited to consultants engaged by the company services to the Group)
that provides research, development, consultancy and other technical
or operational or administrative support to the Group; and (i) any
other persons including former employees who, in the sole opinion of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares that may be delivered under the RSU Scheme
are 10,004,000 Shares. Subject to the total number of Shares may be
delivered under the RSU Scheme and requirements under the Listing
Rules, no maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under
the RSU Scheme.

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date of the RSU Scheme, after which
period no further Awards will be granted. In spite of this, the RSU
Scheme in all other respects remain in full force and effect and Awards
that are granted during the Term may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.
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Further details of the RSU Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

As of December 31, 2023, all of the RSUs under the RSU Scheme,
representing a total of 10,004,000 underlying Shares, representing
approximately 1.31% of the total number of Shares in issue had
been granted and remained unvested to Mr. ZHOU Teng. During the
Reporting Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding
RSUs divided by the weighted average number of total Shares in issue
during the Reporting Period is approximately 1.55%.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding RSUs
throughout the Reporting Period:
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2023 Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the 2023 Share Award Scheme (‘2023
Scheme”) on August 30, 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Scheme is to recognize the contributions
by certain eligible participants and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.
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Eligible participants under the 2023 Scheme include (i) directors and
employees (including full-time employees and part-time employees)
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including persons who are
granted awards under the 2023 Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with these companies); (i) directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow Subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company; and (i) persons who provide services to
the Company and/or its Subsidiaries on a continuing or recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long-term growth of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, for
the avoidance of doubt, such service provider may not include placing
agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions, as well as professional service providers
such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

Subject to any early termination by the Board, the 2023 Scheme shall
continue in effect for a term of ten years from the Adoption Date (i.e.
August 20, 2023), after which no further awards will be granted.

The Administrator shall not make any further award of awarded shares
which will result in the aggregate number of the shares awarded
exceeding 3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date. On March 19, 2024, the maximum aggregate number
of the shares awarded under the 2023 Scheme was increased from 3%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date to
5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
(representing approximately 5.01% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report). The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under the
2023 Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company in any 12-month period.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Scheme and the
fulfillment of all vesting conditions applicable to the vesting of the
Awarded Interests on such Selected Participant, the respective
Awarded Interests held by the Trustee on behalf of the Selected
Participant pursuant to the provision of the Scheme shall vest in
such Selected Participant in accordance with the applicable vesting
schedule, and subject to execution of requisite documents (such as
vesting instrument and transfer documents, if any) the Trustee shall
cause the Awarded Interests to be transferred to such Selected
Participant and/or a vehicle controlled by him/her (such as a trust or a
private company) in accordance with the 2023 Scheme.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
August 30, 2023, November 2, 2023, November 29, 2023, January
22, 2024 and March 19, 2024. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized
terms used above shall have the same meanings as defined in the
announcement dated August 30, 2023.
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During the period from October 31, 2023 to January 18, 2024, the
trustee has purchased 12,715,200 Shares in aggregate on the market
at the total consideration of approximately HK$94,884,012, ranged
from approximately HK$6.37 per Share to approximately HK$8.97 per
Share pursuant to the 2023 Scheme.

During the Reporting Period, no award Shares has been granted under
the 2023 Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company at any
time during or subsisted at the end of the year ended December 31,
2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased an aggregate
of 1,525,200 Shares for a total amount of HK$11,032,966 on July
21, July 24, July 25, July 27, July 28, August 31, September 11-15,
September 18-19, September 22, September 25-29, October
6, October 10-12, October 17, October 30, November 13, 2023
respectively on the Stock Exchange (the “Repurchased Shares”) and
the Repurchased Shares were cancelled on December 28, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company and its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any other listed securities of the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

LHRERREFEAR

The Shares of the Company commenced listing on the Main Board  7Z8/A &) %15 A2023F 12 A23H LA 2 Fk B E 0
of the Stock Exchange on December 23, 2023 by way of Global FREIEEBMIHAER FH KB EES
Offering, and the total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) received FH - Bi8EEhEMAR EmAYE  KNAF
by the Company from the Global Offering amounted to approximately B 2R3 EIWENH TS RIEF5E ([ B 1E
HK$120.4 million after deducting professional fees, underwriting S E%E|)@%E4) 51204BEE T -

commissions and other related listing expenses.

The intended uses and the balance of the Net Proceeds as at #i7FE Fi& N H2023F12 831 H {8 218 F 28

December 31, 2023 are set out below:

RERREDIET -

Utilised Unutilised Expected
amountas at amountasat timeline for

Percentage to December 31, December 31, unutilized
total amount Net proceeds 2023 2023 amount
#2023 F 2023F
Intended use of proceeds BRERFARHE LaEn FriSFIE 12831H 12318 KEBRASEN
as stated in the Prospectus NERERE Ak FE CHASE ADAeE BHEEER
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx TEx TEx
(a) Business expansion: (@) EXER: 87 104,800 41,939 62,861 2024
20245
() Further expansion of Specialty () #E—FEREFE 35 42,200 15,813 26,387 2024
Pharmacy Business BEREXH 20244
(i) Expansion of Physician iy BEBEMER 28 33,700 15,122 18,578 2024
Research Assistance ES 2024%F
Business
(i) Expansion of Health Insurance (i) BERERERER 24 28,900 11,004 17,896 2024
Services business BEH 20244
(b) Technology research and (b) BAEREE 13 15,600 4,367 11,233 2024
development 20245
() Improvement of the capabilty () 1EmZ%:/ B 10 12,000 3,431 8,569 2024
of system/application BrHZEEHRN 20244
development team E
(i) Further research and () #—SHEUR 3 3,600 936 0,664 2024
development of improving our ERMER R 20244

technology infrastructure and REERT R

new solutions

The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds in accordance with the intended ANEEEBEFRREREMESE AR EHEEHH
purposes as set out in the Prospectus. The Board is not aware of any FIEFIEFZE - N AFRHE - ESE2 WA
material change to the planned use of the Net Proceeds as at the date RSB FZER T2 B e A E (B2 EEH -

of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 80 to 99 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management
and the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and
practices adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters,
and had also reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended
December 31, 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for

re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the
AGM.

By order of the Board

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 19, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board hereby presents to the Shareholders the corporate
governance report for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of its shareholders and to
enhance its corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period, save for the deviations from the code provisions C.2.1 and
F1.1.

Details of deviation are set out below in this corporate governance
report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors and relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during

the Reporting Period.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting Period.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs as well
as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value and strategy.
All Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
establishment of ESG system, material transactions (in particular
those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a
view 1o ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board fully supports the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management to discharge their responsibilities.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it has given clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company adopted written terms established on division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

EExg
B

RAREBNEREEREZEAE ES
SEERENENAAR -EFEGHFAAE
BEREBARANER  UNRERART]
XAcRERE - BEB MR 30 WEEXR
RAEIMRKI) - 2B E ERIAKR DA &E BIK
BERBMELIRE -

ERGREARANRABATE REILE

REEHERRFE  BERNRAL - N5

ERRARERRM RRS L ERER

S BAR S CRRETHS RASERY

25) BEEN EEEERIMEANY
BEFE -

2REEYTREREHIREFEIEEER
ARATAWEBOERRBH UHRESS
125 BT i AR B R AR B R 7 o

EEE BTN EEBATHEERENE
fOBRBIREER BAAAAARE

ARAFZBEER TTHRMEEDRIRTT
BAEE N SR EIRE TR KA e & T
EBeEHrd  LASABREETENE
AR GH ABISEESHE-

EEERNEHERNTERERERER
TEBE -

EZeREBEERTHBEEREEER
AOHEEENROFELRAERER LER
BB AERRA R RME LR TE St &
MAIARNEZSERMNBESTERLHE
MR -

ADEE R E B ARERE (85
ERGHIRD R R E R B -
ARFEHEEREMERABRAAEY

MEHHERTY REEFRSABENS
ERHEE R -

BRRENREERAT —B-=25% 81



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairmarn)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAO Leiwan
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (resigned on May 10, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (52, alias 5~ 22 &F )
Mr. FAN Xin (appointed on May 10, 2023)
Mr. HE Haijian

Ms. HUANG Bei

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship among the Directors. Biographical
details, including offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments of the Directors are set out in the section
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on
independence as required under the Listing Rules, (i) the absence
of involvement in the daily management of the Company, and (i) the
absence of any relationships or circumstances which would interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. Throughout the
Reporting Period, the number of independent non-executive Directors
on the Board meets the one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.
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Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors and
at least one-third of its members being independent non-executive
directors. Further, independent non-executive directors will be
appointed to committees of the Board as required under the Listing
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views and
input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to
the independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with the
respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall be subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company which provide
that the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Articles of Association of
the Company also provided that at every annual general meeting of
the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election or any other
Directors has a service contract that is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development (“CPD”) program to develop and refresh
their knowledge. Internal briefings for Directors will be arranged by the
Company and reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.
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The records of CPD relating to director’s duties and regulatory and ZEERHBAESABEEEBAENEEUR
business development that have been received by the Directors for the EEEEMFEZ XL E LM T :
Period are summarized as follows:

Name of Directors Type of Training
BEspE o2 Eidl)
Notes
Mt aE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. MA Xuguang Aand B
BBELE AKB
Mr. LI Ji Aand B
FlEEE AKB
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. YAO Leiwan Aand B
kR A AKB
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (resigned on May 10, 2023) Aand B
SRE LA (R2023F5 5 10H BET) AKB
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIYFHTES
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias 3k 2 T) Aand B
CHANG Stanley Yi (3R - 5l & 5k 2% ) £ 4 AKB
Mr. FAN Xin (appointed on May 10, 2023) Aand B
BERR S A& (R2023F5 H10H EZ () AKB
Mr. HE Haijian Aand B
(Epis3Etas AKB
Ms. HUANG Bei Aand B
mEXLT AKB
Notes: B aE
Types of Training HER

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, A: HEFIREER RETEAGR Vg g

conferences and workshops HR TS
B:  Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B : BIEMAEFE R RS HT) - S R AARA T
publications )

BRRENFEERAT —S-=55H g5
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Board Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Company in accordance with code
provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of majority
of the Directors, either in person or through electronic means of
communication.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings of the Company held during the Reporting Period
are set out below:

EXEER

RBEBN ARTDRBOZEATAS
PR ECSIERBT N E R B2
HIER - BEE LSBT ANEEERTT
— R YHEBEFRSRBATTANS

EERZEEHENHFELE

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

LERE/ ERRY
Remuneration
Audit and Appraisal Nomination Strategy
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meetings(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s)
BRZEE  FMRAfM REZEE EKZES
Esps ES88R Ef E3-E-f g3 - REAE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. MA Xuguang 717 N/A N/A 2/2 N/A 11
SEELE TER TEA TER
Mr. LI Ji /7 N/A 3/3 N/A N/A 11
FHELE TER A TR
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. YAQ Leiwen 57 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0N
@ xE TER TEA A TER
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (resigned on May 10, 2023) 2/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
REELE (R023F5F 108 8HE) TER TER A TEA TER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (5%}, alias 3 28F) i 2/2 N/A 2/2 N/A 1/1
CHANG Stanley Yi (5= - Bl 4 K 28F) L4 TEA TR
Mr. FAN Xin (gopointed on May 10, 2023) 3/3 11 N/A 0/0 N/A 0N
B4 (R2023F5F10H B Z(F) TEm TER
Mr. HE Haijian /7 2/2 3/3 2/2 N/A 11
gL sE TER
Ms. HUANG Bei 6/7 2/2 3/3 N/A N/A 0N
BELL A TEA
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Practice and Conduct of Board Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings (or such other period as agreed). For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
regular Board meeting or committee meeting (or such other period as
agreed) to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management, where necessary, attends regular Board
meetings and other Board and committee meetings to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company.

The Articles of Association contains provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

The agenda of each Board meeting is in consultation with members of
the Board such that they are given an opportunity to include agenda
items, draft and executed Board minutes are sent in a timely manner
to all Directors for their comments and records, minutes of the Board
meetings recorded in sufficient details are kept by the Company
Secretary.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged the directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against the Directors during the Reporting
Period. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be segregated and should not be
performed by the same individual. According to the current structure of
the Board, the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are held by Mr. MA Xuguang.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires
approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of seven
Directors, and the Board believes there is sufficient check and balance
on the Board, (i) Mr. MA Xuguang and the other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the Group
accordingly, and (i) the balance of power and authority is ensured
by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and
other key business, financial and operational policies of the Group
are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the Board
and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr. MA Xuguang is one
of our co-founders, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables
more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer is
necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Nomination
Committee and Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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The majority of the member of Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee consists of four members, all of them are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi,
(3R¥P, alias FTEE) (“Mr. Chang’), Mr. FAN Xin (“Mr. Fan”) Mr. HE
Haijian (“Mr. He”) and Ms. HUANG Bei, (“Ms. Huang”) with Mr. Chang
being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board
in providing an independent view of our financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the audit
process and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board which includes, amongst other things:

° proposing to the Board the appointment and replacement of
external audit firms;

° supervising the implementation of our internal audit system;

° liaising between our internal audit department and external
auditors;

° reviewing our financial information and related disclosures; and
° other duties conferred by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to discuss the annual results for the year ended December, 31 2022,
interim results for the six months ended June 30, 2023, audit plan
for 2023, significant issue on financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system and internal audit function.
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Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee with terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of Mr. He
(independent non-executive Director), Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. Li”) (executive
Director) and Ms. Huang (independent non-executive Director), with
Mr. He being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
is to develop remuneration policies of our Directors, evaluate the
performance, make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of our Directors and senior management and evaluate and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangements which includes,
amongst other things:

° establishing, reviewing and making recommendations to our
Directors on our policy and structure concerning remuneration of
our Directors and senior management;

° determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of
each Director and members of senior management;

° reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our
Directors from time to time;

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

° other duties conferred by the Board of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee held three meetings to review the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company, discuss the remuneration package of
Mr. FAN Xin as independent non-executive Director, changes to the
composition of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, adoption
of share award plan of the Board, assess the performance and
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management, and
made recommendations to the Board, where appropriate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in the notes 9 and note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. FAN Xin (independent
non-executive Director), Mr. He (independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chang (independent non-executive Director) with Mr. Ma being
the chairman of the committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to our Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors which includes, amongst other things:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of our Board on
a regular basis and making recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes;

o identifying, selecting or making recommmendations to our Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

° assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our
Directors; and

° other duties conferred by the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, before
making recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings to discuss the nomination and appointment matters of
Directors, and review the structure, size, diversity and composition of
the Board, changes to the composition of the Nomination Committee
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established a Strategy Committee consists of
Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. Li (executive Director) and Mr. YAO
Leiwen (non-executive Director), with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the
committee. The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to study
and advise on the long-term strategy and operation plans of our Group.
The Strategy Committee will assist the Board, in conjunction with our
management, in addressing our Company’s overall mission, vision and
strategic direction. Areas of focus will include: providing the Board
and management, as applicable, with input and recommendations
with respect to key strategic initiatives and major R&D programs and
partnerships; and assisting management in establishing a strategic
planning process, identifying and addressing organizational challenges
and evaluating strategic alternatives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the achievement of our Company’s strategic objectives
and sustainable development. All Director appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender.

The Company aims to maintain a truly diverse Board which will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merit while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised six male
Directors and one female Director, providing the Board with a
direct and diversified channel of the opinion from both genders. In
addition, the Directors believe that the composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business development of the Group and
effective leadership, taking into account the extensive experience,
skills and knowledge of each Director and the balanced mix of two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four independent
non-executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that Board
diversity (including gender diversity) has been achieved with reference
to the current circumstances of the Company, and the present
structure of the Board can ensure the independence and objectivity of
the Board and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Shareholders. We will implement policies to ensure
gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of female
potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female
staff who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting
them to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the policy for the
nomination of directors on an annual basis.

Workforce Diversity

The Group follows the principles of “openness, equality, competition,
and merit” and does not discriminate against applicants on the basis
of gender, race, age, religious beliefs, and other factors. The Group
actively promotes diversity in the workforce and encourages the
employment of employees from all backgrounds. The Group has
established systematic external and internal recruitment management
process to ensure the quality of recruitment and select qualified and
outstanding talents.

As at December 31, 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) is 495 (male): 2,601 (female). For further details
of gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section in this annual
report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors upon the
assessment of candidates:

(1)  Review on the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least once a year, and also make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to align with the Company’s
strategies.

(2)  Fully consider the Board Diversity Policy, individual performance,
individual capability, professionalism, knowledge, experience and
time that can be devoted to the Company, personal credibility,
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and applicable laws
and regulations etc.; identify candidate(s) with appropriate
qualifications to be member(s) of the Board, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individual(s)
nominated as director(s).

(8) Make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
regarding the director(s) and succession plans for the director(s) (in
particular, the Chairman and chief executive).
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 167 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of
the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to approximately RMB2.6
million and RMBO0.8 million, respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2023 is set out below:
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Service Category PR # %8 5l B ENE A

(RMB’000)

(AREEFT)

Audit Services in relation to annual audit BHETERTHZERE 2,600
Non-audit Services in relation to interim review BT HENN

JEAZ AR TS 700

Non-audit Services in relation to taxation B IERNIEZEARE 75

3,375
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with the Company with regular review for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. The
Audit Committee reviews annually the continued effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems dealing with
risk and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and regulations, and risk
management functions. The Directors through the Audit Committees
are kept regularly appraised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. Up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee had reviewed and confirmed to the Board, that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system are effective and
adequate.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
featured with well-defined organizational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard
assets of our Group.

The management assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided
treatment plans, and monitored the risk management progress, and
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee. Any urgent matters in
relation to the relevant areas of internal control will be reported in a
timely manner. Review results and recommendations in the form of
written reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for discussion
and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by the Internal Audit
Department to ensure that material weaknesses previously identified
have been properly resolved.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the year ended December 31, 2023, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Whistleblowing policy is in place to facilitate employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na (“Ms. Ren") and Ms. LI Ching Yi (“Ms. Li") were appointed
as joint secretaries of the Company.

Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the
Company and has closely communicated with Ms. Ren.

During the Period, Ms. Li and Ms. Ren have received no less than

15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge in compliance with Rules 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors are
available to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. As of the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed
the policy and confirmed that it is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

This Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
which ensure that the Shareholders and in appropriate circumstances,
the investment community at large (which include the Company’s
potential investors as well as analysts who report and analyze the
Company’s performance), are timely provided with information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments and corporate governance), in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the
investment community and the Company.

The Company also maintains a website (www.medbankshealthtech.com),
where information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

During the Period, the Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
multiple communication channels for the Shareholders in place and the
steps taken to handle Shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly implemented
and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should
have a policy on payment of dividends. As the Company intends to
retain most, if not all, of the Company’s available funds and any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of the Company’s
business and has not yet adopted a dividend policy to declare or pay
any dividends in the near future, the Board will review the Company’s
status periodically and consider adopting a dividend policy if and when
appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents may only be
effected by way of special resolution. The Articles of Association has
been amended and restated with effect from the Listing Date. The
Company has not made any changes to the Articles of Association
since the Listing Date. An up to date version of the Articles of
Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings of the Company, including the election of individual Directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Associations, general
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one member
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

08  SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023

BERNH

ARBERNHZEEERRBBRIDAESR
TRET-HBERARIC TEIIRES 8
EHABEEN -8 LT A AR A E
HEBSREMUELERES ABEENA
RIJ B B 3T AR 7N I R A 2K 1% ) 48 s N gt <2 AT 48
uhER -

IR R AR

RREBR S REN  RARARERK
SLEAREABMLERBYSEHE (BHEE
RERNEZEF)REBLUABR -RARARRK
RELREWAARZREBRIE LT AR BIIA
BREFARR MEEERBNRARFER
LN CYINZNYNEIPYE: S p SV VNG

REARBIRRAENESF

RIFABEIRMAIE12.316  FRR ARG IRA] &
—HRFNEBRRNEMELMBF FHEE
RAKRERARBURBENTIEZNER (K
MARAABERELATERFR AR
M=) EFFIRARENEBHHEERL
HERKARE MRZEFRAREKERRZ
BARE N PRARB D2 —HBEBA -
HAMHm AR AR ABIERAE _ EIRFRRER -
BRARG A AR THEM—BBR (R —
RRBA AR (RERBA)NEEE KM A
M- BRZRKAXREARBIUNEENEER
WER (KWARFTERELATBHRE
B RIREMBER) ERIHARENTR
B FHLTHBRARE s RARE
ZEER AABANVRARB 02—
BEBRA HRMHEARREAG EREX
BN -EEFGWANFRHBRE 2 A 21
BRIER AR —ERREEIN21B RETH
GE BRARNGHREEPEMBB—F
BIREEOAL AIUREERM TR (FAaeE
MEFRGAARGHNT) ARKRRAS
iRt B RMEA S H# NS ETRE R
EZREZEAYMMERT UMMERE
EETEIMBBFERAEKNEGEEREE
HARRABRKAELREE-



Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association
for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article
12.3 of the Articles of Association are set out above.

Putting Forward Enquiry/Requisition to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 7/F, Building 3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888 Caoyang
Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@medbanks.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT
Basis and Principles of Preparation

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
is the ESG Report that Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries and consolidated
affiliated entities (collectively, the “Group” or “we”, “our” and us”),
is pleased to publish to demonstrate its environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) achievements and respond to stakeholders’
concerns. The Report should be read in conjunction with the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in the Company’s
Annual Report 2023 for a more profound comprehension of the

Group’s ESG performance.

The Report was prepared on the basis of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) published by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report complies
with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply
or explain” principle stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide and
adheres to the Reporting Principles of Materiality, Quantitative
and Consistency. The appendix to the Report is the content index
of the ESG Reporting Guide, which provides cross-reference for
readers.

The Group applies the following Reporting Principles in the
preparation of the Report:

o Materiality: The Group uses materiality assessment to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period. Please
see the “Materiality Assessment” section for more details;

° Quantitative: The Group will disclose relevant information on
the standards, methodologies, assumptions and calculation
tools used to quantify indicators, where practicable;

° Consistency: The Report is the second report published
by the Group. We will explain any difference of statistical
methods or key performance indicators from the previous
report or any of their future changes.
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1.3
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1.5
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Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the environmental, social and governance
performance of the Company, all its subsidiaries and consolidated
affiliated entities for the period from January 1, 2023 to December
31, 2023 (the “Reporting Period”), with modest extensions
forward or backward.

Currency Description

Unless otherwise specified, amounts in the Report are
denominated in Renminbi.

Form of Publication

The Report is available in both Chinese and English for readers’
reference. In case of any discrepancy, the Chinese version shall
prevail. You are welcome to access electronic versions of the
Report in both English and Chinese on the Company’s official
website (www.medbankshealthtech.com) and the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Report Feedback

If you have any questions or feedback about the Report and its
contents, you are welcome to contact us through the following
methods:

Email: ir@medbanks.cn

Address: 7/F, Building 3, Orstar City, No. 1888 Caoyang Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board Statement

With the strategic goal of “becoming a leader in the digital
transformation of healthcare industry in China”, the Group
is committed to establishing and improving its sustainable
development governance structure, continuously enhancing
governance efficiency, and building a sustainable development
pattern with far-reaching influence, so as to create value for all
stakeholders and achieve the vision of “creating an integrated
health management network to provide quality and accessible
healthcare services to the public”. The Board of Directors (the
“Board”) would like to express its heartfelt gratitude to the
management and staff who have established and continuously
optimized ESG governance framework, and show its great
respect to our distinguished shareholders, investors, customers
and partners for their fervent interest, unwavering trust and
support for the sustainable development of the Group.

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG
governance and strives to seamlessly integrate the concept of
sustainable development with the overall corporate development
strategy. We have established a top-down ESG governance
structure with clear responsibilities. The Board plays a key
role in overseeing and reviewing the overall ESG objectives,
management strategies and operation approaches, including
identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material
ESG-related issues. The Group has reviewed, prioritised and
strengthened the management of key issues based on the
materiality assessment results of ESG issues which have been
reviewed and approved by the Board. As an integral part of
the formulation of the Group’s overall strategy, the Board is
responsible for overseeing the management and performance of
material issues.

In respect of ESG risk management, the Board has taken
measures to ensure that the Group has appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems in place. We
have recognised ESG risks related to supply chain, government
regulations, intellectual property protection, information security,
human resources, anti-corruption, etc. We plan to systematically
assess ESG-related risks in the future, identify material ESG
risks, and strive to gradually integrate ESG risks into the overall
corporate risk management system.
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In setting ESG objectives, the Board has consistently considered
the impact of our daily business operations on the environment.
The Group strives to minimise the impact on the environment
by implementing various energy-saving, emission-reduction
and resource-conservation measures in its office and
Specialty Pharmacy Business operations. In the future, we will
comprehensively assess the impact of the Group’s businesses
on the environment, further clarify our environmental targets, and
develop corresponding action plans.

The Report provides detailed disclosure of the Group’s ESG
performance in 2023.

Governance Structure

The Group recognizes the importance of a sound governance
structure for enhancing overall sustainable development
management, including effective implementation of ESG
strategies and management approaches, accurate identification,
assessment and management of ESG risks, and precise setting,
implementation and monitoring of ESG objectives.

During the Reporting Period, we advanced and implemented ESG
practices around the established ESG governance framework.
The ESG Working Group operating under the authority of
the Board assisted the Board in monitoring and guiding the
implementation of ESG issues. The detailed terms of reference of
the Group are summarized below:

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023
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Board

e Overseeing the Group’s ESG issues and assessing
the Group’s overall ESG management objectives,
strategies and approaches

e Reviewing the Group’s management approaches
and strategies, including the process and results
of identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing
material ESG issues, including risks related to the
Group’s businesses

e Reviewing the Group’s ESG-related risks and
opportunities and overseeing ESG risk management
and internal control systems

e Assessing the Group’s ESG-related objectives and
following up on the progress towards them

e Reviewing material ESG management issues,
including but not limited to annual ESG reports

ESG Working Group

e Setting the Group’s overall ESG objectives,
management strategies and approaches, following
up on the implementation progress of ESG issues
and managing the performance and progress of the
objectives

e Coordinating and overseeing the implementation
and execution of ESG-related work by various
functional departments and business segments of
the Group, and establishing relevant systems and
processes in accordance with the Group’s overall
ESG management objectives and strategies

e Evaluating and determining the potential risks and
opportunities and the associated impact of material
ESG issues on the Group’s business strategies, and
establishing effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems

e Conducting the materiality assessment on ESG-
related matters in the business management
process of the Group and determining ESG-related
disclosures

e Coordinating the preparation of the annual ESG
report by the relevant departments of the Group and
submitting it to the Board for consideration

e Performing any other ESG-related tasks as requested
by the Board.
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Functional and business departments

2.3 Stakeholder Engagement

HERERA®RE

Collecting, collating and submitting ESG-related e

information and data

Promoting ESG issues of the Group and implementing e

ESG-related practical activities
Assisting in ESG publicity and training and
stakeholder communication to build up a positive

corporate image
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2.3

We attach importance to the interaction and communication
with our stakeholders, understand and positively respond to
the expectations and advice of various stakeholders, including
government and regulators, shareholders and investors, patients/
consumers, employees, suppliers and partners, customers/
members, the community and the public, through various
channels, and set ESG development goals accordingly, so as
to create shared value with all stakeholders in the course of the
Group’s sustainable development.

Engagement methods

BEARX

Expectations

HEMOBE

Government and regulators B fF I B- & #4418

()

[

Regular announcements
Policy setting
Government visits

DL
B HIE
BT

Compliance with laws and
regulations

Tax payment in accordance with
laws

Fulfilment of social responsibilities
Job creation

Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity building
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Shareholders and investors IR R &% IR & &
General meetings of shareholders o
Regular announcements, roadshows e
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Press conferences
Investment analyst research

BERERXE
EHRE A
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Robust investment returns
Business and profit growth
Transparent information disclosure
Prevention of risks
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Responses

EMHEE

Compliance operations

e Compliance with and implementation
of national policies

e Promoting social employment

ESG governance framework
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e Periodical information disclosure
Convening of general meetings of
shareholders

e Improvement of internal control
system

Revenue generation
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Engagement methods

BEARX

Patients/Consumers £% 4 &%
e Specialty pharmacy services

e  Pharmacist services

e Service hotline

e Social media communication
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Employees ET

e Email, telephone, written
communication, etc.
Employee survey

Employee training

Social media communication
M- EE EEREER
8 T
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HRERER

Expectations

HEMOBE
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Safety and quality of products and e
services

Responsible marketing and o
promotion

Customer privacy protection and e
data security

Consumer relationship maintenance

EmMkRENReEEE .
BRTEHEEEE .
EPRILRERRELZ .
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Occupational health and safety o
Employee development and training

Suppliers and partners it FERFEE & 1E B £

Contracts and agreements
Business communication
On-site visits

Regular evaluation

Daily communication
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Customers/Members EF /€8
e Contracts and agreements

e Customer meetings

e Business communication

e Health insurance sales platforms
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Employment and labour practices
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[ ]
Supply chain management °
Strengthening industry collaboration e
for common development °

e E e .
INERIT W IEHRI R .
[ ]
[ ]
Quiality of service and o
communication
Responsible marketing and °
promotion
Health protection °
Non-medical professional services
fRsMBRE S .
BEIEHESE .
i ERARIE .
IFBREEXIRE

BRI HEREREE

Responses

BEMHEE

Quality management of products and
services

Consumer satisfaction survey and
complaint handling

Protection of consumer privacy and
data security

EmkRGEEERE
HEEMEE AT RIRFEIE
REHEERLEAHEL 2

Employee health and safety
protection

Competitive remuneration package
Extensive employee training

Clear career promotion path

B TiREZ 2IRIE
BHEFINHFNEGE
EENETE

PR B SR B B AR

Fulfillment of contracts

Open tenders

Developing cooperation
Promoting industry exchange

B1TE R
NGE-IE
FESF
fRETTRIM

Improvement of the quality of
products and services
Enhancement of customer
communication

Protection of privacy and data
security
RAEMKMREE S
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Rk S RER®WE

Engagement methods

BEARN

Expectations Responses

HEMWHE EMEE

The community and the public &M 2 %

e The Company’s official website
e Social media communication
e Community charity activities

. RAEM
o HRERBR
. HERHED

2.4 Materiality Assessment

e Fulfilment of social responsibilities Strengthening community

e Community relations communication

e Emission management e \olunteer activities

e Use of resources e Charitable donations

e Tackling climate change e Promoting local employment

¢ Reducing environmental impacts on
the community

s BITHEEME o fnsRHMERER

o HEREEE o HREMEL

o BEMmEE o HERMW

o ERFM o WHENMIIBE

o YRR o REHHENRRTE

24 EEMFTME

We identify sustainability priorities by identifying material K RAS EE BRI E
issues. During the Reporting Period, we entrusted a third-party BREBLAEH - REHR RPEES
professional agency to conduct a benchmarking analysis with S EEME Y EE S M BT
regulators, peers and rating agencies based on the nature of MIBEETTHESN UEEREFN
the Group’s businesses and sustainable development strategy, M O 5 B I R B SRR
and selected 17 material issues, namely 3 environmental issues, H17EEE M58 BIE3EERERE
11 social issues and 3 governance issues. The outcomes of the 1B &5 BINRIB AR 58 o 31314 45
assessment were determined by our management and have been REBARMEEEBNHE YEOAHES
reviewed and approved by the Board. The highly material issues SEEMIE - SEE B BETEAR
will be highlighted in the Report. ST ERHR

Process to assess material issues EEMEETGRE

Identifying material issues

B EE N R

Materiality assessment and
outcomes

SEEEMAGNER

Confirmation by the Board

EETERA
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Benchmarking with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange, peer
companies, rating agencies, etc.

Building a library of potentially material issues

HRE 2 P (ESG#RE1E5]) RITHRE AR BERRERISE O
BUBEEENRERS

The Group’s management assessed potential material issues and classified
material issues as highly material, material and generally material in
descending order of importance

Six highly material issues, nine material issues and two generally material
issues were identified. The specific outcomes are shown in the table below
AEFEEREHECEZUZBETIR HEEURBERREZREEK
BHEIREEEE EEM—REE

FHESEEERE OHEERETE—REEZE ABERERT

=

The Board reviewed the outcomes of the materiality assessment and
ultimately confirmed the relevant ESG issues as annual material issues
EFESFEAERNTMER ISR EREHEESGRERFEEZERE
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Environmental issues

BEERSRE

Social issues

HEEERE

Governance issues

EREERE

Highly material issues

EEEESRHE

Material issues

EERE

Safety and quality of productse

and services

Responsible marketing and
promotion

Employment and labour
practices

Customer privacy protection
and data security

Health protection
EmMREHEZEEER
BEELEHESE

e 1R K 55 T 4R
EFRILRERSEL S
fERRIRIE

Compliance operations

BREE
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Emission management
Use of resources
Tackling climate change
71967/ N=pE
BIRH A
FESTRIRE(L

Supply chain management e
Occupational health and
safety °
Employee development and
training

Consumer relationship
maintenance

HEgEE R .
BEERERS .
8 TR EE
HEERRGE

Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity build-up

ESG governance framework
[ S S AR AR BB Rk
ESGE/AZiE

BIREZEBRERAR

R HERERBE

Generally material issues

—REEZE

Intellectual property
protection

Community relations and
community investment

R E R
HEERETEEE
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OUR SERVICES
Product Quality

The Group always puts the life and health of consumers first and
strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations, including
the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Drug Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Implementing Regulations of the Drug Administration Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and the Measures Regarding
the Administration of Drug Information Service over the Internet.
By implementing a series of initiatives to control the quality and
safety of products and services, we are committed to providing
consumers with reliable healthcare products and quality services.

The Group has compiled or revised documents for the whole
process of quality management in accordance with the
requirements of national laws and regulations and in conjunction
with the Company’s internal management requirements. Our
stores conduct internal management in accordance with
the Management System of Quality Management System
Documents, the Management System for Assessment of the
Implementation of the Quality Management System and other
documents. In addition, in accordance with the requirements of
the state, the Group has established a drug traceability system,
which is implemented in accordance with the Drug Traceability
Management System. Drug recalls are conducted in accordance
with the return letters from drug holders and upstream, and
implemented in accordance with the Drug Recall Management
System, the Operational Procedures for Drug Recovery and
Recall and the Management System for Quality Incident.

In order to further ensure the stable quality of pharmaceutical
products, we strictly follow the Good Supply Practice for
Pharmaceutical Products by implementing stringent product and
service quality and safety management measures at every stage
of the Specialty Pharmacy Business, developing internal quality
management schemes, and taking strict quality control measures
in procurement, acceptance, storage, sale and delivery of
pharmaceutical products. The Specialty Pharmacy management
team is responsible for implementing the procedures under the
quality management systems to ensure that quality and safety
controls are carried out in every aspect. During the Reporting
Period, none of the Group’s products sold or shipped were
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
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Product and service quality and safety management measures adopted for each operation stage of specialty

pharmacy business

RBEEEXBZAEERRHERRRBEEZRZEENER

Procurement

2

Acceptance

Bk

To ensure the quality of products, we select pharmaceutical manufacturers
after rigorous screening and inspection, with their brand reputation, market
acceptance and physician recognition taken into account. We usually select
leading pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors as suppliers for the sale of
pharmaceutical products;

We have set up a professional procurement team to manage the quality of
suppliers’ products, logistics and returns and replacements. By entering into the
agreements with suppliers, we ensure the compliance of the supply chain.
RERERBE HEERBERENF *A%‘Fﬁu%ﬁﬁﬂ*ééﬁ MHEXERE
m‘ﬂ* CRE KRABRBHRENMRERSTAET BEERALHNERERER
DHBIERHEERNHER:

RYLEXNERBEE AREEHERNEREE DANERE BBRHMRE
BRI ek RIS BB AR -

Prior to warehousing, we inspect the medicines against the accompanying bill of
lading (ticket) and the purchase records in terms of their general name, dosage
form, specification, manufacturer, supply unit, quantity, price and purchasing date,
so as to make sure that the ticket, account and goods are in line with each other.
We also strictly inspect the way of transportation, the temperature record of the
transport process, and delivery time.

EmAER - HREERTTE (F) MERELSEAEMERE - M\J*'J AR EETRR
HEEN HE BN BEERSATRHER IR K BAT LHER
AR RERBENRERE  ERFREETERERRE
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Product and service quality and safety management measures adopted for each operation stage of specialty

pharmacy business

REEEXBZAEERRHERRRBEEZRZEENER

Storage

B

Sales and delivery

HERZM

For products stored in our warehouse, we periodically conduct quality
maintenance, inspection and management, and monitor the storage conditions to
ensure compliance;

We have set up temperature-controlled warehouses to maintain suitable storage
conditions to ensure the quality and safety of our pharmaceutical products;

Certain specialty medicines are stored separately in safe and controlled settings
and managed by professionally trained personnel.
HNREFERERNER THETHEHE REREE WEERFGRMHA
HRER

RIDRERE @ EABEEREE RT 2 NREFGRMG:
AETHBEEMBBTIRAETERIENREDT TAXBERZINABETE
We will inspect and ensure the quality of the products to be delivered prior to
delivery from the warehouses or specialty pharmacies;

We will confirm the selection of medicines with customers at the time of delivery;
We have set up after-sales specialists to take charge of after-sales quality
complaints and take effective measures to resolve the complaints properly.
ERBESIFEEREZEE A RETHRRBINERNES

ERMNEME  BEFERAEMOER:

REEREEAEEREERF LIRIA BB Z Z R
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3.2 Customer Services

The Group has always adhered to consumer orientation and
regarded consumers as crucial stakeholders in the process of
sustainable development. Through a series of measures that
focus on consumer service experience, we spare no effort to
continuously optimise our consumer service system, upgrade
our consumption scenarios and experiences in an innovative
way, so as to protect the rights and interests of consumers, and
keep providing them with secure, quality and efficient healthcare
products and services.

Specialty Pharmacy Services

The Group oversees and manages pharmacists in strict
accordance with the Administrative Measures for the Registration
of Licensed Pharmacists, in order to ensure the compliance of
the operations of specialty pharmacies, continuously improve
the consultation service capability of pharmacists and optimise
the medicine purchase experience of patients. We have
adopted stringent hiring procedures for pharmacists working
in our specialty pharmacies, which involve in-person interviews
and assessments of technical knowledge. We also require our
in-house pharmacists to receive regular training on relevant
safety and compliance policies, standards, programmes and
procedures, and conduct acceptance and evaluation of the
training effectiveness to ensure that in-house pharmacists
maintain the ability to offer quality services. In addition, we have
a rigorous prescription verification system in place, and a dual
pharmacist performs review procedures to avoid and manage the
risks associated with provision of prescription medicines, ensuring
that all prescriptions are compliant, standardised and appropriate.

R HERERBE

3.2 EFIRK
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Development of Specialty Pharmacy Service System

REHERBEBRER

Supply of Medicines
EotE

Pharmaceutical Services

HERK

Establishing QIANG system to
realise the full-process
informatization management from

delivery and receipt.

B -

Providing full-chain services
including patient documentation,
medication follow-up visits, and
order receiving, review, packaging, | patient education after purchasing
medicines.

BYQIANGRSERMNES - B | RUBEEBERNEERE  &F
TR - B Bl RiERERML | A BEBENZRIGRY -
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The Group is eager to innovate and actively enhances the
efficiency of its pharmacy business. During the Reporting Period,
two new systems, namely the QIANG system and the NIU
system, were mainly established for the pharmacy business As for
the QIANG system, it is mainly applied for the daily management
of sales orders in pharmacies by systematically standardising the
operation of the whole process for order flow and conducting
statistical analysis of data generated from each steps, so as to
enhance the efficiency of the ordering operation of our stores. In
respect of NIU system, it is mainly applied for the operation and
management of the pharmacies through the collation and analysis
of data to provide operators with various sales and operational
indicators for references, so as to provide data basis for operating
decision.

We continuously provide more convenient and comprehensive
services for our patients by offering quality medications, rich
pharmacist experience, and comprehensive medication selection
and effective medication management. In response to patient
complaints about products or services, we provide an after-sales
service hotline as the main communication channel, and will
designate a dedicated customer service team to receive and
follow up on complaints when necessary. We handle customer
complaints and related drug inquiries in accordance with our
internal procedures, while our stores handle complaints in
accordance with the SOP for Handling Customer Complaints
of MEDOFFERX. In the meantime, a customer comment book
is available for us to actively collect feedback from patients
on our services or products, so as to urge us to continuously
improve our products and services. In response to patients’
demand for product returns and replacements, our stores have
a corresponding process and system requirements in place for
handling returns and replacements, which are generally carried
out in accordance with the quality of the product, storage time
and the supplier policy. All matters are carried out in accordance
with the Purchase and Return Procedure of Medicines, provided
compliance with regulations on quality management of medicines.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
complaints about its products and services.
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Physician Research Assistance

The Group provides SMO' services to pharmaceutical companies
and medical institutions in strict compliance with the Good
Practice for Clinical Trials of Medicines, so as to manage clinical
trials and facilitate drug research and development activities. The
Group has adopted standards of practices that cover all important
steps in the SMO service process and established a quality
assurance system to monitor and enforce quality standards, so
as to ensure the quality of SMO services. Moreover, we have
established a comprehensive internal training system to ensure
that our CRC® team gets familiar with international and domestic
regulatory requirements and industry knowledge, and strictly
follow standard trial protocol. In the future, we will leverage our
medical expertise and data insights in oncology and other critical
diseases to assist pharmaceutical companies in clinical trial site
selection and participant enrollment through our SMO services,
with a view to promoting drug research and development and
commercialisation.

Health Insurance Services

The Group strictly follows the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Measures for the Regulation of Internet Insurance
Business to provide its members with access to a network of
medical institutions and physicians and a comprehensive range
of medical and health management services. We also work with
major insurers to customise exclusive insurance products for our
members, such as “Hui Min Insurance” (literally, benefiting-people
insurance), our first insurance plan that was launched in 2019,
and “Jian Kang Bao” (literally, health insurance) that provides more
comprehensive protection for employers and their employees.

B HEREAEE

BAME
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SMO stands for site management organization, an organization that provides clinical trial-related services to pharmaceutical companies,
medical device companies and certain health-related products, and has adequate infrastructure and staff to meet the requirements of the
clinical trial protocol.

ERGERAER MREQNT) BEIMA T RIS R FAAMEE RS GRATABRAERAABREBERBOKE ZRBEEFTESHE
KABRTRERKNFTREMRERAS -

CRC stands for clinical research coordinator, a person responsible for conducting non-clinical work under the guidance of, and as an
assistant to, a principal investigator in clinical trials.

BERAMEHRAE ERAARTEEEIEZMAENEE TER T ETEERKIIENAL.
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Aiming to ensure the quality of Health Insurance Services, the
Group rigorously screens out healthcare providers by taking
into account a variety of factors, including their reputation and
qualifications, expertise and experience, service quality and
capability, availability, and their equipment and facilities. We require
them to hold the necessary licences, comply with relevant laws
and regulations, and follow our service guide. We also carefully
monitor feedback from our members on the services provided by
these healthcare providers, and take that into consideration when
determining our continued cooperation with them. In addition, we
require all physicians in the Health Insurance Services network
to have qualifications and licences and to strictly adhere to the
work scope and quality requirements specified in their service
agreements.

The Group’s advanced data insights and actuarial capabilities will
contribute to continuous expansion of its network of healthcare
providers. Through connecting more hospitals, physicians
and medical examination institutions, along with our Specialty
Pharmacy Business, we are able to provide trusted, quality
health and disease management services to more patients and
members.

Responsible Marketing

The Group operates our businesses based on the principle of
integrity and strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Interim Administrative Measures for Censorship of
Advertisements for Drugs, Medical Devices, Dietary Supplements
and Formula Foods for Special Medical Purpose, and the
Provisions on Administration of Instructions and Labels of
Medicines, to ensure marketing compliance and brand integrity.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023

3.3

REREERERBENEE  NEEIL
BENEL BXMIMER REE
EMe - ATAMURERBRIESZ
BEZRSERIKE  BRIE6EBERS
HEE LM ERERRGHERE LA
FAVENRR ETHEBEERER
AR B E T IR R 2R - R AITRE R
EReRUZFTERERBHEEMEMH
RENRE YERERBEBESIER
FERERBS INIAE B o RO BB KA
BRERRREECHELFAER R
IR 0 B WA BAR 8 T RIS W A
RENTIEHEMBEEE K

AEBTENBIBRAR D BEEREE
NAEBRFERAR IR B RRIZ R
BEK- REBREEZNER BENU
KEmeE ERR R R M
EARESNEREME BERHA R
= EEREMKREE RS-

BEEEH

AREBARELEZBRA - BREST (F
EARKMBEESE) (Fm BRR
wmRERR FRESAEETRM
BEEEEERETIE M (EmH A
ENSRHEERTE) SHEBAERER
HREHARMEEEREAIEE -



3.4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group keeps the marketing strategy for our services and
products under strict control. All advertising content, copy and
other marketing materials posted online must be reviewed by
our Legal Affairs and Risk Control Department and submitted
to the relevant government authorities for review. The Group
expressly prohibits advertising prescription drugs on the website
that it operates and must ensure that any promotion of medical
treatment, drugs or medical devices does not include any
statement or guarantee as to the efficacy, safety or curative
rate. It ensures that scientific and accurate drug and treatment
information is communicated to consumers or potential
consumers.

To attract Health Insurance Services customers, the Group
gave full play to its advantages to provide high-quality product
and service and carry out honest and reliable marketing and
promotion, and established and maintained cooperative
relationships with local governments, so that our Hui Min
Insurance products obtained their recognition, and thus we can
offer reliable comprehensive health insurance services to our
target customers.

Information Security

Consumer privacy protection and data security are of paramount
importance to the Group. The Group strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations such as the Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Cyber
security Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Data
Security Law of the People’s Republic of China and strictly
implements the Group’s general data security and confidentiality
system and the internally formulated data security management
process. At the same time, we also enhance the ability in
protection and security of data privacy through various technical
means and comprehensive data security measures.

The Group sticks to the principle of data security and ensures
consumer privacy and data security. Prior to the initial collection
of medical data from patients and plan members of Specialty
Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance Services Business,
we invite them to complete consent forms, application forms
or agreements to obtain their prior consent. Our data use and
privacy policy is available to each consumer through our website
and WeChat public account.
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We undertake to use data of patients and plan members in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations and to put in
place a sound internal control system to prevent the transfer
of personal data to any third party without authorization. In the
process of storing and managing medical data of patients and
plan members, we isolate our internal database and operating
system from external services to ensure data security, and also
encrypt data transmissions using tight security protocols to
ensure confidentiality. From the perspective of data security of
the Group and in accordance with the requirements of pharmacy
system, consumer privacy data masking shall be applied to the
staff at all levels available to such data.

Personnel

awareness .
and skills Third party
improvement B—F
BEH imeg
55T Zrpan

In addition to strengthening our internal technology and data
infrastructure, we also engage a third-party cybersecurity
company to conduct regular penetration tests to identify
weaknesses in the system and assess its security in a timely
manner. We will take immediate steps to upgrade the system
once problems are identified in order to mitigate any potential
problems that may compromise the security of the system.

In order to enhance the awareness of data security prevention,
we have developed a detailed plan for operation and maintenance
of management, monitoring and warning mechanisms, data
security management and disaster recovery. The database can
only be accessed by authorised personnel after assessment
and approval procedures, whose actions will be recorded and
monitored closely. We provide ongoing data privacy training to
authorised personnel to continually enhance their data security
awareness and skills, and require them to report any information
security vulnerability in a timely manner. In addition, employees
are required to sign relevant confidentiality agreements upon entry,
and internal departments will strengthen employees’ awareness
of data security and information protection at regular meetings.
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3.5 Intellectual Property

The Group places a high value on intellectual property and
recognises that trademarks, copyrights, domain names,
technologies and databases are particularly critical to its success.
We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
including the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China, the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and meet the requirements
regarding intellectual property rights in the Intellectual Property
Management Work and Process of Sipai, in a bid to ensure
that we protect our own intellectual property rights while fully
respecting the intellectual property rights of others.

We implement and continuously optimise our internal work
processes and procedures related to intellectual property
protection. Employees must search for relevant intellectual
property in accordance with the Group’s requirements and
strictly abide by applicable laws and regulations. Moreover,
we file trademarks and copyrights with the relevant authorities
and periodically monitor third-party actions to strengthen our
intellectual property protection. We protect our technologies
by entering into confidentiality agreements with our business
partners, and incorporate the maintenance of physical security of
our premises and physical and electronic security of information
technology systems as part of intellectual property protection
strategy.

OUR GOVERNANCE
Risk Internal Control and Compliance Management

The Group’s risk management and internal control policies and
procedures cover five aspects of business operations: service
quality and safety, product quality and safety, operational risk
management, human resources risk management, and regulatory
compliance and legal risk management, with a corresponding risk
management protection mechanism or measure in each aspect.
We keep improving our policies and procedures in accordance
with changes in external policies and regulatory trends, the
industry market environment and our own business development
to reduce the impact of potential risks on our operations and
achieve steady and sound development through scientific and
rigorous risk management.
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Risk management mechanisms and measures in business operation
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Service quality and safety

Product quality and safety
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Operational risk management

RIERR E R

Human resources risk management

ANEIRR R E 2

Regulatory compliance and

legal risk management

EEARNARRREIE

Identifying risks that may arise in the operation of each of the three major
business segments (i.e. Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research
Assistance and Health Insurance Services), and adopting and implementing
various measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk management
procedures

BRI = RRSIRGE (B BE 84 5 5 75 - B A R 1% B A R BRI IR ) 0
ELBRRETHAEERR KALBERSZEEE BREAREIEREFABCE
1E

Controlling risks at all levels to ensure the quality and safety of products sold in
specialty pharmacies, covering strict selection of pharmaceutical manufacturers
and distributors, logistics and transportation, product inspection, warehousing,
and sales and delivery

FEHURBEEFHENEREERLY REBERER RO HENK
BEE - VMRER Exmieh ERLHEHEXINMERE BELERR
REEMEEREZS

Developing internal procedures for management of financial-related risks arising
from inadequate or defective internal processes, employee errors, [T system
failures or external events

HEABRIEN T TEHERIE B TRR EERRRGHRERINBEMH
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The internal control and auditing department develops a code of conduct and
conducts unregular training to address and manage possible human resources
risks, aiming to tackle bribery and corruption risks

s RERRE  AEEHEEHET R AT HRAREIIE
HEEBAIREHIROHANEIRER

Seeking effective compliance and legal risk management for all aspects of
business operations and employee activities, and establishing an internal
accountability system
HEXBELRELEHNZEAFTERREINERIEERRER I
ERZANHEESIE
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The Group formulated the Internal Audit Management Provisions AEEEREBEEINEBERMER B
in accordance with its own business and strategic goals to EHE (AHBEAEERE) KHIE
enhance the effectiveness of risk management and internal EmiEmRRERNABILHRANE
control systems at the system level. The risk management MM B ERMIERTE = ERERMEER
process consists of three main stages, namely risk assessment, [ Bx B Ak~ R B o0 AT LA J% JRL B RE T o B
risk analysis, and risk response. We follow this process to IR AR R T AR IR S 18 8
systematically assess and handle various risks in our operations, LR ERRNIES AR E R
which provides an important foundation for internal audit planning WEZER LR MNERRRER
and risk management, and enhances our risk management gET] o

capabilities.

[B fe T (L
Risk
assessment

JeE\ B Bz 0 A
Risk Risk
response analysis

[EfR E IR AR
Risk management process
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4.2 Supply Chain Management 42 HEEERE

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Regulation on the Implementation of the Bidding Law of the
People’s Republic of China, to ensure compliance in procurement
activities. We strive to build an efficient supply chain embracing
social responsibility and continuously convey the concept of
sustainable development to its suppliers to achieve win-win
development. In order to promote an efficient and fair supply
chain management, the Group has set up a medicine supply

chain management team:

B e B 12 X
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BIE) R AR EARKAMBEBRRE
EEMRD) FHEEERERERRE
RBAEAR - RMABNIREES A
At esIRNHERER HER
HEBERAIRERRES NWERE
MERNBR REFEIRRARF
NIERHERER NEBRY HEmft
JFE 8 3B [ K-

Medicine supply chain management team

Development of working process
and continuous optimization
program for product management
HmE B TERREGIE
MFBERLEAR

Product procurement orientation
training and store inspection
R TR BRI
B EmE

Coordination of product
allocation across the country
and synchronization of national
business and management policies
RN GREEC YN
EMRERER ST

Spot checks on maintenance of
product information system data

Evaluation and promotion of
product-related projects, evaluation
of overall new product policy and
evaluation of product activities

BmiERRGRIBERENTHE 7 an A6 B O 2R B RF (S &
R R BB MR
ME ARG

National product and supplier
data analysis and reports
generation on a regular basis
2 B o S R R 0
W 7 HAFZ B Rk

The Group has formulated the Store Supplier Information Creation
and Maintenance Process for the procurement related to our
principal businesses, i.e. medicines, devices and health food, and
established a dedicated team to manage the quality of suppliers’
products, logistic, returns of goods and so forth, in order to
standardise the selection criteria for suppliers and identify and
reduce the environmental and social risks that may arise in the
procurement process.
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The Group selects suppliers in a strict manner. It conducts
background checks on suppliers from their qualifications, brands
and reliability before entering into any agreement, examines their
business licences and the relevant licences and certificates of the
products they provide, and investigates the market acceptance
of their products in the industry to ensure effective supplier
selection management. In addition, the Group regularly conducts
comprehensive assessments on suppliers that have entered
the Group’s management system to give timely feedback on
problems and urge them to make improvements to their products
and services. Once suppliers cooperating with the Group are
found to have violated laws and regulations, the Group will
immediately terminate their procurement and supply relationship
to minimise the environmental and social risks that may occur in
the supply chain.

Base on the progress of the business, the Group’s designated
business staff will provide timely feedback on the suppliers’
delivery efficiency and packaging quality, and request the
suppliers to actively take corrective measures on the existing
problems. Interactions between the Group and suppliers take
place on a regular or occasional basis in the stores’ business
units. Regular interactions generally refer to matters such as
monthly reconciliations between stores and suppliers, while
occasional interactions refer to corresponding business meetings
randomly attended by stores to strength the management over
suppliers.

With regard to non-operating purchases, including but not limited
to administrative products, engineering products, equipment
and facilities, outsourcing services, professional services and
human resources services, the Group carries out such purchases
in strict accordance with its internal systems and management
processes. We actively practice green procurement by prioritizing
the purchase of low-carbon and environmentally-friendly
products, such as biodegradable and recyclable plastic bags and
cold chain insulated containers. We periodically verify the quality
of eco-friendly products or services provided by our suppliers to
promote their active use of eco-friendly and green products and
services.

During the Reporting Period, all suppliers of the stores provided
products or services in accordance with the established systems
and processes.
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4.3 Integrity Management

124

The Group operates its businesses in good faith and in
compliance with legal standards. It recognises that fraud,
commercial bribery, fraud and other misconduct may expose us
to financial loss and severe sanctions by government or regulatory
authorities, and seriously damage the Group’s reputation. So we
are firmly opposed to bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering
and other unlawful acts. On the basis of strict compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations, including the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Interim Regulations on Prohibition of Commercial Bribery,
the Group designs and implements strict internal procedures on
anti-fraud and anti-commercial bribery, so as to ensure that our
business operations comply with the relevant laws and rules.
The internal control and audit department and the legal and risk
control department exercise supervision and have established
internal rules and measures against corrupt and fraudulent
activities, in a bid to effectively manage compliance and legal
risks.

In terms of anti-bribery, the Group has set up the Whistle-blowing
Management System for Sipai Health Technology which is
applicable to all personnel of the Company, and encourages
employees to report fraud that has violated or will violate the
Company’s legitimate rights and interests, such as properties
and reputation, and public interests, or acts violating the
Company’s rules and systems or national laws and regulations
which have or will have material impact. The internal control and
audit department, the legal and risk control department and the
management team of each business line are responsible for the
day-to-day implementation of anti-bribery measures, reviewing
and evaluating the anti-bribery measures of each department,
reviewing complaints and reports from internal and external
sources, conducting investigations and implementing corrective
measures accordingly. The day-to-day implementation of these
measures and any specific events will be reported to senior
management on a regular basis. In terms of capital activities,
Capital Management System for Sipai Health Technology and
corresponding system control regulating capital activities have
been set up.
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In the course of our day-to-day operations, we have put in place
a stringent authorization system and a cross-checking mechanism
to control different types of risks and conduct mutual checks.
In terms of compliance operations, business segments and
functional departments have established systems and regulations
covering their respective core businesses, and different business
segments have their own self-developed business systems to
ensure the smooth conduct of business through systematic
control. In the process of system establishment, the internal
control and audit department assists the business divisions to
improve and optimize their internal control systems, and audits
the completeness, reasonableness and risk controllability of the
systems. By regular internal audits, we also review and assess
operational compliance in different areas and report to the
management and organize corrective actions, and establish an
accountability system for staff violations of laws, regulations and
internal policies.

In terms of integrity operations, the internal control and audit
department conducts internal control training on a regular basis,
adjusts the training content for different training audiences,
specifies the rules and regulations and management principles
that need to be complied with, and displays the reporting channel
and the content of the report. In the event that an employee
receives a gift from an external partner, we have set up the
Management Regulations on the Handing Over of Gifts for Sipai
Health Technology to provide guidelines for such cases.

The Group communicates with all relevant stakeholders,
including customers and suppliers, in relation to our compliance
measures and code of professional ethics. With anti-corruption
and anti-bribery clauses in a majority of our existing business
contracts, we require our suppliers and other third parties who
cooperate with us to comply with relevant laws and regulations.
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The Group provides specialised and regular training based
on the needs of employees in different departments and
anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies. With anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies as focus, the training aims to strengthen
employees’ compliance with internal policies and external laws
and regulations in their day-to-day work, ensuring that employees
have a thorough understanding of risk prevention measures
and laws and regulations concerning such matters. The Group
organises online and offline training courses from time to time
taught by senior employees or external consultants for such
trainings. In 2023, the Group’s anti-corruption training included
the compliance requirements of various regulations and systems
and management principles, regular auditing mechanism of
all kinds of non-compliance, whistle-blowing mechanism and
process of corruption and fraud, etc.

pIaBIE LR

REBEE S AEEFIE THOFKERE
REBRERESHE REEFMMEH
F 5 51 o 35 1l DA B2 Bl B A B BRI
B WMREIEZE 7@ ENER
PrEEEAERER  EENMBET
£ B TR SRR BRMINDERE
RET AEBTEHR/ERETA
BREAMBRTEIRE THSRET
gk SN ER B S 3 17 5% L 35 7l  20234F - AR
SENRESEIANTEE  FRRE
HIE AR EERAIMESTER FEL
BRITANEREHS  BISMEK
1B 2R S il N B B AR 5

Sipai leader development camp —
special training on internal control
BIRAEAKRE —AEEBEEI

Moreover, the employee handbook and code of conduct
developed by the Group contain professional ethics, fraud
prevention mechanism, internal rules and guidance on negligence
and corruption and have been distributed to all employees. We
also regularly devote resources to organise training courses to
ensure that our employees fully understand the content of the
handbook and code of conduct. The Group was not implicated in
any concluded proceedings regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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OUR EMPLOYEES

Talents are the core competitiveness of development. The
realization and enhancement of employee value are conducive to
achieving the overall goals of the Group. The Group continues to
promote the construction of a talent management system, hire
employees in accordance with laws and regulations, establish a
comprehensive employee training and promotion system, and
create a platform for employees to improve their self-fulfillment,
so as to effectively protect their rights, care for their physical
and mental health, and achieve a mutual development between
employees and the Group.

Employment Management

The Group strictly complies with national laws and regulations,
including the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Interim Regulations on the Collection and Payment of Social
Insurance Premiums and the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour. Meanwhile, the Group has formulated
the Employee Handbook and the Performance Management
Provisions internally to standardise the structure of compensation,
benefits system, code of conduct and professional ethics. In
addition, it provides equal opportunities for employees, creates an
ideal working environment and strives to realise the diversification
of the talent team.

Employment and Retaining Talents

The Group follows the principles of “openness, equality,
competition, and merit” and does not discriminate against
employees and applicants due to gender, race, age, religious
beliefs, and other factors. The Group actively promotes diversity
in the workforce and encourages the employment of employees
from all backgrounds. We believe that diversity and inclusivity are
essential components of sustainable development for the Group.
Diversified employees will bring different values to the Group to
enhance team flexibility, creativity, and innovation.
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The Group strictly follows the recruitment process and policy
to ensure that there is no discriminatory during the recruitment.
We encourage diversity among employees, respect their rights
and personal backgrounds, and ensure that employees are
not restricted by physical disabilities. As long as they meet job
requirements, they can be hired. Based on the actual business
needs, the Group will further improve the employment process
and execution effectiveness, ensure the quality of recruitment
through external and internal systematic recruitment and
management processes, and select qualified and outstanding
talents. Applicants under the age of 16 will not be accepted. Once
it is found that minors under the age of 16 are being used or
there is forced labor, we will arrange for the relevant departments
to conduct timely investigations and deal with them in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations. The Group provides objective
and fair promotion opportunities for outstanding employees
by establishing clear performance appraisal procedures and
evaluation criteria, upholding the principles of fairness, openness
and equity, and based on a cyclical performance management
and communication mechanism.

During induction, the Group follows the principles of voluntary
and equal participation in signing labour contracts with new
employees to effectively protect the legal rights and interests of
the two parties, and to avoid the occurrence of forced labor. The
Group and its employees shall terminate the labour contract in
accordance with laws and the agreement of both parties. Any
party who decides to terminate or dissolve the labour relationship
is required to notify the other party in accordance with the laws
and regulations or the relevant agreement signed by the two
parties.
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Employee Benefits

We are committed to providing employees with good
remuneration package and benefits, reasonable working hours
and sufficient vacation time, to ensure a healthy work-life balance.
We continuously improve and evaluate remuneration and benefits
system to ensure consistency with best practices and industry
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Compensation and
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The Group offers competitive compensation and benefits packages, with
corresponding bonus incentives based on periodic performance appraisal. In
addition to the basic five major social insurance programs and housing provident
fund, the Group also provides employees with benefits and protection such as
accident insurance and supplementary health insurance.
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Employees are entitled to all statutory public holidays in accordance with national
regulations, and to annual leave, sick leave and other holidays in accordance with
the Group’s system. The Group does not encourage employees to work overtime
in order to protect their health. Employees who need to extend working hours
for work reasons need to apply in writing in advance, which shall be approved
by the department head. The actual overtime shall be submitted to the human
resources centre for record.
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Employee Care

To enhance the cohesion of employees, the Group regularly
organizes employee activities to promote communication and
exchange among employees. During the Reporting Period,
we held various activities, including employee health lectures,
holiday celebrations, team dinners and sports. These activities
not only provide employees with opportunities for relaxation and
entertainment, but also strengthen teamwork and interaction
among employees, creating a positive working atmosphere.
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5.2
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Employee Communication

We attach great importance to employee communication and are
committed to establishing an open, transparent, and interactive
communication environment. We believe that good employee
communication is the key of teamwork, work efficiency, and
employee satisfaction. In order to facilitate communication, we
have adopted various methods and channels, such as WeCom,
email, face-to-face communication with employees, and regular
team communication mechanisms with management. In addition,
the Group held about 10 face-to-face communication meetings
with employees during the year.

Occupational Safety and Health

The Group cares about the occupational safety and health of its
employees. We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
the Emergency Response Law of the People’s Republic of China,
and are committed to creating a safe and comfortable working
environment. We have formulated the Employee Handbook to
strengthen our employees’ ability to maintain personal health
and safety, respond to fire safety, and prevent emergencies. We
also actively carry out health activities to advocate a balanced
development between work and life for our employees.
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Aiming to create a healthy and energetic working environment, we
have carried out a series of “Pai Sports” activities both online and
offline, including the online sports and a running check-in event
held in May, providing diverse guidance for employees to cultivate
healthy life and working styles. The Group will continue to pay
attention to the occupational safety and health of employees,
continuously improve and perfect relevant policies and activities.
We will continue to strengthen the safety awareness and ability
cultivation of employees, provide them with a safe, healthy,
and comfortable working environment, and achieve a mutual
development between employees and the Group.
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In order to actively respond to and cooperate with the state and
government departments to deal with emergencies, we conduct
emergency drills to improve the emergency response ability of
employees in the emergencies, with a view to minimising and
avoiding the impact of emergencies on the day-to-day operations
and the lives and properties of employees and customers. We
conduct safety publicity and elevator rescue drills from time to
time and cooperate with the property management companies
to launch drills on fire training, safety evacuation and firefighting
gear usage to enhance the fire safety awareness of employees.
All workplaces of the Group meet the national requirements of fire
control acceptance.

Elevator rescue dril
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Fire safety knowledge training
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First aid drill
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Fire drill
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The Group has diligently focused on emergency evacuation
procedures, ensuring the safe evacuation of both staff and
visitors. On one hand, we have developed various contingency
plans for workplace emergencies, including contingency plans
for power failure and emergency evacuation contingency plans
for outbreaks of fire. On other hand, we have also formulated
Exit Signage and Escape and Evacuation Plans, which precisely
delineate emergency exits, safe passages, and evacuation routes,
facilitating prompt identification of evacuation routes for staff and
visitors. An emergency evacuation communication mechanism
has been established and key locations have been equipped with
emergency evacuation alert devices, such as emergency alarm
buttons and broadcasting systems at critical locations. These
tools enable the prompt dissemination of evacuation instructions
and related emergency information to staff in a timely manner.
The Group continuously improves its emergency evacuation
procedures by conducting regularly reviews and updates of
Exit Signage and Escape and Evacuation Plans. Additionally, it
collaborates with relevant departments to continuously evaluate
and improve the contingency plans for workplace emergencies.
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5.3
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The Group has prepared small medicine kits to offer basic
first aid services in the event of an emergency. These kits
usually contain commonly used first-aid medicines and medical
supplies including antiseptic pads, band-aids, adhesive plasters,
tourniquets, painkillers, etc. The kits are intended to offer initial
first aid in emergencies to safeguard the health and safety of staff
and visitors. We conduct regularly checks and replenishments
of medicines and supplies in the dispensary to ensure their
completeness and effectiveness. We also encourage our staff
to undergo first aid training to enhance their ability and skills in
responding to emergencies.
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Provision of basic first aid supplies in small medicine kits in office areas
ERASBERE DERIEHEAZKN AR

Training and Development

The Group has formulated the Implementation Plan for
Onboarding of New Employees, which aims to facilitate the
rapid integration of new staff into the Company and familiarize
them with the organization’s operation. This Plan covers several
modules, such as company profile, organisational structure,
administration, finance, HR-related internal processes and
information, and business etiquette. Regular offline training
sessions are conducted to encourage new employees to integrate
into the team, understand the corporate culture, and acquaint
themselves with the basic processes and daily management
rules and regulations This helps them to adapt to the Company
environment and perform their work more earlier. We also evaluate
and control the result of training to continuously improve and
optimise the training system through training assessment, training
summary and feedback, and course satisfaction questionnaires.
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The Group provides professional business training to its
employees and encourages them to undertake suitable training
classes based on their business attributes and career plans. The
training covers fostering the awareness of quality responsibility,
cultivating efficient CRC habits, enhancing leadership and others.
It provides employees with necessary know-how and skills and
emphasises the development of new staff’s teamwork awareness,
communication skills, and leadership ability. We have set up
weekly assignments and examinations for the trainees to assess
their learning outcomes and mastery.

Through our sound internal training system, the Group has
ensured that the CRC team is familiar with international and
national regulatory requirements and industry know-how and
strict adherence to standard trial protocols. A mature project
management system is in place to oversee the execution of
our projects and guarantee our quality service. Employees of
relevant specialty pharmacies are required to master professional
quality management methods and procedures to ensure the
standardisation of Specialty Pharmacy Business. The Group
is committed to enhancing its staff’s professionalism and work
quality through various training programs. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s total training hours amounted to 19,162.6
hours, with an average training hours of 6.19 hours per employee.

“Critical Habits for Effective CRC” Course
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“Quality First: Awareness of
Quiality Responsibility” Course
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6.1

OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group’s operations do not involve any production activities
and production facilities resulting in no significant environmental
issues. Our environmental impact primarily stems from resources
and energy use in office and pharmacy operations as well as the
domestic and office waste generated.

The Group attaches importance to environmental protection
and strict compliance with laws and regulations, including
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Renewable Energy Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and the Circular Economy Promotion Law of the People’s
Republic of China. Additionally, we adhere to relevant regulations
and implement effective measures to regulate energy use,
reducing emissions of greenhouse gases, sewage, and waste.
This approach helps minimize our impact on the environment.

Green Office

The Group has been actively engaged in energy conservation
and emission reduction activities and has strictly adhered to our
internal rules, including the Green Office Management Standards,
the Civilisation Convention for Office Spaces of Sipai, and the
Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection Initiative
We have also actively developed emission management plans
to reduce energy and resource consumption in our offices and
operations, thereby reducing greenhouse gases emissions and
waste.
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We are committed to green office concepts, incorporating green HMEFHZeRL ES THEEEES
concepts into office location, design, and daily operation. We BAMAERI RAALKBEELE
actively promote energy conservation, emissions reduction, BRI A EEITE LR PENE
and cost-effective operation. In this regards, we have taken the PRGBS o Rl - BAMIEREN T LA T 8 48

following measures:

Energy use o
[ )
CENGRESE
[ )
Paper use o
[ ]
[ )
AR fE A .
[ )
[ )
Office design °
[ ]
[ ]
WAERE

Lighting fixtures and air conditioning should be actively turned off when not in use or needed.
If conditions permit, office lighting and air conditioning can be adjusted through the smart
control panel

Use heating and air conditioning systems reasonably to minimize energy consumption. Based
on the official recommendations, keeping winter room temperature not higher than 20 € and
the summer room temperature not lower than 24 . Reminder signs should be posted near
each temperature control panel

Selection of energy-saving lighting for replacement of energy-intensive lighting installations
RAKENZRAETMEAITFTERE ISR BIRGORAERABEZERAD
SEEARRMNERARSFURDERER - RIBEFTHBES  LET=RETE71020T ' B
ZEREMENR24T - BEIRIFE R BRI RIZ #

SR IRAA R B AR B RN e T

If possible, set the computer’s printing to double-sided printing

Reduce all unnecessary printing and use more emails and electronic files

Reception of guests advocates the use of reusable mugs, and the office is equipped with a
disinfection machine. Procuring disposable paper cups is discouraged
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Priority is given to locations closer to public transport

Use eco-friendly office furniture that meets national standards, with priority given to the use of
quality and up-to-standard old and second-hand furniture

Follow the principle of simple and eco-friendly decoration and optimise space planning to
seek natural ventilation and lighting
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6.2 Resource Management

138

Effective resource management not only can reduce operating
cost of the Group, but can decrease consumption of natural
resource. We attach great importance to the rational use of water
resources and packaging materials, and reduce the use of water
resources and packaging materials at the source.

Water Resources Management

The Group requires its employee to strictly comply with internal
management rules like the Green Office Management Standards,
the Civilisation Convention for Office Spaces of Sipai and the
Employee Handbook, and encourages employees to save water
in daily life and strive to implement recycling of part of water
resources as much as possible.

Packaging Materials Management

We regularly purchase biodegradable packaging bags and
reusable insulated containers for specialty pharmacies and carry
out standardized safety and environment inspection on packaging
materials. Adhering to the principles of reduction, light weight and
recycling, the Group minimizes its impact on the environment.
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6.3 Waste Management

The Group emphasizes the reduction of waste at source to
reduce the production of waste, followed by maintenance,
recycling and reuse to reduce purchases of new materials. The
Group’s office equipment and goods are subject to asset transfer
management system. The headquarter coordinates among stores
to transfer idle and reusable goods to stores in need, in order to
reduce waste and repurchase.

In strict compliance with local regulations, we conduct waste
classification or entrust qualified third parties to conduct
responsible waste collection and disposal. The waste generated
by the Group mainly comes from the daily operations of offices
and pharmacies, including non-hazardous wastes such as
household waste, food waste and office waste, and hazardous
wastes such as waste batteries, waste light tubes and waste ink
cartridges.

We actively reduce office waste at source by encouraging
employees to improve paper utilization during printing. We
designate recycling sites for printed paper and list tips on how to
use waste paper. For example, we place labelled boxes next to
printers for single-used and recycled papers, which can be used
to print informal documents.

In terms of hazardous waste, we strictly comply with relevant
regulations, including the Administrative Measures for the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Electronic
Waste and the Regulation on the Administration of the Recovery
and Disposal of Waste Electrical and Electronic Products. Our
relevant department collectively collects hazardous waste,
and cooperates with the recycling by property management
companies or entrusts professionally qualified organizations to
carry out waste collection and compliant disposal.

R HERERBE

6.3 ERYEE

7R 52 B 58 R IR SRORLREE - R BE Y
BERC HRR A - BB R - AR
DEM BRI - RE B D RED
BXETEEEBERGE $HEMER
EFBRNBY G a0 AR A F K
FIRERER BORERBEEBRE-

BAIBAR IR TDERETEY D AR E
RARNE=TETRETNEDEE
MERE ARBMEENEREYEER
BRAENNEENREES BRE
JEBL 3 B BRI IR M N B R S A
FoBEL BEELRERREAERE
zZM-

BT RS L A B R B
FRREITER ERRAE By 74T
B 46 1 M B - 3 )99 46 42 R 4R o
ST DI E B AR M A T UE
BE AR E R AR FBIETEEE
R f o

HHEEEEY RMIERER(ET
BRI AR EEIE) M (BE
ERBETEMOWEEEE KD F1E
BARE AEEEBIFAKHETER
M — TS YEAMEEE QT
ETEW HERZRE=ZSHAGBHEE
BEMRBEEEMETRENARE
He

Special recycling points for hazardous waste
REBFHREFIE YR

BIREEREERART —Z==FF% 139



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERWRSE

6.4
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Responses to Climate Change

The Group recognizes that extreme weather caused by climate
change will hinder normal operation of the Company and may
cause property loss. Therefore, the Group identified risks posed
by climate change and developed corresponding action plans to
minimize the impact brought by risks of climate change on the
Group.

The climate change risk faced by the Group can be categorised
as the risk of safety incidents (e.g. power leakage) due to extreme
weather events and the impact of restrictions on the operation
of physical businesses (e.g. water and electricity outages). In
order to prevent safety incidents caused by extreme weather, in
the event of extreme weather, administrative and procurement
department will closely collaborate with human resources centre
to negotiate and develop a commuting plan, which will be issued
by announcement. We will continuously improve our measures
to respond to extreme weather emergencies and enhance
our resilience to climate change, aiming to reduce business
interruptions caused by extreme weather.

To address the transition risks of climate change, we identify and
sort out risks in relation to environmental policies and regulatory
issues related to our business operations with the assistance
of external professional consultants, and pay close attention to
changes of the market, technologies and policies in the industry,
and focus on the statistics and calculation of environmental
performance data in resource consumption, waste and emission
generation to ensure that relevant performance satisfies policies
and regulatory requirement and prevent incompliance. We actively
pay attention to industrial market and change of new technology
to ensure that products and technology can meet market demand
and maintain competitive edge within the industry, therefore
relieving the market risk brought by shift of customer preference.

OUR COMMUNITY

The Group remains true to its original aspiration, fuffills its social
responsibilities and undertakes corporate obligations while
constantly growing and expanding, striving to continuously
improve the health of people. We integrate social welfare into
our development strategy. We give full play to its advantages in
the medical and health fields, and continuously benefit the public
through high-quality medical and health services and innovative
medical payment models, providing multi-dimensional protection
for people’s health, contributing to the healthy development of
the industry, and providing full support to achieve the goal of a
healthy China.
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7.1 Implementing Healthy China Strategy

With proactive implementation of the “Healthy China” strategy, the
Group is committed to improving quality and standard of medical
health services and promoting the improvement on national health
quality so as to propel the development of health industry, making
significant contribution to the establishment of a comprehensive,
multifaceted and nationwide health service system.

“Hui Min Insurance” creates a new model of
integration of social insurance and commercial
insurance

The Group has always adhered to its original mission of
“benefiting people” and has helped build a multi-level medical
security system by making innovation in its products and
services. We managed to launch “Hui Min Insurance”, a unique
city-specific commercial medical insurance, which has no limits
on health condition and age of participant. This project aims to
reduce people’s burden of medical expenses for serious illnesses
and solve the problem of poverty caused by illnesses and is an
important measure to further embody mutual assistance, promote
social equity and justice, and achieve common prosperity.
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Case: Cooperation to promote a Healthy China

Through a strategic cooperation with Roche Pharma China, the
Group has actively responded to the “Healthy China” strategy. The
Group and Roche Pharma China will fully utilize and combine their
respective advantages of layout of business, technical resources
and customers resources, and in the spirit of complementarity,
mutual benefit, win-win cooperation and friendly negotiation,
to reach a cooperation intention in pharmaceutical distribution
channels, innovative payment, physician-patient management,
out-of-hospital data and real-world research, etc., and to realize
a wide range of in-depth cooperation. The Group and Roche
Pharma China will make efficient use of the Group’s national-wide
professional specialty pharmacy business and high-standard drug
delivery team to further enhance the accessibility of medication
and services for patients with oncology and other special
diseases, and to increase the benefits for patients. At the same
time, both parties will explore diversified and innovative payment
methods, to enhance the accessibility of innovative medicines
to patients through Hui Min Insurance, as supplement to the
national basic medical insurance, so as to help patients access
and afford innovative medicines from multiple dimensions. In the
future, the Group will work together with its partners to promote
the accessibility and affordability of innovative medicines through
its powerful technology platform and data-enabled operational
capabilities, to promote the improvement of patients’ health and
quality of life, and to help China’s healthcare industry flourish.
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Case: Innovative collaboration to boost medical development

At GILEAD’s “Oncology Specialized Collaboration Development
Forum (BB ER S EZE®RIE) ", the Group reached a
strategic cooperation consensus with GILEAD and launched
comprehensive cooperation in the areas of drug accessibility,
complete patient care management, academic research, and
innovative payment methods. Both parties are jointly exploring
new models of healthcare service collaboration to build a
cooperative mechanism among patients, doctors, medical
institutions, pharmaceutical companies, and payment providers to
meet the needs of a wide range of doctors and patients.
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7.2
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Actively Fulfilling Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group has fulfiled its social responsibilities and obligations
through efforts such as providing high-quality medical
services, actively participating in sustainable development and
environmental protection initiatives, supporting social welfare
causes, and caring for employee rights and benefits. These efforts
have been highly recognized by the industry and the general
public.

Case: Won the Most Influential Brand of the Year
At the 2023 Honour Awards nominations, the Group won the
“Most Influential Brand of the Year”. This honor fully demonstrates

our outstanding performance in fulfiling social responsibilities, as
well as our extensive influence across the industry and society.
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Case: Won the ESG Exemplary Company KW LHEESG HE 1%

In 2023, the “2023 Second International Green Zero Carbon 2023F B R BT T HELRBA HAR
Festival and 2023 ESG Leadership Summit” jointly organized N B A B A4 4R B S [R] 3 I Y [202358
by syobserve.com, gongyidaily.com, and domestic financial — [EBIRR 4% 2 T Bk £ B2023ESG B M &
media was held in Beijing. Through our continued efforts and ® | - EESGEFMFES HFHBT -
effectiveness in the ESG field, the Group won the “2023 ESG REBES T [2023 ESGHEPDEE| -
Exemplary Company”, a significant recognition from the industry ERFEANMTGRRERMEATFER
and the general public for our commitment to sustainable B RERENMMSETHFENSES
development, environmental protection, and social responsibility. JE °
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7.3 Driving Technological Development in the Industry

The Group has demonstrated outstanding product
competitiveness and innovative service capabilities in the medical
service sector, proving its leading position in the biotechnology
field in Greater Bay Area and its proactive contributions to industry
development. Our innovation capabilities and leading position
will guide the industry in leveraging innovative technologies to
enhance service quality and even national health standards,
playing a crucial role in driving industry development.

Case: Industry Innovation Exemplar

At the International Sci-Tech innovation Festival and the
International Digital Service Conference held by Sci-Tech
innovation Festival (STIF) and Digital Service Conference (DSC)
on December 15, 2023, the Group was awarded the “2023
Industry Innovation Model”. This award highly recognizes the
Company’s strong technological platform and its outstanding
technology-based operational prowess.
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Case: Won the Innovative Biotechnology Company in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Award

At the Greater Bay Area Innovative Biotechnology Summit on
December 28, 2023, the Group won the “Leading Company
(ZEE %) among the top 50 biotechnology companies in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. This award
highly recognizes our outstanding product competitiveness and
innovative service capabilities in the field of medical services.
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7.4 Excellent Performance Across Multiple Areas

The awards and honors received by the Group at various
industry events in 2023 not only demonstrate our outstanding
performance in areas such as service innovation, digital
innovation, and specialized pharmaceutical services but also
highlight our active contributions to social welfare initiatives. As
a company guided by the mission of “Serving the People and
Benefiting the People”, Sipai Health Technology is dedicated
to providing high-quality medical coverage and specialized
pharmaceutical services to the public while also advocating
for the health rights of disadvantaged groups and advancing
social welfare causes. These awards highlight the Company’s
prominent position in the medical service industry and emphasize
its proactive commitment to social responsibility and philanthropic
efforts.

2 54 AR
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the 23rd China Pharmacy
Store Summit Forum
2022-2023 China Pharmacy Store
Business Innovation Award
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8. ESG KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

8. ESGEAREN

R HERERBE

Environmental KPls IRIBEN
Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2023 Data
EEER EEE8 B 2023F & &
Sulphur oxides Kg 7.87 x10”
malty TR
Air pollutant emissions® Nitrogen oxides Kg 4.03
AR5 R° REY) T
Particulate matters Kg 0.34
FERLY) T
Direct greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, equivalent 12.79
(Scope 1)
ERAEREHRE (HE1)" WE—SE(LIRE S
Direct greenhouse gas emission intensity  Tonne of CO, equivalent 4.13x10°
(Scope 1)° per person
ERRERBEHERETE (BE1)° Mo iREE A
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, equivalent 1247.27
6
Greenhouse gas emissions (égpiﬁﬁﬁ R e e =
A SRS Indirect greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne of CO, equivalent 0.40
(Scope 2) per person
MEAERBHREE (HE2) Mo iREE A
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonne of CO, equivalent 1,260.06
RERBHERAS WE—SE(LIRE S
Total greenhouse gas emission intensity ~ Tonne of CO, equivalent 0.41

per person

BRERBHNATE WE—E(EmEE A

Air pollutant emissions only include emissions from the combustion of diesel in generators and petrol in vehicles of the Company.
The air pollutant emissions are calculated with reference to “Clean Air Charter — Business Guidebook” published by the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce and Hong Kong Business Coalition on the Environment, the Towngas Sustainability Report 2018 and
the Non-road Mobile Source Air Pollutant Emission Inventory Preparation Technical Guide (Trial) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the PRC.

REFERME R EHEEDRESRNSOMIRE R AR E@METURREE LN - KRR SEVH RN E2ZEETBEEE R
EBMARRABMBERERN (ERERNE — BRER) ERQF (AIHEERHE2018) RAEARAMBEERLIRFHLEMEN GE
BRBEBRAR SRS BREHIRMERS (R17) ) &R -

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) only include emissions from the diesel combustion of generators and petrol combustion
of vehicles of the Company. Greenhouse gas emissions are calculated with reference to the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (ARS).
REBKAEREBHN (BEN) N EHEERERERMNMERMER AT ERN/VHREE LN REREHRNTELE (K
RERESCEMEESSELRHARS (ARD) °

The intensity of environmental KPIs was calculated on a per capita basis, with a total of 3,096 employees for the Reporting Period.
REERMAREXEENTBERAASNGETHE  AREHNE THEBUR3,006A °

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) include indirect emissions caused during the production of purchased electricity in Mainland
China. Greenhouse gas emissions are calculated with reference to the national average grid emission factor for 2022 in the Notice on
the Management of Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Power Generation Enterprises in 2023-2025 published by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

BREREHN (BE)NAEGELFEPEANMINEE N EEERETERNBEH R - RERBHMNAELERB ERRRA R
) CRERME72023-2025F H BT R C R RERBYMMEE R A IIENRM) h2022FE2HEBFHFMEH -
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Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2023 Data
EEER EEEB B 2023F H &
Diesel consumption MWh 0.29
SCREEE KEFs
Petrol consumption MWh 42.63
FUREFEE KBy
Direct energy consumption MWh 42.92
HERERERE KE s
Direct energy consumption intensity MWh/person 1.4 x10?
HEERREREE KER, A
Use of resources Purchased electricity” MWh 2,187.04
BRER HNEBE JKFL B
Total indirect energy consumption MWh 2,187.04
EZLIREEFER KEFs
Indirect energy consumption intensity MWh/person 0.71
FEERERERE JKEE A
Total energy consumption MWh 2,229.96
REREREE K EL By
Energy consumption intensity MWh/person 0.72
RERERERE KER A
Total water consumption Cubic metre 10,900
Use of water resources® 425K E 5K
KERER® Water consumption per unit Cubic metre/person 3.52
BRIFEKE SRS A
Non-hazardous waste
BERERY
Total non-hazardous waste produced Kg 787.50
BERREVELLES T
Total non-hazardous waste recycled Kg 200.00
EmEEZEYRWEE T
Non-hazardous waste produced per unit  Kg/person 0.25
BUEBEEREVELSE Fr/A
Hazardous waste
BEEREY
Total waste battery produced Kg 13.00
REEMELEE T
Solid waste Total waste battery recycled Kg 11.00
E g8 REEY) FEE M Ol 4 = T
Waste battery produced per unit Kg/person 0.0042
BBEEMELSE F=/A
Total waste lamps/bulbs produced Piece 134
BERETEAELXBE 1&
Total waste lamps/bulbs recycled Piece 134
BEEE EpbliE s 18
Waste lamps/bulbs produced per unit Piece/person 0.043
BUBERE BAELS @,/ A
Total waste cartridge produced Kg 40.30
BERIELHESE T
Total waste cartridge produced per unit Kg/person 0.013
BUBRSELE RN

! SNBENEAENRESREEFARIER  LERBEMBRE-

cannot be separated, the water usage data only cover the specialty pharmacies and the Beijing office.

The purchased electricity usage data cover specialty pharmacies and offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

Since the water usage data for the Group’s Shanghai and Guangzhou offices are managed by property management companies and

¢ AASE LEREMNRLERKEHNAMETEARNEEABEFIER SKEREAEHEESHEEFURILRRFAE -
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Social KPIs HEEN
Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2023 Data
EEER EEER By 2023F H B
Employment
& fE
Male Person 495
Number of employees by gender B A
BUEREIDHME T A Female Person 2,601
g A
Full-time Person 3,082
Number of employees by employment type &5 A
BRERENEISHWE TAH Part-time Person 14
P37 A
<31 Person 1,853
<31 A
Number of employees by age group 31-50 Person 1,186
RFWRAR B HHE T AR 31-50 A
>50 Person 57
>50 A
Mainland China Person 3,087
Number of employees by geographical region = B Ayt A
EHE S DR E T A Hong Kong Person 9
AR A
Employee turnover rate’
BIRAE
Male % 4.28
Employee turnover rate by gender B
RHEREISDHE TRAE Female % 24.16
g
<31 % 19.39
<31
Employee turnover rate by age group 31-50 % 8.65
BRERAERNB DB TRAX 31-50
>50 % 0.39
>50
Employee turnover rate by Mainiand China % 2843
geographical region f ﬂfjﬂl % 0
HEHR 8 5 B Tk % el ’

9

number of employees leaving in the category at the end of the reporting period)*100%
° ZHEEREBIZSHE TRALE=2RIB TRAAE (REMRZERNETHE+ZHEA B TREAZK) *100%

BIREZEBRERAR

Employee turnover rate by relevant category = number of employees leaving in the category/(total number of employees in the category +

ZEZ=FFR 151



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERWRSE

Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2023 Data
EEER EEER By 2023F H 5

Employee training
ETEIMBER

Male % 9.1
Percentage of employees trained by gender® B4
RERIEI D2 MBI ETEH L Female % 90.9
g
Male Hour 12.6
Average training hours by gender'’ S AN
MRS T e g Female Hour 15.6
71t AN
Product research and % 3.2
Percentage of employees trained functional positions
by employee category EM Rk E
BETHENES2NFIETEDL Business positions % 96.8
X
Product research and Hour 8.0
Average training hours by employee category functi(i&al E osfions +
18 THRRIES F 955 YB3 il e
Business positions Hour 15.6
E37 3 INEE
Occupational health and safety
BERRERZSR
Number of work-related Person 0
fatalities'”
TTHAH” A
Rate of work-related % 0
fatalities
S g e
Number of working days Day 149.5

lost due to work injuries
ETITEBEAIERE X

Supply chain management

HEHEEE
Total number of suppliers  Supplier 925
Number of suppliers by geographical region'® 1 [i& 75 42 £¢ 1@
iR e DR EEEE Mainland China Supplier 925
AR A 1l

Percentage of employees trained by relevant category = Number of employees trained in the category/number of employees trained *
100%

10 ZABRARIZI S 2 g 8 T Al=4E 85I 8 T AZZHIE IT100%

Average training hours for employees by relevant category = Total training hours for employees in the category/Number of employees in
the category

" ZABRAARIEI S B T 95 3IR = F BRI B TMBZIIRE HEEFNE T AR

@ The Group also had no work-related fatalities in 2021 and 2022.

¥ OREE2021 R2022F ER T THHABIRG AT -

The number of suppliers during the Reporting Period was statistically derived from the Specialty Pharmacy Business.

T R B E SRR B R R A
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Indicator category Indicator name Unit 2023 Data
EEER EEER By 2023F H i
Product responsibility
EmEIE

Percentage of products % 0

returned for safety and
health reasons'

R fEFRIE B
Bl & 5t

Number of complaints'® Case 0

RFHE"® =

Resolution rate % 0

AR =R %

Satisfaction level % 100

mEE %

Anti-corruption
R&ES

Number of concluded legal Case 0
cases regarding corrupt
practices'

EEAENESH s
ANEMHE

Number of anti-corruption  Number 4
training

RESEIIZE %5

Hours of anti-corruption Hour 4
training

RE SRS /N

Number of directors trained Person 2

against corruption

REFEINEEAH A

Number of staff trained Person >100
against corruption

REFFINNET AR A

A process of requesting consumers to return, exchange, or replace a product after defects have been discovered that could hinder
performance, harm consumers, or give rise to legal issues for the producers.

BHEMBAARTZERR WEELTENGEAFEERREERMENRER BB E RO FRKFRERNER -
Enterprises may receive different forms of enquiry and comments from customers. Complaints may be defined by reference to the internal
definition of the enterprise, such as relevant service agreements, or by reference to industry standards, laws, and regulations.
EAREIELTREAMNEAMER - WHFNERAI UL ECERNLTES  WHARKHES B2ETEER EE RER-
The government, regulators, industry organisations, self-regulatory bodies or similar bodies or the Company have been found to be
corrupt. An appeal is not concluded until the appeal is decided.

B BB £ R4 AREEABRRLERERATASREARSOBLLE . ERRERAR EREGRRET HER -
BRRERMEARAT —2-=55% 153
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APPENDIX — HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT Bt 8% — B 32 Fr {ESG ¥ & 48 5)

INDEX # 5
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
BERERE
Subject Areas Content Disclosure section
TEHE AR RESH
Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the following elements: ESG Governance
EIRRE HEFSHLNER EPHE MIIRNE: ESGJaIE

(i) a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

) HEEESHESGEENEE:

(i)  the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuers businesses); and

(i) EEFYHESGE R RER  BENME BRI &
EREEMNESGHBEEHE (& %xﬁé‘ TAEBRERR)
O EE =N

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer’s businesses

(i) BEFSWFIRESGHER B Rins £E - WHEET FIf
BT ARBARE

Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the  About the Report
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG

report: Materiality, Quantitative and Consistency.

feE 3z /R Al R EEEREBESGRERMMEATIERRA:-EZ BARARS
M8 —Bte
Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report  About the Report

and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in
the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for

the change

4545 PRIBESG WM& MIESRE E - R phiz ﬂﬁﬁﬁbaﬁgiiﬁ B AR
B HEREARENAR  EERREGMRKE ﬁ/\
ERETRZERESRA
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

A1 General
Disclosure

Al —FRIEFE

A1

A1.2

A1.3
A1.4

A1.5

A1.6

Information on:

EHABERKAEREER mKERLEES BEREE

BEEYHELS:

the policies; and

B Rk

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and

greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste

b) BTHETABEAZENEBEZNROIKER
HPIHRIER

The types of emissions and respective emissions data

PR IR AR R I BUE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per

unit of production volume, per facility)

B (HE1) RgREE (BE2) RERBHNE (LBIETE)

M (@R BE (MAEBEE SN  BERMTE)

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity

MELREREMEENEE

Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

ELBEEREMEENEE

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them

FAPAET LB E B IR R R ERE L B IR RN 25

TET

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

Ml RIE A EREEREREYN A Rl pra] SZr0REE B
1Z N R EDE L B IR ERENEY 225

RIR - HER

Disclosure section
or explanation

WEEHHARE
Our Environment

HFIHIRE

Environmental KPIs
IRIBEN
Environmental KPIs

RIBEN

Environmental KPls
IRIBEN
Environmental KPls
IRIBEN

Green Office

Waste Management
ZERA
REEYE IR
Waste Management

RN

=p/=

BIREREBZERAR —E-=FF#

wE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BH —REBERERENER

A2 General

Disclosure
A2 —RE IR
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

A3 General

Disclosure
AS— MR HEFR
A3.1

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials
BRFEAER (BERER K REMEREME) OBER

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity

RERESNEER AEEEREEEREE

Water consumption in total and intensity

BEKRKEREE

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them

R Al T RT SZ B9 RE IR A et B IR S R E RIS L B IR PTERER Y
g

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them

Fa SR EGE R KR Er] B 8 - LA RPTET 2R K e
AR N Az RS L B AR AT ERERE 2 B

Total packaging material used for finished products and, with
reference to per unit produced

KRR BEMHNEERBEESEMLE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources
BIREITAHREBERRABREKNERTZENB R
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them

B EGEBHRBERRABERNEAZERERKINEEAR
B EMNITH
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Disclosure section
or explanation

BRESHNERE
Resource Management

BREE

Environmental KPIs

RIBE N
Environmental KPIs
RIBE N

Green Office

Resource Management
medn

BRERE

Resource Management

BREE

As the Group’s businesses do not
involve the production of products
and only a small number of
packaging materials are consumed,
no statistics are provided for per unit
produced.
HRAEENEBE N FMERE
E BEBLENBEMEDERE
WAt BEEEMIGE

Our Environment

AP IREE

Our Environment

HAPIRIRE
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

A4 General
Disclosure

A—RR I 5=

A4

B1 General
Disclosure
B1— M=

B1.2

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer.

BRI EHER LAt e HETAELETZENERRIKEA
EERIER

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

B RIS HBTAEE R ENERARIZEBER
REH1TE) -

Information on:

ERATEARE BREREA TERE-RE TEKe -

Z Al RIAR DA R B At 55 38 R AR N B

(@  the policies; and

@ BE: Rk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,

and other benefits and welfare
b) BETFHBETAGEAXZENHEBEAZ LRI ER
EEEE
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region
BRI EIBERE - FEeAR SR E 5 e fE B a8
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region

IR FhedE R Rt EE DR B A L X

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

Our Environment

HPIHIRE

Responses to Climate Change

R LR
Employment Management

ERER

Social KPIs

HeEEN
Social KPIs

T EAEN

BEREREARAT —2==FF8 157



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERWRSE

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B2 General
Disclosure
Bo— M=

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3 General
Disclosure
B3— A& i 55

B3.1

B3.2

Information on:

FHRMZ 2 TERERREEER2BELFEEN:

(@  the policies; and

@ BoR: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards

b) BTHETABEAFZENEBZEZNROIHNER
BT EER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the

past three years including the reporting year

BE=F (BHEERFR)BFAITHRHOAB R X

Lost days due to work injury

EIEERTEAR

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,

and how they are implemented and monitored

IR B R R 2 A REERITRERA

/.

=

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities

FRARTEERIT LIERE O A R A BUR - 53|
)

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category

IR N EERERENHXIEEBT DL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category
®ItRI N EERIE

BREEEREINF R
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Disclosure section
or explanation

KEEENAE
Occupational Safety and Health

BxRL2EER

Social KPIs

HEEN

Social KPIs

HEER

Occupational Safety and Health

BELEEER
Training and Development
1EHI R R

Social KPls

HEEW
Social KPIs

L EAEN



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREREE

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

B4 General Information on: Employment Management
Disclosure
B4—MRIXEE BEAP IEE T sksRh25 T : EEER
(@)  the policies; and
@ BoR: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour
) BETFTHBETAGEAXZENHEBEAZ LRI ER
EEERE
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid ~ Employment Management
child and forced labour
iR RIS B FI MR E AR R ET Ri&H|% T EREER
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Employment Management
discovered
i it A 3 3R 32 R B NS E RN B B U P ERER B P 5% EEER
B5 General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply ~ Supply Chain Management
Disclosure chain.
B5— AR IX5& EIRH RS AIRIR KA G R R IBUR - HEEER
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social KPIs
i@ S HEREA - HEEM
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain Management
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
AR R HERNEN MERNTEBENHERSE  HEEERE
B UNMBEERITRER A
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify the supply chain, and Supply Chain Management
how they are implemented and monitored.
M EABRHERTERONED U RBERITRER  HEEEE
FEe
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain Management

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

A EBREHER RS MIRRE B MRBEED - A K
HEARmITRERE A

HEEER
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“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT | R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEER BEH —REBERBEREENER

B6 General

Disclosure

B6—R& 55

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

B7 General
Disclosure

Information on:

BREMRHERTRENERELZS2 BS SRELES
BARMRITER

z

the policies; and

15654

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress

b BTHETABEAZENHEBEERZNAMNNER

cTE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons
EENCEXRERERTALT T BERIEHMARWN E S
kb

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with

BRI on S RIS VIR R BB A R $ 770K

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights

it B 4 TR AR R AN E B R V1B 101

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures
S 248 E AR M EmBE P

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored

RUE B E ERHMRIE RALB R - ARBERTRER A

Information on:
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Disclosure section
or explanation

REEHNRE

Our Services

The Group's business
operations do not involve
labelling and therefore this
indicator is not applicable
BRI R EB XL ED
BREBRERBER  WHLIET
EH

Product Quality
EmEE
Customer Services

PR

Intellectual Property

R 8k E
Product Quality
EmEE

Responsible Marketing

BIEEH

Information Security
EELE

Integrity Management



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ BT R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER BH —REBERBERENER

B7— M1 55

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

B8 General

Disclosure

BS—Rg #i 55

B8.1

B8.2

BN LR R HGFROEREN

(@ the policies; and

@ BR: R

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering

b)) BFHBETABBEAZENEBERLAROINER
BRRER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the cases

RERPAHBET AL EESRHYEEENE THARN

HBLE MR A

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored

Py B R b SRR T ARBAMIT RER A

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff

HAREERE TRHORESEI

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs

of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests

BN E2ERTREEMELRFENRREERES

SERMLER N HBR

Focus areas of contribution

HIER®E

Resources contributed to the focus area

EEIEHEBEMSAER

R HERERBE

Disclosure section
or explanation

BREEHNRE

RREE

Integrity Management

BRREIR
Integrity Management

BRRER
Integrity Management

BRRERR
Our Community

HAPIEY AL [

Our Community
e A BlokadA
Our Community

HAPIEYAE [
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BEN RS

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sipai
Health Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 169 to 286, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

FAREFISEE

BREFFTSTEEREBERMOBEXZAE RBE
HAREHY BRERNEITRAEENSE-
ZEFHRABRMNEREBEHUBRER
HEERRKETERN BMITeHZESE
ERESEMNER -BAUATSEMS  HME
ZER TRHEBMESTTEEZFENA
o

BB EITARE [MZBEAEZA R
WRAAENERE] —FMANEE BEHE
ZEFHEARNET Bt RAANEF R
WITRF NEHRMYE BB HRERTH
BEARBRRA AR RS - FEit 2 (BER
BRIE T ERMAEITOEF)HERBRM
TABERI & Gt S MR B R ET B IR E AR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FABET F IR

Recognition of Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

BARREEELR ([BEEEXEK]) WA

BAE RIS T F8H

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the total revenue
of the Group amounted to RMB4,712 million, increasing
by 14.4% from RMB4,119 million in 2022. Specifically,
RMB4,188 million of the revenue was generated from
Specialty Pharmacy Business (“SPB”), accounting for
88.9% of the total revenue of the Group.

BELE2023F12A31BILFE: BEEELABWARAER
4, 7128 8 T - B2022F ) A R 4,198 & 78 N

144% - AEME FEEFXH ((BEEEXK]E
ERBAR/ARB4188EETL (h EEERAKAN
88.9% °

The primary source of SPB revenue is from the operation
of offline speciality pharmacies and medicine distribution.
Revenue from SPB is recognized at the point in time
when control of medicines and pharmaceutical products
is transferred to customers, generally on delivery of
medicines and pharmaceutical products.

FHEEEBHNFTZRARRRELCERTHREEEUR
DB o R B R RS A0 U B S B B R
RERTEFPHOREE (—MRRX M Em R BEEmM)

Our procedures in relation to recognition of SPB revenue
included:

BPEBREEEXBRARRNIETEHE:

1> Performed tests of design and operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over recognition of
SPB revenue;
W BEERE X BWAEREBEGORTTETE
R EITRIR ;

2> Performed analytical procedures on the SPB revenue
by different dimensions including customers, retail
pharmacies, major categories of products, regions
and months etc.;
REP ZTEEEF FEZEEmBR R EKANFET
R EHFEEFEBERAETHONERR
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BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

FARFETSEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR TR =18

BARBHEEERE ((BEEERE ) BA

BB R EIEFERET F1E
Recognition of Speciality Pharmacy Business (“SPB”) revenue

We have identified recognition of SPB revenue is a key 3> Tested samples of sales transactions against

audit matter as revenue is a key performance indicator
for evaluating the Group’s financial results. Furthermore,
due to the large volume of transactions and customers
involving in SPB revenue, the inherent risk of misstatement
in terms of revenue recognition of SPB is relatively high.

HRWAZTE SEEEMBEENEREIIER &
PMBRSHEEEEBWRABRR RS —BBERETEE It
S ARNBEEEXEBRASRAERSNER  ER
BEFEEBRAERTE BERONERREERS -

The Group’s disclosures relating to the recognition of SPB
revenue are included in note 2.4 “Material accounting
policies”, note 4 “Operating Segment information”, and
note 5 “Revenue, Other Income and Gains”.

ERE B EERE EBRARRIREE RN 2.4
[BERGFTHE] M4 [KEDFER] RS (I
A~ HAYA R as ] o
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4>

5>

prescription by doctors, acknowledgement of
receipts by customers. For revenue from medicine
distribution, we tested samples of sales transactions
against delivery notes and invoices;

BEBENEF  BPERABBAHBEEIIRAR-
RERDHEBAMS  RABRBIEERBEZAHR
HERX IR

Performed cut-off test of SPB revenue before and
after the year end, on a sample basis; and

FREE R A& R HE 1T 4 SR 25 5 ST R A Y B LRI
54

Checked the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements regarding the SPB revenue.
BEMBHRRTUBFEEEEZR B AELNKEZ

BRED°



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHE R &

FARFETEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PR =R £ 1A

Impairment of inventories

FERE

As at December 31, 2023 the carrying amount of the
Group’s inventories before provision was approximately
RMB248.5 million. The inventories were stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value. The determination
of net realizable value involved management’s judgement
and estimation. Specific factors management considered
included the ageing, physical conditions, expiry dates
of the goods and estimated realizable value. The Group
recorded an impairment of RMB2.5 million on inventories
as of December 31, 2023.

M2023%F12A31H EBEEEFENBEBIEREEOR
AR#2485A BT - T ERANAN BRI B I FERE T EY
BIEE AR - BRI SR FEL RERE R A KA
EREZEMAREZEREROERER EWRR 3
HR RMAFA 25 EE B £2023F12A31H &%
i SEFEREARK25BET -

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment of
inventories are included in note 2.4 “Material accounting
policies”, note 3 “Significant Accounting Judgement And
Estimates” and note 19 “Inventories” to the consolidated
financial statements.
REBEBEERENRESNE KT GRERMT24 [E
R M3 [EARE A R EEH] RHE19
Ea ik

AP R T Ao B IR B SR AT =R

Our procedures in relation to impairment of inventories
included:

BMBEBEFERENEFSE:

1> Performed tests of design of relevant controls
over management’s estimation of impairment of
inventories;
HEREFEREMTIHBZE S B RET BRI ETT
A

2> Performed an analysis of market pricing trends,
such as volatility of prices or sales incentives, for
purchases and sales of the Group’s inventories to
identify potential causes for provision of inventory
allowance; and

HEE BEEETFENTETESBY (WMERKE
SIHE M) EIT O UERIGH RSB &N E
ERA: &

3> Evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
methodology whether the estimation of impairment
had taken into account all key inputs, such as
ageing report, physical conditions, expiry dates and
expected selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred, and whether these inputs were
appropriate, accurate, and complete.
AAERBERENERW  YEERBEMLTER
ZREMAEBEE AR NERR®RS  BEMAR - 2
HA B & 78 BA & R E £ R fAET AR - A )R 7%
ERMABBEEREE EWLTE-

4> Checked the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements regarding the impairment of
inventories.

BEMBHRRTRFEREFLNEERLS TS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information above when it
becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 19, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SFERRAMZENER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # £2023F12A318 ILFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
REVENUE A [5) 4,712,107 4,119,478
Cost of sales 85 & A (4,297,409) (3,782,126)
Gross profit EF 414,698 337,352
Other income and gains E AU A K Wz 5 76,469 60,189
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHMAX (292,320) (332,851)
Administrative expenses THAX (347,788) (575,011)
Research and development expenses #1355 % (45,947) (62,650)
Impairment losses on financial assets £ MEENANEER
and contract assets under expected FEHEEEEER
credit loss model (“ECL”), net ([FEHEEER])T
KR EEE TR 22 (9,965) (5,466)
Other expenses Hm 8 (36,912) (11,035)
Finance costs IS YN 7 (3,489) (4,041)
Share of profits and losses of an JE& 1 — Bk & R A) Y A
associate MEE (412) 331
Loss before fair value changes in 0B AT 835 38 7] 08 5148 50 %
convertible redeemable preferred NEEZEATHEE
shares (245,666) (593,182)
Change in fair value of convertible AEmA ERELERNA
redeemable preferred shares FEEE 30 - (775,260)
LOSS BEFORE TAX b #5 A1T BT 1B 6 (245,666) (1,368,442)
Income tax expense Frisfim sz 1 (1,041) (3,322)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE (246,707) (1,371,764)
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the parent UNSIEZ RN (255,768) (1,370,572)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 2 9,061 (1,192)
(246,707) (1,371,764)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A BERAMZHKER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # E2023%12A31HILFE

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® Tt ARBFT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ HtZ2®EW A~ (BIxX)
(EXPENSE)
ltems that may be reclassified to profit A s BHAIMEF D 1A
or loss in subsequent periods: EZEEMIER :
Exchange differences on translation of ~ # & /BN EKHIE K =R
foreign operations (117) 2,241
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit ™~ & WM& BB E#FH 5 48
or loss in subsequent periods: ZiEEMIEE
Exchange differences on translation of B AR QA FIHE N =8
the Company 14,970 (726,770)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FRH fh 2@ WA
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR /(%) 14,853 (724,529)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE TR HBA X%
FOR THE YEAR (231,854) (2,096,293)
Attributable to: AT AT FEAS
Owners of the parent S RRIHEEB A (240,915) (2,095,101)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR 2 9,061 (1,192)
(231,854) (2,096,293)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE R A TZEEZEEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EhERER
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic and diluted ERREE
For loss for the year (RMB) FAEE (ARE) (0.40) (12.19)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B O BRI &

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E R L 14 13,495 17,854
Other intangible assets EmEREE 15 48,191 56,182
Prepayments, other receivables TERT5RIA - A E Y SRIE
and other assets LEMEE 23 7,475 7,384
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 67,611 71,009
Investments in an associate R—KEERFTNRE 8,513 1,967
Goodwill GRS 17 50,653 79,823
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 1,055 -
Time deposits EHTFR 24 175,573 -
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 372,566 234,219
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 246,058 280,332
Contract cost B HIK A 1,660 2,590
Trade and bills receivables B 5 MW GRIE K R EIE 21 329,955 241,256
Contract assets EHEE 22 130,087 94,739
Prepayments, other receivables and TETFRIA - H A E Y FRIE
other assets TEAMEE 23 150,516 134,166
Amounts due from related parties JE Wt BABS: 75 5RIR 36 7,701 883
Financial assets at fair value through BRFEFAER
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (MR FEFFAER])
NEREE 18 478,348 -
Time deposits TEHATE 3K 24 155,854 75,146
Pledged deposits [REEUiREE 24 147,115 76,170
Cash held on behalf of clients REPEENER S 20 299,755 334,599
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEED 24 495,425 1,455,454
Total current assets MEEEMEE 2,442,474 2,695,335
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and bills payables B SR RIBERENEE 25 464,269 340,051
Other payables and accruals HMERNRIBERETEA 26 466,998 508,099
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 28 2,000 -
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< A S 75 3R IE 36 477 2,381
Contract liabilities aHaE 27 181,898 170,724
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 26,218 29,019
Contingent consideration payables JET SR ARAE — 3,677
Income tax payable FERTFT1S L 74 1,391
Total current liabilities mEEBEERE 1,141,934 1,055,342
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 1,300,540 1,639,993
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 1,673,106 1,874,212
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AHHBRRER

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® Tt ARBFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 39,339 38,745
Deferred tax liabilities FEER B E 29 2,616 1,335
Total non-current liabilities JERBBEERE 41,955 40,080
Net assets BEFHE 1,631,151 1,834,132
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of NEEE ANEGER
the parent
Share capital i A 31 516 517
Reserves e 1,618,343 1,836,384
1,618,859 1,836,901
Non-controlling interests FEER R 12,292 (2,769)
Total equity R B R 1,631,151 1,834,132
Mr. MA Xuguang Mr. LI Ji
BEELE L
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHERSER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # E2023F12A318 It FE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRERAER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non-
Share  Treasury Capital ~ payment Other translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares  reserve* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* losses* Total interests equity
DVIGE]
ERMEH SHERE
kx  EERG EXRE e EtRE RE RHER Bt FEREZ BEAE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®TR AR%Tr AR%Tr AR%TR
(note 31)  (note 31) (note 32)
(HEE31) (K1) (HizE32)
At January 1, 2023 R202351A1A 517 (76) 9088712 747914  (296456)  (503,508) (7,180,202) 1,836,901 (2769) 1,834,132
(Loss)/proft for the year ER(BR) /&7 - - - - - - (255,768)  (255,768) 9,061  (246,707)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZARA - - - - - 14,853 - 14,853 - 14,853
Total comprehensive (expense)/income ERRE (L) /MR
for the year - - - - - 14853  (255768) (240915 9061  (231,854)
Exercise of share rewards st - 9 49,154 (44,883) - - = 4,280 = 4,280
Share-based payment compensation DU OEES ST - - - 96,612 - - - 96,612 = 96,612
Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries A EBELIEHIENHELFE
without change of control BEEY - - (6,737) - - - - (6,737) 5,349 (1,388)
Acaqisition of subsidiaries WEREAR - - - - - - - - 451 451
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 31) BRLER (M1 (1) (61,064)  (10,117) - - - - (71,282) - (71,282)
Capital injection into a subsidiary by FERBERRRBARTE
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 200 200
At December 31, 2023 20235127317 516 (61,231) 9,101,012 799,643  (296,456)  (488,655) (7,435970) 1,618,859 12,292 1,631,151
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SOEESBX

Year ended December 31, 2023 # E2023%12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

NEAEAAER
Foreign
Share-based currency Non- Total
Share Treasury Capital payment Other  translation  Accumuiated controlling (deficit)/
capital shares reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ osses® Total interests equity
IABR{R B
bl oF 3] SMETE (&4 /

Bx  ERED
RMB'OO0  RMB(000
ARETT ARETR

RMBO00  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR

Rt W RdER CHEEZEC E I Syt
RMBO00  RMB'000  RMBO0O  RMB'OO0  RMB'0O0  RMBO00O
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETZ

(note 31) (note 32)
(BizEst) (HizE2)

At1 January 2022 H2022E 1818 138 ) 930 437404 (7908 221021 (5809830) (5429224)  (1686) (5430910)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (1,370572) (1,370,572) (1,192)  (1,371,764)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMZERY - = = = - (124529 - (124529) - (124529)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREZARTER = - - - - (724529) (1,370572) (2,095,101) (1,192)  (2,096,293)
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred  BRAREE ([ERARBE])

shares into ordinary shares upon nitial public BRI ER A EHELRER A

offering (‘IPQ") Tamk 374 - 8,924,455 - - - - 8924829 - 8924829
Net proceeds from issue of shares from IPO BRARBEERTROFAGRE

FH 7 - 143,369 - - - - 143,376 - 143,376

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries ~ REREXZHIENHELA

without change of control BERED - - (51) - - - - (51) (381) (432)
Repurchase of the vested share options BECEBERE - - - (5432  (18,229) - - (23,655) - (23,655)
Repurchase of the ordinary shares (note 31) EREER (MHFs1) @ 2 - - - - - - - -
Capital injection into a subsidiary by FERBRAMBARTE

non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 490 490
Gain on debt waived by non-controling FERERAREBRE

shareholders - - - - 875 - - 875 - 875
Share-based payment compensation PARRIA AR S (4 A5 B - - - 31583 - - - 31585 - 31585
At December 31, 2022 202251231 517 76 9068712  7TATOI4  (96456) (503508 (7,180202) 1,836901 2769 1,834,132

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of  *

RMB1,618,343,000 (2022: RMB1,836,384,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHEERER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # £2023F12A318 ILFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EEBSRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRELATEE (245,666) (1,368,442
Adjustments for: AT ZIEELAE:
Finance costs B & P A 7 3,489 4,041
Interest income FEWA 5 (31,340) (17,249)
Depreciation of property, Y% BB REEITE
plant and equipment 6 9,441 9,205
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 6 34,800 31,807
Amortization of other intangible assets  H fth £ 2 & 2= # 84 6 8,727 8,411
Share-based payment compensation AR (D A& E/E S 4 89 %
[ 32 96,612 315,852
Impairment loss on financial assets and & B EE M & HEERN
contract assets under ECL model, FEHEEEBEEAT
net BYRE B 1R F R 6 9,965 5,466
Impairment loss on inventories, net of 17 &IEE & 18 - 1k
reversal El 19 2,246 3,382
Impairment losses on goodwill EEREEE 17 31,281 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  ME k&G
equipment, net o) 5= 6 996 702
Loss on disposal of other intangible HEREMBEEEENES
assets 8 6 4 -
Gains on lease termination, net IEHE WS FRE 16 (1,503) (380)
Change in fair value of convertible A] B2 4 A] BB B e AR &Y
redeemable preferred shares NEEE 30 - 775,260
Foreign exchange differences, net E N = EHEE 6 30 ®)
Gain on financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFABZNE
A E = 6 (17,357) (22,355)
Lease concessions HEER 16 - (2,488)
Loss on fair value changes in ENSHAREBZATE
contingent consideration payables HH)EE 523 2,310
Gain on remeasurement of the Group’s R E B BIEFH =zt 8K
previously held equity interest at the SEEXHIFANRE
acquisition date Uk 25 6 (97) -
Share of profits and losses of an FE(E — K Hf & A A8 %
associate K &5 18 412 (331)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # E2023%12A31HILFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T AR®ET T
Operating cash flows before LEESEHINLE
movements in working capital B R=E (97,437) (254,817)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL (35 m) 19 35,923 (14,679)
Decrease/(increase) in contract costs & &I Am A (1 10) 930 (253)
Increase in trade and bills receivables 2 5 & W8 & flE Uk =
N 21 (91,321) (75,938)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets A #VEE (&), EL 22 (37,133) 8,400
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERT A - H A0 FE WK
other receivables and other assets TN BB =
(&), md 23 (1,259) 111,549
Increase in pledged deposits B R 8 0 24 (70,945) (76,170)
Decrease/(increase) in cash held on REPEAENE S
behalf of clients A (380) 20 34,844 (168,420)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due JE Y2 B Bt 5 SRR
from related parties (3&hn) /R 36 (618) 6,783
Decrease in amounts due to related ST BEES: 5 SRR R
parties 36 (3,107) (497)
Increase in trade and bills payables B RNFRIBERENE
1R IE N 25 118,254 102,896
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — E fth &~ 5018 & fE 51 &
and accruals A CR) /38 m 26 (30,485) 179,211
Increase in contract liabilities B4 aEEN 27 11,174 3,439
Cash used in operations KEmARE (131,180) (178,496)
Income tax paid B TSR (2,315) (3,570)
Net cash flows used in operating RETBHMARERETF
activities 8 (133,495) (182,066)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BEMEE
equipment (5,361) (8,957)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEAEMEREE (388) (7,846)
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL B ERAFEFAEBTZHN
TRUEm (2,097,525) -
Proceeds from withdrawal of financial ~ IREUR A F(ET ABZEH
assets at FVTPL © B P S 3KE 1,636,534 1,089,676
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BWEREEHN
plant and equipment B3KI8 179 30
Loans due from non-controlling JiE U FfT /BB A B FE4E AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries B 23 (17,268) (24,500)
Loans due from an associate R —MEHE R ER 36 (6,000) -
Interest income F B A 24,748 17,046
Purchases of time deposits with original & & R 2|28 B 8@ =18 A
maturity of more than three months 7 7€ BR 17 3K (767,903) -
Proceeds from withdrawal of time BRI EBEA=FEA
deposits with original maturity of more &) %E 817 X AT 15 2018
than three months 517,903 -
Acquisition of an associate g % — R B = R A (8,925) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries LAt B Bt /BB A 33 3,197 (40,678)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AHRERER

Year ended December 31, 2023 # Z£2023F12A31H L FE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR¥T T ARBET T
Net cash flows (used in)/from REES (FrA), g
investing activities HeEREFHE (720,809) 1,029,771
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®BETHFIESHSAE
ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds on issue of shares from & XA B3 & 217 9 B
IPO BRIEFE - 150,261
Proceeds from exercise of share rewards 771§ i% 15 22 B FT 15 718 4,280 -
Payments of repurchase of ordinary B o] AR T R
shares (71,282) -
Contribution from non-controlling IR EE
shareholders 200 490
Payments of repurchase of the vested B [E] 2 53 /B B8 I RE 1~ 3%
options - (23,655)
Principal portion of lease payments MENZKNREE S 16 (32,192) (30,063)
Interest paid for lease liabilities REEaEIMNMFE 16 (3,489) (4,041)
New bank borrowings FILIRTTIE R 2,000 -
Payments of listing expenses S ETRAX (1,864) (13,384)
Advance payments received for exercise Ft17 {5 & A% 1 U BX &9 4 3k
of share options 2,522 2,514
Payments of dividend to non-controlling 37 1~ — &1 Fff B /A &) JE 5 A%
shareholders of a subsidiary % B A% B (1,546) -
Change in ownership interests in KRB RIEHIEA M B
subsidiaries without change of control /A &% & # & &) (1,388) (432)
Payments of withholding tax for X< BBl A] 85 42 ] fE 018
repurchase of convertible redeemable %t i% 78 1 ¢ 18
preferred shares 30 (17,789) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from mESEE (FrA), B
financing activities HEeEREFH (120,548) 81,690
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ReRBLZEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) /B hnEEE (974,852) 929,395
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#3R & KB EEY
of year 24 1,455,454 535,849
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [E & & &) 7/ 2558
net 14,823 (9,790)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRREERELSEEY
END OF YEAR 24 495,425 1,455,454
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% R a Y o

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands (“Cayman”)
under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square,
Grand Cayman KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) were principally engaged in (i) the business of specialty
pharmacy (the “Specialty Pharmacy Business”, including
specialty pharmacy network and the provision of pharmacist
service), (i) the business of physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance Business”, including the
provision of site management organisation services and services
for image management in clinical trials) and (i) the provision of
health insurance services (the “Health Insurance Services
Business”, including health management services). The Group’s
principal place of operations and geographical markets are in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

on December 23, 2022. The company has no controlling
shareholder.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date
of incorporation/

NEEHR

BREREBMEAERAR (227 A
BEREHSLIEERENRS ([HE])
MM B R A R e AR R AR
=&AL Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, Grand Cayman KY1-9010,
Cayman Islands °

FA-AREREKEAR (FETR
SEDNEREBA  VFEEEXRK
(MFREEXY | BRBEESPK
REE BRI AR ) ¢ (i) B LT 1%
X% (TBEMEMBIER]  BIEEHR
HI5E BARRSG KRR SR HE R
EIEIRTE) ¢ R PR R B IR R AR ([ 4
ERBRARIE R - BREEEEERS)
REER T ELE MR KE TSN
hEARAME ([HE]) -

KR TBR2022F12 A23H EFE BB AR
SHARAR ([BRFT]) ER EHe R
NEIRIE 324

RN EQRANESR

RRAREZMBARIFBOT

Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity

registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SEMEY SRR ERTEZERRE
a8 BEAREE R dMER FAREGEZEIL FEXH
Direct  Indirect
E# &
Sipai Health Science Technology Co., Ltd.* Hong Kong (‘HK”) HK$1 100% - Investment holding

BIRREEMBRMBR A A
(formerly known as MediGeek Network
Technology Co., Limited* B J& 48 4%
REBRAT)

of PRC May 29, 2015

BRRENERMAERRA REEE ([58]) BT - REER
(FBRREENEERAT) 20155729
Siweite (Beijing) Healthcare PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.” August 16, 2017
8% (1) RREEARAT ” \
B (IR)EREEERAR RE /B A AR %10,000,0007T RAEER
20178168
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1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023412531H

1. QXFER (F&)
FRMBLINES (&)

of incorporation/ Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity
registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of opqrations capital Company activities
Eﬂ’&ﬁkﬁ/_ﬁﬂﬁi&%ﬁ& Ei‘%ﬁ%?ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ?’r‘/ y .
£ AEARSE R AMER FAREERZEIL FEEHR
Direct  Indirect
E# CiE
Sichuan Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Retail of
M BEREREERAA April 17,2018 pharmaceutical
/ products
I BRAZEREERRA HE/ RE R AR #1,000,0007T BEERTE
2018F4H17H
Beijing Sijitang Pharmacy Co., Ltd.* PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100% Retail of
ITRREEREEEREELA April 21, 2006 pharmaceutical
products
IRMEEAEREREART hE/HEN AR #10,000,0007 BEEMTE
20064 A21H
Xiamen Sipai Fuyuan Network Technology ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100% Enterprise health
Co., Ld* EMERE T BERMAR May 4, 2023 insurance
N E]
EFBRETAREMAR AR HRE /B A AR #2,000,0007T PEEERRRE
2023F5H4H
Guangzhou Sipai Pharmaceutical Chain PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB58,000,000 - 100% Retail of
Co., Lid*BM M BIREEEHEERAF  September 11, 2015 pharmaceutical
products
ENTRRELEHAR A hE/HEN AR #58,000,0007 BEEMTE
2015F9A11H
Hunan Sipai Pharmacy Co., Ltd*#i# 2K  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB4,000,000 - 100% Retail of
REEBERRA April 18,2018 pharmaceutical
/ products
HEBRAZEEERAF HE/ RE R AR #4,000,0007T BEERTE
2018F4H18H
Bixun (Shanghai) Medical Technology Co.,  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 - 100% Site management
Ltd*ftifE ( £8) BEREAR LA June 3, 2014 organisation
services
L (£8) BEREARAF HE/HEN AE#100,000,0007 RIS ERABRE
20146 A3H
Bixun (Guangzhou) Medical Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB290,000,000 - 100% Site management
Co., Ltd.* b (BN ) BEREER April 29, 2019 organisation
A / services
S (BM) BERBRARRR) $ﬁ/ﬁﬁmm AR #290,000,0007 B E R ARRE
2019F4H29R

BIRRERE AR AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

1.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date

1. RAIEH (&
REWBARNES (&)

of incorporation/ Issued ordinary  Percentage of equity
registration and place share/registered  attributable to the  Principal
Name of operations capital Company activities
SMRL SR EROEERKRAS
£ AR i B ZMER FAREERZEIL FEEHR
Direct  Indirect
E# CiF
Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd.* PRC/Chinese Mainland USD400,000,000 — 100% Investment holding
BERREZREBRAA March 8, 2019
BREREXREARAA hE/HEA 400,000,000 7T RERK
20193 A8H
Sipai (Beijing) Insurance Brokerage Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 S 100% Insurance
Ltd* Bk (b)) RIS L AR A A November 18, 2004 brokerage
(formerly known as Yuantong (Beijing)
Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd." i
() RBELARAT)
Bk (LR RRELEERAT] R/ E A AK#100,000,0007T R &4
(ABER (ER)RRELERAR)  2004F11718H
Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,166,948.3 - 100% Investment holding
Ltd* Bk (L) BE R AR AR March 28, 2014
BIR (LR BERBARATF RE /o E A AR #2,166,948.37C REER
2014F3H28H
Sipai Health Technology (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.* PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 100% Technology
BIREEFERIT (B BR AT January 19, 2023 services
BRI (EF) BRAF hE/RE R AR #10,000,0007C Bl R
2023%1A19R
Sipai Pharmacy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd* &)k  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100% Retail of
KEE(LB)BRAR October 8, 2005 pharmaceutical
products
BRAER (L8)BBRATA R/ R E A AR %2,000,0007T BEEmMTE
2005F10H8H
Sipai Wisdom Pharmacy (Guang zhou) Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,600,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Ltd*BIREERER (BEM)BRAR"  Apri 17,2019
BREERER (BEM)ERRA e/ B A A #1,600,0000007T REER
2019F4A17H

The English names of these subsidiaries registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by management of the Company to
translate their Chinese names as these subsidiaries do not have official
English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023

* Fy PAE R B A1 A 5% S B 8 % B I IE
AEXEH WEAXAWHARRAFE
EEEERPXAMBEmNR-

FRINTEZRREIBEEFARAN
BRASEEEFENIZRONAR
AffB AR -EERAS EHEMKE
AAENFBREHRREN TR



ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“lIASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, convertible redeemable preferred
shares and contingent consideration payables which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognizes the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Contractual arrangements

Sipai (Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bk (1t 3 ) #94%
B AR A A, “SBNT”) and its subsidiaries are engaged in the
business of insurance broking.

On May 10, 2021, Sipai Healthcare Investment Co., Ltd. ( B
fEREE¥REABRAAF, “Spai WFOE”) entered into a series
of contractual arrangements with SBNT and its equity holders,
which granted Sipai WFOE the control over SBNT, which has
been treated as an indirect subsidiary of the Company during the
reporting period for accounting purposes.

The contractual arrangements mentioned in the paragraphs
above enable the Company to exercise effective control over
SBNT and its subsidiaries, have rights to variable returns from its
involvement with SBNT and its subsidiaries and the ability to affect
those returns through its power over SBNT and its subsidiaries.
Accordingly, SBNT and its subsidiaries’ results of operations,
assets and liabilities, and cash flows will be consolidated into the
Company’s financial statement as if they were subsidiaries of the
Company.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Contractual arrangements (Continued)

In order to satisfy the current requirements on the ownership of
the operation of commercial internet information services under
relevant PRC laws and regulations, and to achieve the business
and operation purposes of the Company under the current PRC
regulatory framework, on December 7, 2023, the Company
announced new contractual arrangements would be adopted to
replace the existing contractual arrangements through the steps
below:

(@) On December 7, 2023, each of the individual shareholders
of SBNT agreed to transfer their equity interests in SBNT
to Mr. Li ji. The relevant parties terminated the existing
contractual arrangements among themselves and Sipai
WFOE, SBNT, Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji entered into
transitional contractual arrangements having terms and
conditions substantially the same as the existing contractual
arrangements at the same date. Upon the completion
of the step, each of Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji held
approximately 55.38% and 44.62% equity interest in SBNT.

(b)  In December 2023, Beijing Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(A REBREFERMAR R A, “BSHT”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sipai WFOE injected approximately RMB1.08
million into SBNT and acquired 50% of the increased
registered capital of SBNT, and as a result, SBNT is now
owned as to approximately 27.69%, 22.31% and 50% by
Mr. Ma Xuguang, Mr. Li Ji and BSHT, respectively. Sipai
WFOE, SBNT, Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji have also
terminated the transitional contractual arrangements and
the relevant parties have entered into new contractual
arrangements having terms and conditions substantially the
same as the existing contractual arrangements in December
2023.

The Company has completed all the steps above as of December
31, 2023. As a result, the Company is interested in 50% of
equity interests in SBNT and its subsidiaries through BSHT’s
direct equity interest in SBNT and obtain control of the rest 50%
of the equity interest in SBNT and its subsidiaries through Sipai
WEFOE’s contractual rights and, at its sole discretion, is able to
receive all the economic interest returns generated by SBNT
and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, SBNT and its subsidiaries’
results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows will be
consolidated into the Company’s financial statement as if they
were subsidiaries of the Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reforrm — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(@ Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s

financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(©)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognize a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the
Group has applied the initial recognition exception and
did not recognize a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for transactions related
to leases. The Group has applied the amendments on
temporary differences related to leases as at January 1,
2022. Upon initial application of these amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences arising
from right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
However, they did not have any material impact on the
overall deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualified for offsetting under IAS 12.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organization for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group
did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)"*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)"*

Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements’
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability”

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the
2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognized in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., January 1,
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3 © 78 #i 1B &k & 1Y B BR BY 7%

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted.
The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognized as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealized losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

190

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognized for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognized in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at December
31. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. An impairment
loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and other
non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognized impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

194

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(il

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 19%
Electronic equipment 19%-32%
Motor vehicles 12%-24%
Leasehold improvements 20%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognized in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognized is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortized over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Licenses

Purchased licenses are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortized on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years. The useful life of 10 years for license is
estimated based on the duration of the license, as well as the
useful lives of similar assets in the marketplace.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 5 years. The estimated useful life of 3 to 5
years for software is determined by considering the period of
the economic benefits to the Group as well as by referring to the
industry practice.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Software development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component and non-lease components, the Group adopts
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the associated
non-lease components (e.g., property management services for
leases of properties) as a single lease component.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@)

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings 1-10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognized as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

©)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of motor vehicles
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.4

200

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
and Dills receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortized cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognized, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are
also recognized as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 24 EXEFER (&)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized
in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognize the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, amounts due to related parties, bank and other
borrowings and contingent consideration payables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVTPL are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only
if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognized in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost (trade and

bills payables, other payables, bank and other
borrowings and amounts due to related parties)

After initial recognition, trade and bills payables, other payables,
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate

amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate

amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or canceled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the

respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as warrants.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities

when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of

derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Group (treasury shares) are recognized directly in equity at cost.
No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilized, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

210

Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognized as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group
will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognized under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@)

®)

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The primary source of the revenue from the Specialty
Pharmacy Business is generated from the operation
of offline specialty pharmacies and distribution of
pharmaceutical products to pharmaceutical companies and
other distributors. Revenue from the Specialty Pharmacy
Business is recognized at the point in time when control of
goods is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the medicines and pharmaceutical products.

The Group evaluates whether it is appropriate to record
the gross amount of sale of pharmaceutical products and
related costs or the net amount earned as commissions
for its distribution of pharmaceutical products under the
Specialty Pharmacy Business. When the Group acts as a
principal, that the Group obtains control of the specified
goods or services before they are transferred to the
customers, the revenues should be recognized in the gross
amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for the specified goods or services transferred.
When the Group acts as an agent and its obligation is to
facilitate third parties in fulfilling their performance obligation
for specified goods or services, the revenues should be
recognized in the net amount for the amount of commission
which the Group earns in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by other parties.

Physician Research Assistance Business

The primary source of revenue from the Physician Research
Assistance Business is generated from the provision of site
management organization services by providing integrated
services to pharmaceutical companies to assist them in
producing clinical trial data that meet the relevant regulatory
standards for the pharmaceutical companies to advance
to the next phase of clinical trial or solicit approval of a
treatment by the applicable regulatory body. The Group
recognizes the revenue when the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the service output is captured
in clinical data and documentation that are available for
pharmaceutical companies over the progress of clinical
trials.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

24 EXETHE (F)
WARER (&)
KEEPAHNIA (B)

@

)

FREEEXBH T ZWARRZ
REGTHEEEMASER
A M E A $H P 0 B A o
BLBL e XTSI B dn 12 1 42
BRETEPHNRMBEH (—RAXN
B fh N 8 B MR B ) FERR

AEBEFGHEEERMEE LA
AR ABERFREEER D
HEZERMRIUFBEARRM
TREEE -WEAKER/ETER
EA - BIARSR B R 5 7E 7 ah 2 iR %
BETEFPINESZSZE MR
TSNP 4% - B A RIATRRT A 2
BMAEENEERAmARBMAE
RESHNREAREER WEAE
BAREARBEERWMIIE=T
TR MR EITROES
A A B AR S B e BE R E A
77 HR A % 15 E 7 an 3k AR 75 1 R
RV & R R o

BLNA GRS

BEM R BB EHOHEZRAR
RIGES BRMRSEIEEBR
% REERRREEEIRE
PEEANAHBEEREENR
RARRBE UHBBEQABEAT
— 118 PR 5 e P B SR SR i
AEERBONRE NEENR
75 i ) R 8570 B PR B0 e XXHE
VA B4 B2 12 B 7 B PR 2 B FR R
/- BER I HER MR B OER
iy - Bl A

BEREREARAT —S-=£5% 211



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(c)  Health Insurance Services Business

The primary source of revenue from the Health Insurance
Services Business is commissions from the provision of
insurance brokerage services. The Group provides insurance
brokerage services, including distribution of various
health and life insurance products on behalf of insurance
companies. As an agent of the insurance companies, the
Group sells insurance policies on behalf of the insurance
companies and earns brokerage commissions determined
as a percentage of premiums paid by the insured.

Revenue from the provision of insurance brokerage services
is recognized when the signed insurance policy becomes
effective since the Group has fulfilled its performance
obligation. The Group also generated revenue from health
management and claim processing services provided
to insurance companies, typically charging insurance
companies of a fixed fee per policy and revenue is
recognized over time during the service period as the Group
fuffills its performance obligation.

Other income

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets. They are reclassified to trade receivables when
the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalized as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfill a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalized contract costs are amortized and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share award schemes. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration and
rewards in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 32 to the financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

214

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognized. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognized as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is canceled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancelation, and any expense not yet recognized
for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the canceled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the canceled
and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023

24 EXEFEE (&)

R AERZA ()

BREERZHRANRIR R, LR
Rt EX PAEER AR E BN A
MEFEIE It a3 - 558 B HA AT A0 & el B
AN REEERXFERAN RS K
57 B A B r By ) M AR SR B R AR
FEAED T ASBMNSEM-T-HE
Et AN B s IR0 5% B ) B A R e
RERFTFT A EE -

BERBRREAHANQIFER T8
ERIRG RIFMIGRAGSE MEE
BERGHRRAEE EREAEEH &
RGEBHERE T AHENREGLD
— &b - MIHRBIBE N RR N F A 5
B X SR 1A B2 8D P Y 75 1B 30 4 4 B Ak
75 22 S O (] H b (61 16045 /5 I 55 88 16k
1 < SEER B IR 1T 0 BB R FE N AR -
BRIERBFAERS & IXB G &
A EERIANES 51 BRI

FRBEEM IETIH RN R, SRS
R AR KRB A0 RE) N @ MR -
RS BTSRRI B
MS A IEERB IR R D ER K9 W
BRERE AIREMAHEMERRE/
SHARFE IRIF O EAK -

SRS EE BRI IRFTUETER K
WA A B AR EN R R A 1R RIS KR
SRR EAE FT RO IR U RERR © Lt S
FRIZINCA B D A EBE ) ST B AR 4R
BAHEEAMNEFTME - ARIER]
G EMEERERR X SR
BEBEHEE @GFCREHERR
B T 7% BB 4 R e R (R AT R S & B
R AERR o L B IR I RAERT & AN B
1 B 4% 1 7 JF 55 /88 5k (RO 28R - X W
0B — IR SRR SR R 2R R
BHEEREERERRE MZEFEE
55 N RS AT B PR R R B R
HRERERTBEIE -



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Chinese Mainland are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency, the United States dollar
(“USD”). As the major revenues and assets of the Group are
derived from operations in Chinese Mainland, RMB is chosen as
the presentation currency to present the financial statements.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognized
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognized
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognizes the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognized in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

Consolidation of affiliated entities

The Group obtained control over certain PRC domestic
companies as detailed in note 2.1 by entering into a series of the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC domestic companies and
its shareholders. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements and
other measures may not be as effective as direct legal ownership
in providing the Group with direct control over the PRC domestic
companies and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of the PRC domestic companies. The directors of
the Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider
that the Contractual Arrangements among WFOE companies,
PRC domestic companies and its shareholders are in compliance
with the relevant PRC laws and are legally enforceable.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered. The provision for
ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
is disclosed in note 21 and note 22 to the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of trade and bills receivables at December
31, 2023 was RMB329,955,000 (2022: RMB241,256,000). The
allowance for ECLs at December 31, 2023 was RMB15,193,000
(2022: RMB12,251,000).

The carrying amount of contract assets at December 31, 2023
was RMB130,087,000 (2022: RMB94,739,000). The allowance
for ECLs at December 31, 2023 was RMB5,659,000 (2022:
RMB3,874,000).

Inventories

The Group assesses periodically if cost of inventories may not be
recoverable based on an assessment of the net realisable value
of inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value
is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete
inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on the
conditions and usefulness of the inventories and the net realisable
value has been determined based on the ageing and expiry dates
of the inventories, condition of the goods and contracted selling
price to be recognized less all estimated remaining costs to
completion and costs necessary to provide the service. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of the inventories in the year in
which such estimate changes.

The carrying amount of inventories at December 31, 2023 was
RMB246,058,000 (2022: RMB280,332,000). The allowance for
inventories at December 31, 2023 was RMB2,481,000 (2022:
RMB3,557,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of other intangible
assets

The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual
values and related amortisation charges for its other intangible
assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of other intangible assets of similar nature
and functions and may vary significantly as a result of policy
changes and keen competitions from competitors, resulting
in higher amortisation charge and/or write-off or write-down
of technically obsolete assets when useful lives are less than
previously estimated. The Group will increase the amortisation
charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or will write-off or write-down obsolete assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Leases — estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognized to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the losses can be utilized,
management’s judgement is required to assess the probability
of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is revised
as necessary and additional deferred tax assets are recognized
if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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3.

220

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use.

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at December 31, 2023 was
RMB50,653,000 (2022: RMB79,823,000). Further details are
given in note 17.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

Specialty Pharmacy
Business

Operation of specialty pharmacy stores
and distribution of pharmaceutical
products to pharmaceutical companies
and other distributors.

Physician Research
Assistance Business

Offering pharmaceutical companies
and other clinical trial institutions
site management organization
services, including site feasibility, site
initiation, patient recruitment, patient
management, data entry and document
management, on-site drug management
and bio-sample management, site
closure and others; and offering services
for image management in clinical trials.

Health Insurance
Services Business

Providing insurance brokerage services
to insurance companies and health
management services to insurance
carriers and enterprise clients.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment gross
profit. No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as
management does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are
presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4.

e ER ()

For the year ended December 31, 2023 HZE2023F12A31HILFE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy  Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
BLEMR RERE
REEEXK EIES S PR % % @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TR AR¥TR AR%®Tx
Segment revenue SEWA 4,188,080 361,781 162,246 4,712,107
Segment results DEEE 195,958 114,617 104,123 414,698
Reconciliation: HE:
Other income and gains Hp A B e 76,469
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAY (292,320)
Administrative expenses THRX (347,788)
Research and development expenses ERY (45,947)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEBEEATH
REEE (9,965)
Other expenses Hifx (36,912)
Finance costs BEKA (3,489)
Share of profits and losses of an associate  JEff — 5Bk & A Al 7
RER 412)
Group’s loss before tax AEERHAERE (245,666)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. R&HI:ER (&)
For the year ended December 31, 2022 HZE2022F12A31B I FE
Physician Health
Specialty Research Insurance
Pharmacy Assistance Services
Business Business Business Total
BEE EERR
REEELHK EE RE%% @at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®Tn ARETT AR%TR
Segment revenue DEA 3,661,809 319,449 138,220 4,119,478
Segment results DEEE 183,345 66,233 87,769 337,352
Reconciliation: HE:
Other income and gains Hi A Rz 60,189
Seling and marketing expenses HEREHRAR (332,851)
Administrative expenses THRX (675,011)
Research and development expenses WEHES (62,650)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEBEEAT
KR EEE (5,466)
Change in fair value of convertible RE:BEHELT
redesmable preferred shares MRTEED (775,260)
Other expenses Hifx (11,035)
Finance costs BERNA (4,041)
Share of profits and losses of an associate ~ fEfE —FK B < A A& F
RER 331
Group’s loss before tax AEERTAERE (1,368,442)
Geographical information i EE R

During the reporting period, aimost all of the Group’s revenues
were derived from operations in the PRC and nearly all of the
Group’s non-current assets were located in Chinese Mainland.
No geographical segment information is presented in accordance
with IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Information about major customers
No further information about major customers is presented as

there was no single customer from which over 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue was derived during the reporting period.

RBEHE AEBETRERABR
BREMEEARNEEBRID IR
B AR B B A o RAR IR B B 75 4
EREAFSREE D BH2ER D EHE

¥ o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA EMWA KK
An analysis of revenue is as follows: U ADIFTIT :
Revenue from contracts with customers REEZEEESHHWA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information @ DBWAER
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFTT
Types of segmentation of business ¥ 5 @&
Specialty Pharmacy Business FFERBEE S TS 4,188,080 3,661,809
Physician Research Assistance BAEMMRHIES
Business 361,781 319,449
Health Insurance Services Business i FE 1R IR TS 5715 162,246 138,220

Total revenue from contracts with RERFPAELHILABEE
customers 4,712,107 4,119,478

Timing of revenue recognition ON A ST
Recognised at a point in time RE—FEEER 4,350,326 3,800,029
Recognised over time RNE—RFEEER 361,781 319,449

Total revenue from contracts with REBFPAELHILABEE

customers 4,712,107 4,119,478
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRITH®EBHREER A
recognized during the reporting period that were included S B ET ASHRERTH
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting A BaEYEABTEHERTHE
period and recognized from performance obligations A ZFEFERTER

satisfied in previous periods:

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Revenue recognised that was FARSHEINED
included in contract liabilities at E&EMNEERAWA :
the beginning of the reporting
period:
Specialty Pharmacy Business S 14,375 11,359
Physician Research Assistance BAEMRGIES
Business 107,632 120,437
Health Insurance Services Business & B (R % iR 75 % 75 - -
122, 007 131,796
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS WA (#8)
(CONTINUED)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Other income Hapdg A
Government grants* BT 8 B 25,326 20,157
Interest income FEHA 31,340 17,249
Total other income Hip g A 4258 56,666 37,406
Gains g
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE ZE FRF R - 8
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL BATFEFAEBRZN
TREENZ 17,357 22,355
Gains on lease termination, net mIFHE W F R 1,503 380
Gains on remeasurement of the Group’s ~ R UKEE B EiE Ht &
previously held equity interest at the REESLRFRB T
acquisition date % 4 B W 2 97 -
Others HAt 846 40
Total gains Wz 4R &E 19,803 22,783
Total other income and gains E A R Was 258 76,469 60,189

Government grants related to income that are received or receivables

as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the

purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no

future related costs recognized in profit or loss in the period upon actual

receipt.

* BB S RAERE EE X RIBIEN
WEHIANEBIRENE B FmHE
Yo ok FE 9 A - B 0 B K ER HA
B 18 25 T AR R SRAB B R A ©
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIAIEIR
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REEBNBBRAIBREKLHE (5T A)
NI EIEEFE
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKRAE 3,992,122 3,478,464
Cost of services provided FiT 2 AR 7% A A AR 305,287 303,662
Depreciation of property, plant and M- REREEITE
equipment (note 14)* (FftzE14) * 9,441 9,205
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTRAEEERE
(note 16(a))* (FMizE16(0)) * 34,800 31,807
Amortization of other intangible assets Bty EESE
(note 15)* (FftzE15) * 8,727 8,411
Government grants K i 178 BN (25,326) (20,157)
Interest income FEWA (31,340) (17,249)
Foreign exchange difference, net SNE Z= FBFRE 30 ®)
Impairment losses under ECL model BHEEEBEREXTY
BIEEE 9,965 5,466
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 17)  BERIEEE (KizE17) 31,281 -
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN BN & 3,300 2,136
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEERBENAX 1,446 2,694
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEME
assets BRANRX 4,920 1,565
Gains on financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFAERN
TR EE NS (17,357) (22,355)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME HE K
equipment HEHEE 996 702
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets 1 & H fth £ 12 & ZE #) 518 4 -
Gains on remeasurement of the Group’s ~ RUWE HEE#HE
previously held equity interest at the REEERIFA R IRE
acquisition date ol g (97) -
Listing expense FrREX - 21,970
4,328,199 3,806,313
Staff cost (excluding directors’ and chief B T A (TBRIFEESE K&
executive’s remuneration): BE=RTERABHH)
— Wages and salaries —TENFHS 566,428 599,295
— Pension scheme contributions — R &I 44,654 45,563
— Share-based payment compensation — DARR 5 75 EL B S A B 357 96,612 181,856
* The depreciation of plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use * SREAEOME L RETE - FHEE

assets and amortization of other intangible assets for each reporting
period are set out in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling and marketing
expenses” and “Research and development expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

EFEREMETLEEBHEHIINE G
Ba R EMEERERTH [TEFEX]
[$HE R IHF ) R [ 3R] o
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEKAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERKADHTIAT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(b)) HEAEMNE (KiE16(0)) 3,489 4,041
8. OTHER EXPENSES 8. Hthfix
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 17)  EERIEEE (MizE17) 31,281 -
Impairment losses of inventories FEREERE 2,246 3,382
Donations to not-for-profit organisations ¥ 3F & K| 48 4% 79 45 B 1,332 2,060
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE BEX
and equipment HIEHEE 996 702
Foreign exchange differences, net MEHZERFRE 30 -
Fair value loss on contingent consideration &1 sk SAH(E 2
payables N EEE 523 2,310
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets H & H ith # /2 & E #) 518 4 -
Others HAth 500 2,581
36,912 11,035
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9.

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEHM

BIE MR BB (RRIEH) B
383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) X (f) 15 A & <A 7] (3
BESFEER) RO FoSEEES
REAREBOT :

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREF T

Fees e 1,110 21
Other emoluments: H{th B < -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 288 & B ¥W4& F 4,131 3,217

Performance-related bonuses FIRBBIELT 441 255

Share-based payment compensation VARR A% 5 EE 7 S 1 9 5 B - 133,997

Pension scheme contributions RIREET MR 101 90

Subtotal INET 4,673 137,559

Total fees and other emoluments e Kk E A RRE 5,783 137,580

During the reporting period, options were granted to directors of
the Company in respect of their services to the Group, further
details of which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such share option award, which has been
recognized in profit or loss immediately upon the date of grant
or over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is set out in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023412531H

9. EEHM ()
(@) BYFHITES
FRXNTFBUENTES 2

the year were as follow: R (INE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi CHANG Stanley Yi
(3R, alias R ZE ) (Note (a) (3R B BIRBE) L4

(Mf3E@)) 378 9
Mr. He Haijian (Note (a)) AEREEE (@) 278 6
Ms. Huang Bei (Note (a)) =E L (M) 278 6
Mr. Fan Xin (Note (b)) BRE A (KisED)) 176 -
Total 15 1,110 21

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2022:
Nil).

Notes:
(@  Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (385, alias 5k 2 &F ) , Mr. He Haijian and
Ms. Huang Bei were appointed as independent non-executive

directors of the Company on December 23, 2022.

(b) Mr. Fan Xin was appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company on May 10, 2023.

F AN B JE B FEBTTE B 79 H b B

& (20224F : ) o

BT -

(@  CHANG Stanley Yi (3R} B ZRZ#) %
A A R R A I T 1S AL £ 2022412
A3 KR ARNARIBILIENITESE -

(b) BRI ER2023F5 A10B EZ T ARR
AN IENITES -
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 9. EEHM (&)

b) HITES RUTEER

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executives

BRETHAE

230

Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension Total
and benefits related scheme remuneration
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions in cash
4 2HR =EHEE RiRE:E REeHM
Be ENEF A (3 Fobc)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR ARET
2023 2023
Chief executive and ERTBAER
executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Ma Xuguang SHEELE - 2,143 - 24 2,167
Mr. Li Ji THELE - 1,988 441 77 2,506
Subtotal e - 4,131 441 101 4673
Non-executive directors:  FHITEE:
Mr. Yao Leiwen HENLE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ziguan (Note (a) K E#%E 4
(F3E@) - - - - -
Subtotal Ia - - - - -
Total @t - 4,131 441 101 4,673
2022 2022
Chief executive and BEETHAER
executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Ma Xuguang SRELE - 1,721 130 30 1,881
Mr. Li Ji = Yt - 1,49 125 60 1,681
Subtotal e - 3,217 255 ey 3,562
Non-executive directors:  FHTES:
Mr. Yao Leiwen kEX LS - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ziquan (Note (@) ~ RE#E%AE
(MH3E(@) - - - - -
Subtotal a - - - - -
Total Bt - 3,217 255 0 3,562
Notes: M

() Mr. Zhang Ziquan, who was a director of the Company, was
removed from the list of the directors of the Company on May

10, 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 0. EEEHM (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HITES - FEHITEER
and the chief executives (Continued) BRETHBAE ()
In addition, share-based payment expenses of nil (2022: It &b - ?ﬁﬁﬁjﬁ&?%ﬂﬂ%?ﬁ%&?
RMB46,848,000) and nil (2022: RMB87,149,000) are %ﬁﬁ‘ﬁiﬁ’ﬂé\lﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂ(falﬁ
respectively recognised in connection with the amortisation ks Bl )ﬁfﬁ% B BB AR *E:E"J PNEv)
of share options on the employee stock option plan Z%g%f?’ﬂﬁfkﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁig (2022
(“ESOP”) granted to Mr. Ma Xuguang and Mr. Li Ji. F: AR #®46,848,0007T) & T
(20224 : AR #87,149,0007T) °
There was no arrangement under which a director, fWﬁiﬂ%%%fﬁkﬁ%%ﬁﬁé
supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive EREIFAERECAHESNHZL
any remuneration during the year. BEo
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. T EEaFHEER
The five highest paid employees during the year included FANBRGHERBRBTE (2022F :
nil (2022: two) directors of the Company, details of whose MA)RRAE S HG M BN L
remuneration are set out in Note 9 above. Details of the XHEEQ - FHBA A (202:.25215%2
remuneration for the year of the five (2022: three) highest paid #f@@%%ﬁiﬁ%%ﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁ'ﬂ%%%ﬁ
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the BEFHBFBENT

Company are as follows:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 285 & B B 7,466 4,069
Performance-related bonuses FIRMEEIEAL 914 342
Share-based payment compensation VAR A7 4 EE 7 S 5 89 5 B 79,864 100,904
Pension scheme contributions IRIREFT I 5R 120 89
Total Bt 88,364 105,404
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED) 10. EE RS HER (&)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid HFMN A TSHENIEEE N IEERSTT
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is BAEESHEE ASWNT :
as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAE
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 T E
7,000,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 TE
8,500,000/ T 1 -
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 T E
9,000,0007& 7T 1 -
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 TE
10,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$13,500,001 to HK$14,000,000 13,500,001 T2
14,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 T2
17,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$61,000,001 to HK$61,500,000 61,000,001/ L&
61,500,000/7% 7T 1 -
HK$96,500,001 to HK$97,000,000 96,500,001/8 T2
97,000,0007% 7T - L
Total st 5 3
In prior years, share options and restricted shares were granted RBEFE BTIHEEZERIIEESTH
to certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid AERSHEEMREST M AEEIREMEN
employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details ARG ER BB HE R R HIA (0 EE— 25
of which are included in the disclosures in note 32 to the financial HIEEN B R RN IR EE R -
statements. The fair value of such options and restricted shares, ZEERELTRESIEOHATEEE R
which has been recognized in profit or loss immediately upon the ZEFE T AN BEEHAN B SRR
date of grant or over the vesting period, was determined as at the WL B HEE et ARNFE TS
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements WMEMSBEFTALAIEERIERS
for the current year is included in the above non-director and THRAEGESHEEFHIIFE-
non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.
INCOME TAX 11. FiiE%:

11.

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is
not subject to tax on income or capital gains.
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11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

11.
Hong Kong

On March 21, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”),
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on March 28, 2018 and was gazette on the
following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.
The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries with estimated assessable profits for its
annual reporting period ended on or after April 1, 2018.

Chinese Mainland

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the EIT rate
of the PRC subsidiaries was 25% during the reporting period
unless subject to tax concession set out below.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the effective tax rate
is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

Fri3® (&)
&t

MR2018F3A21H FEBL L E BB
COTERF (1BFT) (BT KHIE
=) (T xpIEZR) 1) 5| AmARSIF
SRESIE - RPIEZR) R20185F3A
28HHEM AEE WHIXBTIE-

EMBHFESHEHET 2EHBQA]
A 852,000,000/ 7T 4 F) #5 428.25% H) £
REF - 12,000,000 7T A &Y % F i
1216.5% B T = BB - M AR 1 ) 45 7 R
FIEEANAEBER2018F4A1HEH 2
BEERNEERE B H TS ERT
SmAEEBH B AT

B A it

REFECEMSHE([EEMEHR
B REERFREB RG] - o B
BRRRBERRNEEMERMES
25% ' FRIFER T X ESR -

BOREBERAENER NGB ATEER
HIAF S IR BRI R E R IARM X
BRI

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T

Loss before tax bR H R BT B (245,666) (1,368,442)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% 23 R T R 25% 5T E R R T8 (61,416) (342,111)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A X 13,349 86,028
Different tax rates enacted by local authority 77 # B8 %l & #97F [F it & 31,059 193,815
Deductible temporary differences and tax 7] # F1 & B 14 2= 8 2 K FER

losses not recognised or utilised SR EBRARIEEE 18,049 65,590
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate FRIEANEBEER RE

for the year YA 18 A 2 1,041 3,322
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11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 1. &M (&)
Chinese Mainland (Continued) FEIAL (&)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the WARBA T ZRERRELEHIBEE
following items:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Tax losses IR E 18 1,418,911 1,195,364
Deductible temporary differences AENEREER 29,356 72,008
1,448,267 1,067,372
The accumulated tax losses at December 31, 2023 was 72023512431 B M R BUARIRA A
RMB1,418,911,000 (2022: RMB1,195,364,000). The tax losses R #1,418,911,0007E (20224F : AR #
in the PRC can be carried forward for five years to offset future 1,195,364,0007T ) * A1 B ) £ I8 &5 48 A
taxable profit. The tax losses of those companies in the PRC will HEE AT DK fﬁﬂ@W&E B e
expire in one to five years for offsetting against taxable profits. AREHEERTA HNZSEPEHAFH
BMIEEBEBEN —ERFREIE-
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these WARZEEERAELEREEE R
losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be ;Eé*ﬁ_ BARRIARRTAA BE R A AR
available against which the tax losses can be utilized. FERTARBATIEERE-
12. DIVIDEND 12. R E

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
the year (2022: Nil).
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13.
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 644,081,816 (2022: 112,475,216) in issue during the year.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation has excluded the treasury shares held in trust of the
Company as detailed in note 31.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share
option scheme and the conversion of preferred shares had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

BAREERRISE ARN
BRE
EREAEBESHRZFATRAER
BaFAEARGFRNBEREZETER
A% hn#EE ¥ 15 21644,081,816% (20224 :
112,475 2160 st E st EF AN L B
FEINE I E IR AR A THELIFE
BEFR D B RMEEST -

i ]

MR ER R E M ERELERAOTEY
FI2PMEREAEECREEREEY
25, My 3 A T 20234F 22022412 A
SIHLEFEEINEREREBSEE
A

BRERNBRENATEEE:

2023 2022
2023F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Loss [}
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders £ 2 &) & i@ #E 25 35 A A JE(
of the parent (RMB’000) BB (ARETFIT) (255,768) (1,370,572
Ordinary shares ZER
Weighted average number of ordinary FESRENBEEAN
shares in issue during the year used in the N 2 217 & B A% h14E
basic loss per share calculation FHE 644,081,816 112,475,216
Loss per share (RMB per share) BREE (ERAR®ET) (0.40) (12.19)
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

236

14. ¥ -BEKRE

Furniture
Electronic and Motor  Leasehold Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles improvements in progress Total
BTt HBRREE RE HENEEE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%T:
December 31, 2023 2023%F12831H
At 1 January 2023: R2023F1 A18 :
Cost A 8,334 10,452 1,008 42,622 365 62,781
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (5,990) (6,201) (719) (32,017) - (44,927)
Net carrying amount RERE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854
At January 1, 2023, net of R2023F1A18
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854
Additions nE 621 - 1,143 2,730 867 5,361
Disposals & (68) (361) (27) (719) - (1,175)
Acaquisition of subsidiaries Wk B A 368 - - 528 - 896
Transfers B - - - 364 (364) -
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHRITE
the year (1,647) (1,226) (212 (6,356) - (9,441)
At December 31, 2023, net of 2023128318
accumulated depreciation Nk EIE 1,618 2,664 1,193 7,152 868 13,495
At December 31, 2023: P2023F12A318
Cost KA 8,818 7,898 2,058 31,451 868 51,093
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (7,200) (5,234) (865) (24,299) - (37,598)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,618 2,664 1,193 7,152 868 13,495
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023412531H

14. Y% -BERRHE (&)

Furniture
Electronic and Motor Leasehold ~ Construction
equipment fixtures vehicles  improvements in progress Total
BT#HE HBRREE RE MEMERE ERIR CHy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
December 31, 2022 2022%12831R
At January 1, 2022: R2022F1A18
Cost KR 7,234 12,778 936 42,975 341 64,264
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,333 (5,962) (570) (28,707 - (39,572)
Net carrying amount FmFE 2,901 6,816 366 14,268 341 24,692
At January 1, 2022, net of R2022F1 818
accumulated depreciation MR EHTE 2,901 6,816 366 14,268 341 24,692
Additions e 1,425 199 74 1,287 1,064 4,049
Disposals & (61) (259 2 (410) - (732)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FNBAR - (950) - - - (950)
Transfers B - - - 1,040 (1,040) -
Depreciation provided during R RHTE
the year (1921) (1,558) (149) (5,580) - (9,205)
At December 31, 2022, net of 720225124318
accumulated depreciation Nk EFIE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854
At December 31, 2022: 2022127318
Cost PR 8,334 10,452 1,008 42,622 365 62,781
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (5,990) (6,201) (719) (32,017) - (44.927)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,344 4,251 289 10,605 365 17,854

At the end of each reporting period, no property, plant and

equipment of the Group was pledged.

REBREHR  AEBREETERD
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. Hitb | EE

Software Licenses Total
B4 Et] et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®¥T T AR®T T
December 31, 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2023, net of 7202341 A1 BB A -
accumulated amortisation Bk R 514 8 12,019 44,163 56,182
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE — KT B A &) - 740 740
Disposals & 4 - 4)
Amortisation during the year FNEE (2,092) (6,635) (8,727)
At December 31, 2023 72023F12A31H 9,923 38,268 48,191
At December 31, 2023 R2023F12 A31H
Cost BN 15,484 63,066 78,550
Accumulated amortisation SET (5,561) (24,798) (30,359)
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,923 38,268 48,191
December 31, 2022 2022%12H31H
Cost at January 1, 2022, net of 202241 A1 H &I 7 -
accumulated amortisation bR R AT 5 11,179 50,346 61,525
Additions NE 3,068 - 3,068
Amortisation during the year FNEE (2,228) (6,183) (8,411)
At December 31, 2022 HR2022F12 A31H 12,019 44,163 56,182
At December 31, 2022 FR2022F12 A31H
Cost DN 16,556 61,825 78,381
Accumulated amortisation 2T E (4,537) (17,662) (22,199)
Net carrying amount REFE 12,019 44,163 56,182
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16. LEASES 16.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 1 and
10 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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December 31, 2023 2023412531H

HE

AEBEREBEA

AEEG B RS T AEAH
EFRENBE BN FIE10F - — R
ERT ARBTEEHELENRR
SREAEEUNEE-

() EMEEE

A g 05 PR EE OB T 8 T
EREBNT

Buildings

BF

RMB’000

AR®T T

As at January 1, 2023 7R2023F1H1H 71,009

Additions as a result of acquisition of WEEMT B AR EE 2

subsidiaries iz 1,648
Additions =T 40,346
Termination el (10,592)
Depreciation charge WEER (34,800)

As at December 31, 2023 72023412 H31H 67,611
As at January 1, 2022 20221 A1H 89,108

Additions NE 18,691
Termination Ik (4,635)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (348)
Depreciation charge WEEHA (31,807)
As at December 31, 2022 72022912 H31H 71,009
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16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERFEBEA ()
(b) Lease liabilities b HEBE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

HEREBENREERRES BN

during the reporting period are as follows: BEAT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFT
Carrying amount at the beginning FHEREE
of the year 67,764 87,018
Additions MEE 40,346 18,691
Additions as a result of acquisition of UBEMIE A RIEL 2
subsidiaries iz 1,734 £
Accretion of interest recognised F AR L2
during the year 3,489 4,041
Payments (N (35,681) (34,104)
Termination gl (12,095) (5,015)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEW B QR - (379)
Lease concessions HEEE - (2,488)
Carrying amount at the end FRREE
of the year 65,557 67,764
Analysed into: EIV=E
Current portion mENEL D 26,218 29,019
Non-current portion IETRBEBD 39,339 38,745

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
39 to the financial statements.

HESENIHBERS TR
TR M 5399 = o
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16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEAEBEA (E)
(€) The amounts recognized in profit or loss in c MHEHERERZERNERE
relation to leases are as follows: (I N
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR®ETTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEREMNE 3,489 4,041
Depreciation charge of right-of-use £ A& & E!’] mEEBR
assets 34,800 31,807
Gains on lease termination, net WIEHEWZFEE (1,503) (380)
Expense relating to short-term leases* £252 HAFH E A REAY B * 1,446 2,694
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEENERMN
low-value assets* F > 4,920 1,565
Lease concessions HEER - (2,488)
Total amount recognised in RIB SR
profit or loss 43,152 37,239
* Included in “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and marketing * FAGHBREREMEE RS
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and WITBAS] R ffﬁ%&MﬁEﬁ
other comprehensive income. Xle
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 34(c) to (d) %ﬁjéf B AR BB B S R K
the financial statements. FiE34(C) °
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17. GOODWILL 17. BE
RMB’000
AR®T T
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 1202241 18 k2022412 A31H
Cost X 7 79,823
Accumulated impairment ZFHRE -
Net carrying amount IREDFE 79,823
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 720231 A1 8 A RRA -
impairment bk 25HRE 79,823
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) U s — b B 2 7] (FMiFE33) 2,111
Impairment during the year FANRE (31,281)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 202312 A31H BIKAN & R E F (B 50,653
At 31 December 2023: MR2023F12 8318 :
Cost DN 81,934
Accumulated impairment RETRE (31,281)
Net carrying amount BRmEFE 50,653

On January 6, 2023, goodwill of RMB2,111,000 arose from the
acquisition of Hubei Siweite Pharmacy Co., Ltd.(j#1k B4 A
BEREAFR A A, formerly known as B4 L B @5 KB E (G
1t ) B R A 7 Sinopharm Holdings Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co.,
Ltd., “Hubei Siweite”) as detailed in note 33 to the financial
statements.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
Taiyuan Taikang Xinte Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (K RZEREHF XN EE
BRRF], “Taiyuan Taikang”), Shenyang Sanheyuan Pharmacy
Co., Ltd. CBIS =& & %EBR A7, “Shenyang Sanheyuan”),
Beijing Renbo Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (It RICBAEEFRETA
7], “Beijing Renbo”) and Hubei Siweite as cash-generating units
(the “CGUSs”) for impairment testing.
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17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to these CGUs are as
follows:
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17. B E (&)

B R ER ()

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Taiyuan Taikang 7( J? %’TSK 1,061 13,374
Shenyang Sanheyuan EEZAK 28,700 28,700
Beijing Renbo ib )?\1 5] 18,781 37,749
Hubei Siweite AL B 2,111 -
50,653 79,823

Goodwill is tested by management for impairment annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable amount
of the CGUs has been determined based on a value in use
(“VIU”) calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the
cash flow projections ranged from 18.00% to 19.30% (2022:
19.00% to 20.80%). The revenue growth rate used to determine
the cash flows during the five-year period ranged from 5.25% to
12.45% (2022: 9.79% to 18.14%). The terminal growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the period is 2.3% (2022:
2.3%). Such estimation is based on management’s expectations
for the market development.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Revenue growth rate — The basis used to determine the budgeted
revenue is based on management’s expectation and also
expectation of the future market.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on management’s expectations and does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
CGUs.

EEETFLERET (MEMFBRE
BB REEEURRE) UEBETH
BAR -ReEEBMNAIKEEEE )
AERNFREE(EREEDTEME
FeosrtEFERENEEEMENRER
FHEMNMBEENHRESRBA R
RERAMKBORANRXEEA
18.00% %19.30% (20224 : 19.00% =
2080%) AR EERAFHERERE
R IR A IS K R & [E 55.25% £12.45%
(20224 : 9.79% £18.14% ) » AR #E
ETEASNR © M E M KA R E B2.3%
(2022%F :2.3%) c ZHETEREIEEH
MiZBERERATEH -

PATT 8 2t ' B T A HE 1T 7 B R (BB S
FBRR S REMRANZRERERR:

BR A% AR IR R — P A A RE 3R R QRR R
AIALIR R R BB U AR T
2\ Bz o

WA KRR -BEREWAFERHAK
BHERERENEHEERRTIZH
B

KABRE-FBAK A RERTIERNE
BEEMNBES NMEERREELEMNM
FITENRIITFI9ERER.
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17.

244

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

According to the results of impairment testing, the Group
recognized impairment losses of RMB12,313,000 and
RMB18,968,000 in 2023 with respect to goodwill allocated to
Taiyuan Taikang and Beijing Renbo, respectively.

In relation to CGUs for which no impairment was recognized,
management of the Company has performed sensitivity test by
decreasing 1% of expected revenue, decreasing 1% of terminal
growth rate or increasing 1% of pre-tax discount rate, with all
other assumptions held constant. The impacts on the amount
of each CGU’s recoverable amount above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:
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17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 17. BE (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) BEBEIR (&)
Taiyuan Shenyang Beijing Hubei
Taikang Sanheyuan Renbo Siweite

AREE BEB=6% tZ-E R RER

2023 20234
Headroom ERER - 25,430 = 1,477
Impact by decreasing WA TR ANZE

expected revenue NA R iE A (23,7300 NA TEH (1,327)
Impact by decreasing terminal B&{K 7k A 12 & R &)

growth rate - NA FiE A (21,830) NA T~EH (1,277)
Impact by increasing pre-tax 3% i1k &7 AT B4 3R K &Y

discount rate wE NA 73 A (18,930) NA ~EHA (1,047)
2022 20224
Headroom fRER 2,520 5,839 3,505 NA 3 A
Impact by decreasing WA TR AR T E

expected revenue (1,020) (839) (505)  NA i A
Impact by decreasing terminal B&{K 7k A 18 & R &)

growth rate we (1,220) (3,839) (1,505) NA @A
Impact by increasing pre-tax 3% i1 &7 AT 85 3R K &Y

discount rate T (320) (839) (505) NA 7@
Except for these, any reasonable possible changes in the other Bt AN - SHEFEREEFERANEMR
assumptions used in the value in use calculation would not HEEMAIEA eSO T e EER
affect management’s view on impairment as at the end of each SHREEEAMBENEE-
reporting period.
The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and T A iE Eﬁz &i R ARG BRA
growth rate are consistent with external information sources. BERIEEMAR—2
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18.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

18. %’A$EE‘I‘)\E%§E’9$E§§

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®ET T

Wealth management products B Em 80,230 —
Structured deposits BT 281,073 —
Monetary fund BEEEE 117,045 =
Total st 478,348 =

As at December 31, 2023, the financial assets at FVTPL
represented floating return monetary fund, wealth management
products and structured deposits issued by certain banks, with
expected return rates ranging from 2.30% to 5.42% per annum.

R2023F12H318 A FEFTAER
MEemMEERS TIRITEITHIZEER
EREe BUWEGRMEBEMTR TE
HAE R R h F F2.30% £5.42% T ©

19. INVENTORIES 19. &
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFIT
Trading merchandise H 5 m 248,539 283,889
Less: Provision for impairment R E A (2,481) (3,557)
Net carrying amount IRmEEE 246,058 280,332
Movements in provision for impairment of inventories are as TERERESESHEOT
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ETF T
At beginning of year F9 3,557 2,471
Provision for the year F RS 2,246 3,382
Write-off for the year F A E (3,322) (2,296)
At end of year FR 2,481 3,557
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20. CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

20. REFHANRE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Cash held on behalf of clients REFEZEENR S 299,755 334,599

The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on
behalf of insurance companies from the insurance consumers in a
fiduciary capacity until it is disbursed to the insurance carriers.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

R EE RS HRIRRA AN
RIEBE WM R T EERIRR
ARZH B

21. ESRRFIEREBRFERE

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT T AREFIT

Bills receivables e E 4% 429 5,327
Trade receivables g 5 WA 344,719 248,180
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEE (15,193) (12,251)
Net carrying amount BREFE 329,955 241,256

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for individual customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally from one month
to two months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
and bills receivables balances. The balances of trade and bills
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEEBREEPHRHHEREZRRE

BEARP —RARMNNK -EEH—
RNF—EAZMEAR - NEEZKEY
HR Y 13 # 8 U R TR AR B BR AR A Il - 75
KEEREEERR -BHRESRBSTR
EEETHEHN AKBYLENE FHE
WkIE & FE M SR B A R S B 3R
S E A S AIE R A B 5 RRFA R
R RIBEHR TR
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21. (%’ ZEWRERERELE

&)

A& s BRI R Y B 5 FE YRR I B W
SEENEZEHYHKREREEESE

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end
of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of

allowance for expected credit losses, is as follows: ﬁgﬁm O
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Within 6 months 6f&E A A 311,170 214,184
6 to 12 months 6Z 1218 A 18,751 24,114
Over 12 months Bim121E A 34 2,958
Total 5 329,955 241,256

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables were detailed in note 22 to the financial

BHRWRBEAREEERBEENED
BRI EmRMT 22 -

statements.
22. CONTRACT ASSETS 22 SHNEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T

Contract assets BHEE 135,746 98,613
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (5,659) (3,874)
Net carrying amount RMEEE 130,087 94,739

248

The contract assets primarily arise from the Group’s Physician
Research Assistance Business segment, representing the
Group’s right to consideration for services completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned upon the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified milestones as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional.
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 22,

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses on
trade receivables and contract assets are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

BHNEE (&)

BHRBFARAGNEENTAMEER
BREENESMT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
At beginning of year F4) 16,125 12,420
Impairment losses, net of reversal B ET 1R - IR B (0] 5,303 6,004
Amount written off as uncollectible Wi AEENEIN SRR (576) (2,299)
At end of year FR 20,852 16,125

The Group determines the ECLs on these items by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on the financial quality of
debtors and historical credit loss experience based on the ageing
of the trade receivables and status of underlying projects related
to the contract assets, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current
conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. The
following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and
contract assets by ageing presented based on invoice date at the
end of each reporting period:

AEBEERREEEETRMEARNE
HEEBER REEFANMBERRL
ERNEZRYGARKRNESNEESR
FAH)HERETR B ANV E L (E BB R R
BT AFHBEERE URBRE

Hﬁbﬁ&ﬂfﬁxi%@ﬁﬁ/ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁr &
pﬂFL A EHREMHRREZ AW
%ga%wiu E’J%ﬁ%fﬂ& RENENEE
MR 15

As at December 31, 2023
"2023F12H31H

Expected Expected

Amount credit loss rate credit losses

S8 BHEEFRERE BHEEFR

RMB’000 % RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥T T

Within 6 months (note a) 6E AR (M3Ea) 450,738 2.20 9,910
6 to 12 months 62 121E A 19,145 2.06 394
Over 12 months #Bi@121E A 10,582 99.68 10,548
Total @t 480,465 20,852
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 22, EHEE (&)

As at December 31, 2022
72022912 A31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
Gkt BHEEEBEX BHEEEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AREFT ARBF T
Within 6 months (note a) 68 AN (Mizta) 310,665 2.28 7,069
6 to 12 months 6= 121E A 24,625 2.08 511
Over 12 months Bim12{E A 11,503 74.28 8,545
Total HET 346,793 16,125
Note a: The contract assets were presented in the ageing bucket of “within Miz¥a: ZELAHBER6MAN| HEERA
6 months” since they primarily relate to the Group’s right to the B2 HEFESRAEERE T
consideration for work completed but not yet billed. REMAFAIBEENTRKERREZ
TR o
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and TRIFMIZEETIE P BEZPNE S E
contract assets by class of credit rating: WERIBA RS NBENRBIRR

As at December 31, 2023
A2023F12H31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate credit losses

£ AMEEEEE AHGEEER

RMB’000 % RMB’000

AR¥T T AR® T

State-owned enterprises BhE 233,538 1.82 4,254

Listed companies EWAF 194,576 3.79 7,384
Non-listed private companies and 3 b FL&E A E] R HAL

others 52,351 17.60 9,214

Total HEt 480,465 20,852
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22. CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

23.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023412531H

2 SNEE (&)

As at December 31, 2022
R2022F12 A31H

Expected Expected
Amount credit loss rate  credit losses
k| TEHEEEEX EHEEEE
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
State-owned enterprises B 164,584 0.76 1,250
Listed companies N /NG 130,560 4.28 5,589
Non-listed private companies and 3 F AL & A &) K E A
others 51,649 17.98 9,286
Total #ET 346,793 16,125
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 23. E{{ ;X 1B - HMEW KB R
ASSETS Lfth &=
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Non-current: JFERB:
Rental deposits HEE: 7,475 7,384
Total 4t 7,475 7,384
Current: e
Price adjustment compensation and ERFAREELRERERT
purchase rebate (note a) (M3Ea) 66,154 52,325
Fund receivables from external payment &Y IMNEB 32 o 4B 4% 42 (1 & Y
network providers (note b) Ee (ko) 4,932 5,384
Value-added tax recoverable A U B 42 (B F 11,862 9,979
Prepayments AT KIB 28,514 28,940
Staff advances BT#X 852 963
Loans due from non-controlling JE KB B8 2 B P IR AR 3R
shareholders of subsidiaries (note c) ER (MsEe) 41,984 24,605
Other receivables Hoth jE SRR 2,241 13,643
Impairment allowance DRIk L] (6,023) (1,673)
Total Bt 150,516 134,166

BRRBEREERAT —F-=FFH 251



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g R

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

The balance mainly represents purchase rebates receivable and
amounts due from pharmaceutical companies to compensate the
Group for the reduced sales price of drugs sold in the Group’s
specialty pharmacies under the centralized procurement policies.

The balance represents the receivables from payment processors
such as China UnionPay, WeChat and Alipay or aggregators
that are cash due from them for clearing transactions. The cash
was paid by individual customers of pharmacy stores through
these payment processors or aggregators for selling medicines in
specialty by the Group.

The Group had provided short-term loans to Taiyuan Xinzeyuan
Medical Technology Consulting Co., Ltd (A R %2 & %8 & £ i
& #AMR AR and Liaoning Xinyi Pharmaceutical Trade Co.,
Ltd. ((EZEREBEHEE 5 HR2AF), which are non-controlling
shareholders of Taiyuan Taikang and Shenyang Sanheyuan
respectively, amounting to RMB41,768,000 in total. The short-term
loans were secured by pledged minority equity interests of
Taiyuan Taikang, Shanxi Siweite Health Management Consulting
Co., Ld (ILABHFRREERAZAMNAR LA, Shanxi Sipai
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ( 178 8k 2 445 R A 7)) and Shenyang
Sanheyuan held by these two non-controlling shareholders.

The allowance for expected credit losses related to receivable

of price

adjustment compensation and purchase rebates at

December 31, 2023 was RMB6,023,000 (2022: RMB1,673,000).
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24. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH 24 EHEF BEBEREIR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS eREAESEEY
Time deposits TEHIER
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Time deposits over three months but less =1 A LA HB{ER —F K
than one year* T HATT 155,854 75,146
Time deposits over one year* —F LA E B 175,573 -
331,427 75,146
Denominated in: AT EETE
RVB AR 331,427 75,146
331,427 75,146

Time deposits are made for depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the time deposit rates.
The time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

* EHEFRRFAEENRRSERM
FE - W% FE B F AR 2R BREUH B, - TE B
BEREALCHL EENELNEERI

history of default. KIERITI -

Pledged deposits 2B EFER
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFIT
Pledged deposits* B ER 147,115 76,170

Denominated in: AR EEEHE :

RMB AR 147,115 76,170
147,115 76,170

*

Pledged deposits are pledged for letters of credit and bills payables.

- EEMERTIERERENREED
B
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24. TIME DEPOSITS, PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH

2. ERER CHAGTHER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) ERBEELZEEY (&)
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Cash on hand FHEIRE 778 865
Cash at banks RITIRE 494,647 1,454,589
Cash and cash equivalents BENREEEY 495,425 1,455,454
Denominated in: AT E¥EE:
RMB AR 446,825 932,253
uUsD =TT 42,141 362,235
HK$ BT 6,459 160,966
Total cash and bank balances Be MIBTTHERERE 495,425 1,455,454

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to

conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

ARBARIERABAEMER - A
REBEFEAA HMNEEHIERG) K (&
E-BELMNEEERT)  AEEEE
BBERERRIMNERBHRITAAR

BHRBMEMER-

RITIRE UERE B IRTTFRARAF
B R B RITHEBR L E BT FRE
AN 8 W R SV E B R AP ROERTT

mo

25. ESENRERENEE

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T AR®ETF T

Trade and bills payables B SRS FIBERENEE 464,269 340,051
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25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

26.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of
each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

25. EZRNFERENTRE (&)

RE & MR AR E 5 8 508 K
REENBZRHRRE DT :

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T AREF T

Within 1 month AR 329,511 239,059

1 to 3 months 1231E A 124,903 78,316

3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 5,834 16,772

Over 6 months 618 A LA+ 4,021 5,904

Total et 464,269 340,051
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are normaly & 5 & ﬁiﬂ ERENEBETTE  —RR=

settled within three months. BARLEE -

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. HittENRERETER

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Salary and welfare payables FE1T & & AR F 97,832 96,504
Other taxes payable H b S B IR 23,577 19,480
Insurance premium payables (note a) FEfS IR E (MizTa) 299,755 334,599
Accrued expenses e 19,877 10,350
Payables arising from acquisition of W B B A R E A/
subsidiaries FERT5RIR - 200
Payables for other intangible assets B EL A ST & EE RN RIE - 388
Accrued listing expenses JERT ETHR X 2,153 9,164
Consideration and withholding tax BOEERHRER
payables for repurchase of Preferred JET TR
Shares (note 30) (FfF3E30) 5,164 22,953
Advance payments received for BL AR 8 B AR A LER Y B 3K
subscription of share options (note b) (FfizEDb) 12,150 9,628
Others i) 6,490 4,833
Total BT 466,998 508,099
Note a: The balance represents the premiums collected by the Group on Mitta: MASREREBEUZESHRRERF]
behalf of insurance company from the insurance consumers in a RRBEEEWEIRREE  EZ= MR
fiduciary capacity until disbursed to the insurance carriers. BARIX AL -
Note b: The amount represented payments received from employees for Mizib : S FIEHRE2017FEREE (F

subscribing vested shares under the 2017 Share Option Plan (as
defined in note 32 to the financial statements). As at December 31,
2023, these ordinary shares for these vested share options are yet
to be legally registered and the subscriptions received from these
individuals are recorded as advance payments.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing.

EAMBHMRMER)ETHERE
B A7 T 4 1 B U HR B 3038 © 1220234
12A31R ZEEREBRENEA
B AR B EERD - B % S E A Y
VRBRIEIIARRBK -

Hip ARG
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EHNEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®¥T T AREFTT
Contract liabilities aHarE 181,898 170,724
Contract liabilities include advance payment of site management SN EEEREETIBAMRE RESD
organisation service and pharmaceutical products. AR
28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. RIT R HMERK
2023 2022
20234 20224
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate(%) Maturity RMB’000 rate(%) Maturity RMB’000
ERA= B HI=
(%) 2 ARET T (%) A AREFTT
Current B EA
Bank loans — FITER— 4.05 February 23, 2,000 - - -
unsecured FEIR 2024
2024%F2H23H
Total Bt 2,000 -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Analysed into: P2 I=
Bank borrowings within one year —FERFRITERK 2,000 -
Total et 2,000 -
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29.

30.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

20, ELERIBEEE

Total
mat
2023 20234 RMB’000
AR®T T
Net deferred tax liabilities at January 1, 2023 20231 A1B 2 REFH BB EF5E 1,335
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KM B A A 185
Charged to the consolidated statement of STAEHERKEMEEKR R
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 1,096
Net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2023 R2023F 12 A31H ZiREFR EE (F
SRR 2,616
Total
#Er
2022 20224 RMB’000
AREFTT
Net deferred tax liabilities at January 1, 2022 20221 AR 2 IRIETH IR B (&) F 58 1,519
Credited to the consolidated statement of FAGHEREREMEEKRR
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (184)
Net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2022 R2022F 12 A31H iR A& EF
¥ 1,335

CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED SHARES  30. TJ & i A] BE O] 18 5 iR

From 2015 to 2021, the Company entered into share purchase
agreements with several independent investors and issued
30,212,766 series A convertible redeemable preferred shares
(“Series A Preferred Shares”), 10,734,346 series A-1
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series A-1 Preferred
Shares”), 61,597,648 series B convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series B Preferred Shares”), 51,961,063 series C
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series C Preferred
Shares”), 68,367,102 series D convertible redeemable preferred
shares, 86,584,964 series D+ convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series D+ Preferred Shares”), 191,188,762 series E
convertible redeemable preferred shares (“Series E Preferred
Shares”), 35,928,808 series F convertible redeemable preferred
shares (“Series F Preferred Shares”).

Series A Preferred Shares, Series A-1 Preferred Shares, Series B
Preferred Shares, Series C Preferred Shares, Series D Preferred
Shares, Series D+ Preferred Shares, Series E Preferred Shares
and Series F Preferred Shares are collectively referred to as
Preferred Shares.

2015F £=2021F » ARA R BB & T B
&8 & 5] M BB RR 17 5 W 3 1730,212,766
A Em A ERHE LR ([ARE %X
B 1) ~10,734,3460% A-1%5 7] 82 4 7] §5 0]
B ([A-18RmEER]) - 61,597,648
MeBim A e A] BB CE LA ([BER{E %
B 1) ~51,961,0630% C ¥ 7] &2 $2 7] #E [0
BAEKR(ICHEBER]) 68,367,102/
D &g 0] 82 3% 7] §E [8] 18 5% % - 86,584,964
% D+ B n] 82 4 0] 8 BB 2L A% ([ D+ W18
5B ) ~191,188,7620% E s 7] & #a o] iE
EESLRE ((EmEER]) - 35,928,808
M Fégr] SR 0] B OB A% ([FERE %
B&l) o

ATR{E TR A-1ERE SRR - BEE ST

CHmfB i DB D+ @WEL
E¥m @ St S F R 8 eI et R B e i -
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30. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED SHARES  30. o] ¥ n] g B8 £ IR (&)

(CONTINUED)

Details of the key terms of the Preferred Shares, were set out in
note 31 of Appendix | in the prospectus published on December
12, 2022.

In April and June 2021, the Company entered into a series of
share repurchase agreements with certain of existing holders of
preferred shares to repurchase 1,148,936 Series A-1 Preferred
Shares, 6,110,920 Series C Preferred Shares and 12,000,000
Series D Preferred Shares with reference to the share price of
the latest round of financing immediately before the relevant
repurchase for repurchase consideration of RMB10,745,000,
RMB57,763,000 and RMB161,291,000 respectively. In 2021, the
Company estimated and withheld RMB22,953,000 for tax when
paid the consideration of repurchase of the Preferred Shares. In
2023, the Company finalized the amount of withholding tax and
paid RMB17,789,000 to respective tax authorities. The remaining
amount of RMB5,164 withheld in 2021 will be repaid to the then
holders of the Preferred Shares in 2023.

The Group and the Company have designated the Preferred
Shares as whole as financial liabilities carried at FVTPL. The
change in fair value of the Preferred Shares is charged to profit or
loss except for the portion attributable to credit risk change that
shall be charged to other comprehensive income. Management
considered that the fair value change in the Preferred Shares
attributable to changes of own credit risk is not significant.

All issued Preferred Shares had been automatically converted
into 536,575,459 ordinary shares upon the successful IPO of
the Company on December 23, 2022 and the then fair value of
financial liabilities of RMB8,924,829,000 had been reclassified to
equity accordingly.
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31. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 31. RAEKEFRG
The Company was incorporated in May 2015 with an authorised RN A FR20155%5 A sk i A S - 7k & IR
share capital of USD200,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 ordinary 7K &200,0003 7T 9 A2,000,000,0004%
shares (“ordinary shares”) with a par value of USD0.0001 each. % M {E0.0001E TR T @Ak ([ 3@
Bg]) e
Shares &y
2023 2022
2023F 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
761,500,114 (2022: 763,025,314) 761,500,114[%
ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each (20224 : 763,025,314/% )
% E{E0.00013E T H)
il 516 517
A summary of movements in the share capital is as follows: PR AR EEE T
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
CRITROEA [
RMB’000
AREFTT
At January 1, 2022 R20229F1A1H 219,199,231 138
Issue of shares from IPO (note a) BAARBEETRG
(HtzEra) 9,919,400 7
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note b) fEE EmAR (MIsEb) (2,668,776) @)
Conversion of redeemable convertible BRARBERER
preferred shares to ordinary shares upon A 53 {8 5 JR 0 A 3@
IPO (note ¢) B (FtsEce) 536,575,459 374
At December 31, 2022 and 2022%F12 A31H &
January 1, 2023 202341 H1H 763,025,314 517
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note d) FEE AR (MI5Ed) (1,525,200) 1)
At December 31, 2023 R2023F12 A31H 761,500,114 516
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31. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
(CONTINUED)

260

Shares (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

On December 23, 2022, the Company issued a total of 9,919,400
ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each at the price of HK$18.60 per
share by means of IPO.

In October 2022, the Company repurchased and cancelled 2,668,776
ordinary shares with a par value of USD0.0001 from two special
purpose vehicle shareholders. The repurchased ordinary shares were
reserved for 2017 Share Option Plan and had not been granted to
any eligible award recipient before the repurchase.

All the 536,575,459 outstanding Preferred Shares were automatically
converted into ordinary shares based upon the completion of IPO on
December 23, 2022.

In 2023, the Company repurchased and cancelled 1,525,200 ordinary
shares with a par value of USD0.0001 at total consideration of
RMB10,117,000.

Treasury shares

On August 30, 2023, the Company adopted the 2023 Share

Award Scheme (2023 Scheme”).

In 2023, the Company

repurchased 8,465,200 ordinary shares for the 2023 Scheme
at total consideration of RMB61,164,000. None of the share
reserved for 2023 Scheme has been granted as at December 31,

2023.
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32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
2017 Share Option Plan

The Company adopted a share incentive plan (“2017 Share
Option Plan”) in 2018, as amended and restated in 2020 and
2021, for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best talents
who promote the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2017 Share Option Plan include the certain
directors of the Company, employees and consultants of the
Group. The Company may grant up to 131,580,321 share options

of the Company under the 2017 Share Option Plan.

Details of specific categories of options granted are as follows:
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32. et SR Bt &
20175 iR e T 8l

AR R2018F F 4y — B R 10 R ED AT
gl ([2017F IR 81) (720204
K202V F BT REY]) * AR S| K& ¥ &
RERAEBERNOREAA - 2017F
EREAENGER2EERELAR
AETEE AEEREREM-AQ
A A IRB2O17F R TSR L &S
131,580,321 A~ BB AR 4 o

RHr R AR BT

Number of Exercise price

Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule

& A H REBREHE BROTEE BEREX

May 2021 13,977,309 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 15%, 20%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

202145 A 13,977,309 0.09000% 7T  15% * 20% * 30% K&35% & 53 7 Rl A &7 & i 40 A 57
F—F FoRENAFEHEB

May 2021 200,000 USD0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 22.5%, 35%, 30% and
12.5% on the first, second third and fourth
anniversaries of the vesting commencement date

202154 200,000 0.09000Z 7T 22.5% *35% * 30% N 12.5% 25 7 R R &7 B F 1A
BE— FZ F=RENAFHEB

May 2021 5,585,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in the portion of 0%, 35%, 30% and 35%
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the vesting commencement date

2021954 5,685,000 0.09000Z 7T 0% 35% * 30% }35% £B 73 7 Bl 1A 57 /88 9 1 B 2F
F—F FoRENAFEHEB

May 2021 13,600,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

20215 A 13,600,000 0.00000F%7T SFEBHRBHBED48EAEESHEE

June 2021 19,996,000 USDO0.09000 Vesting in 48 equal monthly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

20216 A 19,996,000 0.00000F%7T BRI HBED48EAZEESHEE

July 2022 2,208,553 USD0.22000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

202246 A 2,208,553 0.22000%7C  35% * 30% K35% &9 D RN B B % — -

F=RENBFRE

BEREREARAT —S-=£5% 261



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g R

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)

2017 Share Option Plan (Continued)

32. R EREEE (&)
2017 B AEET & ()

Number of Exercise price

Date of grant options granted per share Vesting Schedule

A REBRERE BRITEE HEREX

July 2022 200,000 USDO0.22000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

202246 A 200,000 0.22000%7 HERKRBHEIIFEREIHRE

October 2022 264,000 USD0.33000 Vesting in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the
vesting commencement date

20224 10H 264,000 0.330003 7T 35% - 30% &35% H oD RlREERmEEBE =
BE=RFMNBFERE

October 2022 462,500 USD0.33000 Vesting in 4 equal yearly instalments after the
vesting commencement date

20224104 462,500 0.33000% 7T HEMRBAPRIIFERSNEE

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options.
The Group accounts for the 2017 Share Option Plan as an

equity-settled plan.

The following share options were outstanding under the share

TAEENRSEE - AERRITE
NIRE B EZSBAE - NEE 2017
FRRETEEAESEETESETE
FTEIE -

R ERAREERAET SR M AT

option plan during the reporting period: FERRRE M ARTTIE -
Weighted average Number
exercise price* of options
IEFEYTEES BRESE
USD per share ’000
BRET T
At December 31, 2022 and 202212 A31H &

January 1, 2023* 20231 H1H* 118,329
Forfeited during the year FRRIK 0.1297 897
Exercised during the year FANITE 0.0424 14, 234
At December 31, 2023* R2023F12H318* 103,198

* As of December 31, 2023, underlying 93,292,266 shares of the *
options granted under the 2017 Share Option Plan had already been
fully issued through treasury shares held in trust of the Company
as detailed in note 31 and remaining 9,905,505 options are still

outstanding.
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32. SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)

2017 Share Option Plan (continued)

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was Nil
(2022: RMB39,104,000).

The Group recognized share-based expenses during 2023
amounts to RMB96,612,000 (2022: RMB315,852,000).

The fair value of share-based payment compensation granted
during the reporting period was estimated as at the date of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:
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32. R EREEE (&)

20175 iR e st &l (4R)

RERFEHBERENATFERS (2022
F: AR¥39,104,0007T) ©

AN EE R2023F iR AR 9 BB A5
S AR #96,612,0007T (20224 : AR
315,852,0007T) °

HERARR DN AN RER O
ey~ FEREH R BER —BARL
et E B B AR RS R o
TRIRATERORR i A\ BUE

2023 2022

20234 20224F

Expected volatility (%) T8 5% 1R (%) NA RiEF  36.60%-36.80%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 3 F1 2 (%) NA & A 2.88%-4.02%

Expected life of options (year) FERR TR AT HARR () NA FiE A 10
Weighted average share price MEFHRE (BRET)

(USD per share) NA i A 1.8544

Expected dividend yield(%) TEHA AR B S K (%) NA T & A 0.00%

The expected volatility is calculated by reference to the historical
volatility of comparable companies’ stock prices and reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

2021 RSU Scheme

In June 2021, the Company adopted a restricted share unit
scheme (the “RSU Scheme”) to provide incentives for the
directors of the Company and the employees of the Group to
retain them, and to attract suitable personnel for the Group’s
further development. To implement the RSU Scheme, the
Company issued 10,004,000 ordinary shares to Sail Far Holdings
Limited in June 2021. On October 25, 2022, the Company
granted 10,004,000 restricted shares held in Sail Far Holdings
Limited under 2021 RSU Scheme to an employee of the Group.
The RSU shall be vested in the portion of 35%, 30% and 35%
on the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the vesting
commencement date. The fair value of each restricted share at
the grant date was determined by reference to the fair value of
the ordinary shares of the Company. None of the restricted share
unit was vested as at December 31, 2023.

BEIRE 2 E LR A RRENESE
R ET B - 3 S R R SR 1 T FE R R 2R
BERSE TRABRERER

20215 Z (R R 10 E {51 2

20216 A * AN 2 A H A X IR i 19
BAFE ([ZRHIRMDEMETE]) - A
HEIARNAREERANEE RS ARBER
L WAEAAEERE—FERRSEGHE
BIAA o BT EITXRBIRMDEMTE
N2 A PA20214F6 A [A) Sail Far Holdings
Limited 3£ 7710,004,0000% & 8 % - A
202210 H25H AR A iR 1E2021F =
BRI DEMFTEMAERN—RZESR
% ¥ B2 Sail Far Holdings Limited & &)
10,004,0000% 5 BR Il % 17 © 5 BR 1 f% 19
BENEREBRABHE - - F=NE
PO 4 5 511 3235% ~ 30% K2.35% &Y L 17l
FB-REHBH SRIRHIRG
NEEDZERRBEBEROATEE
T 202312 A31H &L R
IR (D B SR B -
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32.

SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN (CONTINUED)
2023 Scheme

In August 2023, the Company adopted the 2023 Scheme to (i)
recognize the contributions by certain eligible participants and
to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (i) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.
To implement the 2023 Scheme, the Company will purchase the
existing shares of the Company through on-market transactions
from time to time at the prevailing market price. The aggregate
number of shares awarded by the Company under the 2023
Scheme shall not exceed 3.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date, and the maximum number of
shares awarded to a selected participant shall not exceed 1.00%
of the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month
period. In 2023, the Company repurchased 8,465,200 ordinary
shares for the 2023 Scheme. None of the shares reserved for
2023 Scheme had been granted as at December 31, 2023.

33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

264

Hubei Siweite

The Group held 35.00% equity interests in Hubei Siweite as of
December 31, 2022. On January 6, 2023, the Group entered into
a share purchase agreement with the then shareholders of Hubei
Siweite to acquire further 45.00% equity interests from one of the
then shareholder of Hubei Siweite at a total cash consideration
of RMB3,218,000. On July 15, 2023, the Group acquired further
20.00% equity interests from the remaining shareholder and
Hubei Siweite became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 3. XK 0t ()
Hubei Siweite (Continued) Mt B4 (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Hubei LB RIE BB AR EE &
Siweite as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEHATFEWT:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
WS RN
AFE
Notes RMB’000
=2 ARBTTT
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEEY 6,008
Trade and bills receivables 2 5 MWK & R W R B 171
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 8 1< I8 ~ Eoth JiE Y 08 K H A
BE 696
Inventories FE 3,648
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB KRR 120
Other intangible assets HEtErEE 740
Deferred tax assets BETIBEE 2
Trade and bills payables B S ENFIBREN R (5,725)
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNFIBEREREA (266)
Deferred tax liabilities REBIEAR 29 (185)
Amounts due to related party JE 1< B e 75 3R IE (2,749
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEERRE BATE 2,460
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 492
1,968
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEENEE 2,111
Satisfied by: XA
Previously held interest in an associate before the 4t Bl 7 U B il 7 — KBt & 2 A
acquisition BAENER 861
Cash consideration paid on January 6, 2023 R2023%F6 H30H &Y
ENBEERE 3,218
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Hubei Siweite (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Hubei Siweite is as follows:

33. B A6t (&)

M B4 (&)

EHANERILBRE MRS RES TN
T

RMB’000
AR® T
Cash consideration paid on January 6, 2023 R2023F6 A30H M E MRS KB (3,218)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EWERe KRS EEY 6,008
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in RERFSZEBYRANTE
cash flows from investing activities (FFAREEFFERERE) 2,790

Since the acquisition, Hubei Siweite contributed RMB63.7 million
to the Group’s revenue and RMBO0.65 million to the Group’s profit
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

During the period, the Group also acquired certain subsidiaries
that are not a business and total net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents included in cash flows from investing activities related
to these acquisition that are not a business was RMB407,000.

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets of RMB40,346,000
(2022:RMB18,691,000) and non-cash additions to lease
liabilities of RMB40,346,000 (2022: RMB18,691,000), in
respect of lease arrangements for buildings.
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF M. EHEESHRERMKE (&)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) MEZTHEHXNEESE
activities )
2023 2023%F
Accrued Consideration
listing Advance and withholding
expenses payments tax payable for
includingin  received for Bank repurchase of
Lease other payables subscription of and other Preferred
liabilites  and accruals  share options borrowings Shares
JESt WX
(Gt AEA BOEXRN
EARER HRIBERE  BORE4  REREN
HEAE EER)  WENRX &R b

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

At January 1, 2023 120231 A1H 67,764 9,164 9,628 - 22,953
Changes from financing cash flows BERE L FEE (35,681) (1,864) 2,522 2,000 (17,789)
Changes from operating cash flows €8 & HEE - (5,147) - - -
Accretion of interest recognised  FREEREF| B0

during the year 3,489 - - - -
New lease addition HAEEM 40,346 = = = -
Termination of lease RIIEE (12,095) - - - -
Acquisition of subsidliaries WEHB AR 1,734 = = = =
At December 31,2023 0023127318 65,557 2,153 12,150 2,000 5,164
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

34. EHREREBRME (F)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) ETHERNEEE
activities (Continued) B (&
2022 20224F
Consideration
Accrued listing Advance  and withholding
EXpenses payments tax payable
Convertible including in received for  for repurchase
redeemable Lease  other payables  subscription of of Preferred
preferred shares liabities ~ and accruals ~ share options Shares
fEi ETRX
(FrARAM, BOELRN
BB ER ERFER HRABBRE  REREN
BER REERE ETER) WEMBR kil
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000
ARETT  ARETT ARt AR%Tr AR
At January 1, 2022 1202241 A1H 7,434,838 87,018 15,096 7,114 22,953
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE - (34,104) (13,384) 2514 -
Changes from operating cash flows E& B¢ FEE - - (29,478) - -
Exchange adjustment X AR 714,731 - - - -
Change in fair value ATEEY 775,260 - - - -
Conversion to ordinary shares upon & X AFI S ERER A
PO AR (8,924,829) - - - -
Accretion of interest recognised
during the year FERERHH SN - 4,041 - - -
New lease addition AMEEEM - 18,691 - - -
Termination of lease RIIEE - (5,015) - - -
Disposal of subsidlaries HERBAR - (379) - - -
Lease concessions HEEZ - (2,489) - - -
Decrease in deferred listing expenses 5T _E B R - - (6,885) - -
Increase in listing expenses including _F B3 3& 1 (5 A&
in capital reserve TEE) - - 21,845 - -
Increase In listing expenses including = TR 32 10 (5 A 77
in administrative expenses BREY) - - 21,970 - -
At December 31, 2022 30022512318 - 67,764 9,164 9,628 22,953
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023412 831H

34. EHREREBRME (F)

it

(c) HERESRLAE

AARERERNHEERSR

of cash flows is as follows: WEEAINTS
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Within operating activities BRI ERE 6,366 4,259
Within financing activities BREERE 35,681 34,104
42,047 38,363

35. A&iE

35. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end

of each reporting period:

RERERR  NEBEH A TEHESE:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARBTT

Contracted, but not provided for: EEENER ST E

Purchases of property, WEWME - BWEREH

plant and equipment 141 399
Total st 141 399
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. B LR Z

() BBRER

(a) Names and relationships

Name of related parties

Relationship with the Group

BHE 28 BEALBHEEFR
Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Associate*

u—lﬁ/uxl)ﬁ ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@j ﬁ%'/\j*
Hubei Siweite Assomate**
/ﬁﬂ j-t SN W E"T’T Hkﬁ AN —J ok

Tencent Cloud (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
RAEAE (LR BREERA

Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
BaRE CRYDBRA A

Tencent Technology (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.
B () AR AT

Shenzhen Tencent Venture Base Development Co., Ltd.

RYIH A AIRE M ERAR AR

Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Co., Ltd.

AYMEAAERETERA

Tenpay Technology Company Limited
MR NRERARA

Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries

Medpion Cayman & £ ff} & A 7

* Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. had become an associate

of the Group since March 7, 2023.

>k

Hkkk

Hubei Siweite had become a subsidiary of the Group since
January 6, 2023 and therefore is no longer presented as a
related party of the Group since then. Further details are set out
in note 33 to the financial statements.

Tencent was a major shareholder of the Company which owned
over 20% voting rights of the Company during the years 2023
and 2022.

Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries were voluntarily disclosed
as related parties by the Group since June 23, 2021 because the
shareholding structure of Medpion Cayman substantially mirrored
the Company’s shareholding structure before Series F financing.
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Controlled by Tencent**

A B AR &l

Controlled by Tencent™*

PR R AR i

Controlled by Tencent**

F B AR )

Controlled by Tencent™*

PR AR

Controlled by Tencent**

P B AR &l

Controlled by Tencent™*

PR 8 AL i

Entities controlled by same
shareholders of the Group™**

F 7N 5 [ 4 ) B SR AR il RO R

* U_Iﬁ/u\/ EQZZﬁBE jg
2023%F3H7THEK AN EEH

BB AT -

= ORdE B4R 5202391 A6H
BEKARNEBNHE R A
FHut B i T BIERAEEK
BE 25— LB H
R FR R M 7133 ©

~* o JR2023% F2022%F AL A
ARAHARABR  BHAR

AlBI20% 1R =k

*** Medpion Cayman REKBA
7] 5202146 A23H B AN &
l ENEE Y1) J?l
& Medpion Cayman HY I i 2R
BEE L RBARQREFEH
B E A AR AR A o
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 36. @B L RS (&)
b) EXEBLXS

REFENE E2023F12A318 |
FEDETUTERBEB IR S:

(b) Significant related party transactions

The Group had the following material related party
transactions during the year ended December 31, 2023:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR¥T T AREFTT
Sales of products HEEM
Associate /N (@) - 580
Rendering of services RHRE
Controlled by Tencent B e aR xSl @) 10 133
Purchase of technology BERMTXFRE
support services
Controlled by Tencent R g AR &l (b) 1,687 922
Purchase of consulting BERARE
services
Medpion Cayman and its Medpion Cayman
subsidiaries HiB A A (b) 3,053 5,660
Purchase of payment services & E X {1 IR 1§
Controlled by Tencent FA BB FRAE & (b) 4,242 4,920
Purchase of products BEEM
Associate /N (o) 8,047 -
Loans to an associate B—XREENTER
Associate iR l/N (© 6,000 -
Interest income FEWA
Associate i El/NE] (© 200 -

BIRRERE AR AT
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The sale to an associate and the service rendered to an
associate, entities controlled by Tencent and Medpion Cayman
and its subsidiaries were based on arm’s length negotiation
between the Group and an associate, the Group and entities
controlled by Tencent or the Group and Medpion Cayman and its
subsidiaries on a cost-plus basis with reference to the expected
cost of promotion work that Group have completed.

The purchases of services and products from an associate,
entities controlled by Tencent and Medpion Cayman and its
subsidiaries were based on arm’s length negotiation between the
Group and an associate, the Group and entities controlled by
Tencent or the Group and Medpion Cayman and its subsidiaries
with reference to market rates.

The loan is short-term loan to Shanxi Sipai Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. amounting to RMB6,000,000 in total with an annual interest
rate of 6.00% and the due date is June 14, 2024.
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36. BT RXZ (&)
(b) EXEBL RS

GEE

@)

M XEE N RIETHHEE KM
BE AR BEAMESNERER
Medpion Cayman & H ] & A 742
8 AR 75 T B AN 5 B B — RO
RAAEEHEBBAZEGNE
B2 - o} 7K &£ [E B Medpion Cayman
REW B A BHER A MK - 82
EAEEDTRERETENTE
HIR A D FREEET -

M—KEE AT BEFIERINE
B2 X2 Medpion Cayman & H i B A
AEERBSRERNIEANEEHHR
—REtE A AEEEARER
7= | 7 E 58 - ok AN £ B B2 Medpion
Cayman X EIffE A2 ETIHE
AT ERET -

ZERBAILABRKEHZERA
AIEEREBHES  BEAARE
6,000,0007T * £F #] & 46.00% * EI
HIH A202496 4148 °



(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RR I

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

36. AL X5 (&)

(c) HEB AT 2B KRER
BRER

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes Nature RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 #HE ARETR ARETFR
Amounts due from related FE W BB B T R
parties:
Trade and bills receivables EoRUNEREKRE
Controlled by Tencent B B AR (a) trade
25 11 -
Other receivables HinEWFIE
Associate YN (o) non-trade
IEE 5 6,200 -
Prepayments BAARE
Controlled by Tencent B B AR © trade
25 1,490 883
7,701 883
Amounts due to related EAR®LRE:
parties:
Other payables HipE{FE
Associate YN (d) trade
25 - 613
Medpion Cayman and its Medpion Cayman (e) trade
subsidiaries HHBAT g5 - 1,727
Controlled by Tencent B B AL ] trade
25 110 41
Trade and bills payables ESERTEREFES
Associate =N © trade
25 367 -
477 2,381
The balances with related parties are unsecured and HEEM T RN SR AEIERE
non-interest-bearing. Lo =)

BIRRERE AR AT
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

274

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties
(Continued)

(d)

Notes:

(@)

The outstanding balances are receivables for the rendering of
health insurance services.

The outstanding balances are short-term loans to Shanxi Sipai

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. amounting to RMB6,000,000 in total

The outstanding balances are prepayments for the purchase of

The outstanding balances are payables for the settlement of

The outstanding balances are payables for the provision of health

The outstanding balances are payables for the purchase of cloud

(b)

with an annual interest rate of 6.00%.
©

cloud servers.
(d)

price adjustment compensation.
©

management service.
®

servers.
@)

The outstanding balances are payables for the purchase of
products.

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

36. AL X5 (&)
() ERRAEES M REB
BREE: (&)

GEE

@ REESHSEREERERRRS
) 8 YR IR @

b AEERGEHR/MLTETRIKEER
R A al4R & 2k A K #6,000,000
TCHREHIE R F A X /56.00%

© KREESEHSBEZMR[NHE
R0 -

o KREEEHSGEEERBRMEE
B A5 R IR @

© KREESEHSREEEEREHN
AN

H KREEEHSBEZMARBNE
R0 -

@ KREEEHRBEERNENK

d ZEBETEEEAEN
N :

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTF T
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B RN

benefits in kind EaE A 8,354 6,632
Pension scheme contributions BRIRSE SR 143 140
Share-based payment compensation SR & ZL 4 2 15 7Y 5 B 63,730 227,937

Total compensation paid to key SNTEEERABNTH
management personnel i 48 58 72,227 234,709

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: T
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets SREE AR®ET T AREFT
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRAFEFABRD
TREE:
Monetary fund ERES 117,045 -
Wealth management products B E m 80,230 -
Structured deposits HEBMTR 281,073 -
Subtotal INEF 478,348 -
Financial assets at amortised cost: R SR AR A BRHY
TREE:
Trade and bills receivables B 5 IEWRIE K e R E 329,955 241,256
Financial assets included in prepayments, &+ AFE{ 7018 - H b B UL X
other receivables and other assets BREMEENSREE 117,615 102,630
Time deposits TE BRTF 3K 331,427 75,146
Pledged deposits [ iRER N 147,115 76,170
Cash held on behalf of client REFFAENRE 299,755 334,599
Amounts due from related parties JiE Ui A B 5 SR IE 6,211 883
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEHEY 495,425 1,455,454
Subtotal /INET 1,727,503 2,286,138
Total @t 2,205,851 2,286,138
Financial liabilities THAR
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: BRAFETABRD
TREE:
Contingent consideration payables JERT S AR(E - 3,677
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REEKATERN
TRAE:
Trade and bills payables 2 5 RIA 464,269 340,051
Financial liabilities included in other T A E At FE S BUIE K
payables and accruals A ERNeRAaE 328,275 359,534
Amounts due to related parties JE <t R Bt 77 FRTB 477 2,381
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R B A K 2,000 -
Subtotal /INET 795,021 701,966
Total et 795,021 705,643
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, cash held on behalf of client, time deposits, pledged
deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, amounts due to
related parties, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the financial director
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At the end
of each reporting period, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments
periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted investments, mainly composed
of wealth management products and monetary fund provided
by banks in Chinese Mainland. The Group has estimated the
fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of
instruments with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of the convertible redeemable preferred shares
measured at FVTPL are determined using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. Further details are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements. The fair value of contingent consideration
payables is determined using the discounted cash flow method.
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 3B.2MIEANAFERATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) Bk (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRHBEAEESRTENATETE
of the Group’s financial instrument: [Z 4
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value: BEAFEFENEERAE:
As at December 31, 2023 202312831 H

Fair value measurement using

ERATSENRFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERT 5 EATEE EATTBE

HE BARE BARE
(B18) (%24%) (%3%) CH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®TR ARBTR ARETR

Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABENS R
BE - 478,348 - 478,348
As at December 31, 2022 2022512831 H
Fair value measurement using
FRUATERENLTEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTS BAUHE  ERTIER
HE BAHE BAHE
(E18]) (Z28R) (%3%) @at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT
Financial liabilities tHEE
Contingent consideration payables &3 AR (E - - 3,677 3,677
During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value RBEHR SRMEELEREBENET
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into WMEAER N FEFE 2 EWEEE - L
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities P A BB 53R (20224F 1 £ ) o
(2022: Nil).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, pledged deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL and convertible redeemable preferred shares.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarized below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from from financing activities by subsidiaries in currencies
other than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of each
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the USD and
HKD exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s loss before tax (arising from USD and HKD denominated
financial instruments) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in
the fair value of forward currency contracts).

3. TRIAMEEEERBE

AEENTFESRIAEAERS RS
FEY THREX DHERER BLF
BT AR S BVE B & Al 85 4 A] R (o)
BER - ZEZERMIANTEANER
AEBENELEERES AEEHEEFS
BEMEMEENBE WEERALE
ELNE ZRUKIEREREEARE
PR FIARENRE -

AEBoRTAEENT ZRRAINE
R FERBRERDECAR -EF
SEHNYREERE L& RARABER

BRABCRBRT -

5 BEE L B

AEBFEEXZEEEER - ARER
BEIPH B8 2 B LAPH BB 2 B Th a2 & LA SN
ERETRE RS MESL

TRINIRN & &S R P A H ] &
REEFTENBER T NEBHBRT
RIEE (AXTTRABTHEN S/ TR
EX)RAEENES (RERERS
MR EZFMB)EXTRBTE
RKHRAEA B EFNHRE -

Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/
in rate increase (Decrease)/
of foreign in loss increase
currency before tax in equity
EBxEtH RREL AT B 1B R
(TH) (THE)/EtH (TH) LtH
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARET T
2023 20234
If RMB weakens against USD MARBHETIE 5 (20) (20)
If RMB strengthens against USD il A R #E W T FAHE (5) 20 20
If RMB weakens against HKD AR ABTEE 5 277) 277)
If RMB strengthens against HKD ~ fifi A R ¥ 3,78 ST FHE ) 277 277
2022 20224
If RMB weakens against USD M AREHETLIEE 5 7) 7)
If RMB strengthens against USD i A R#E X T FAHE (5) 7 7
If RMB weakens against HKD MARBRABTEE 5 (7,402) (7,402)
If RMB strengthens against HKD  fisi A R ¥ 3B T FHE ) 7,402 7,402
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 390. 2 RiEMEEBEERKE
POLICIES (CONTINUED) (48)
Credit risk ZERE
An impairment analysis was performed at reporting period using a RPERRE NG A REEEETR
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision Bof U EBHEEEE -BEXR
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various TR ERNIEEIA S EESELEEERE
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects N ZEEEAEE =& L= N
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money and AR SEEEEBENLRNRNTSE BER
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the EESWNEBBESEH 2R LRk
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts AR IR S IR N BB ER -
of future economic conditions.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EeEBENERERER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRKIERAAI2AIIEBNEEEEZLER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which AREBZERENESZERE (FE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information HRN@ HE K B IE 8 E 8 % Ak AN 5k %%
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging JIBN RIS H M B B LA R FF R AT EE P&
classification as at 31 December. EEPnfE-
At December 31, 2023 2023F12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A 78 59
FEBR FEOEHEERSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1P B FRER HIREER K @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TE AR¥Tn AR¥TR AR¥Tz AR%Tx
Trade and bills receivables* EoRUFEREKEE" - - - 345,148 345,148
Contract assets* BWEE" - - - 135,746 135,746
Financial assets included in AR FE  Eb R
prepayments, other receivables  FUB R E i & EH)
and other assets SREE 117,615 - - - 117,615
Amounts due from related parties &R B E 5 2B 6,211 - - - 6,211
Time deposits THER 331,427 - - = 331,427
Pledged deposits EERER 147,115 - - - 147,115
Cash held on behalf of clients REFHEMRS 299,755 - - = 299,755
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 495,425 - - - 495,425
Total @t 1,397,548 - - 480,894 1,878,442

TRRENEERAT —E==55% 279



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41. £ BiEKREE A ERBX

POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EeRENEEXRFEMREEBR
(Continued) (&)
At December 31, 2022 2022512831 H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A
FEBE FENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER FRER RIER B @t

RVB'OO0O ~ RVMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Trade and bills receivables* B RNFER EREE - - = 253,507 253,507
Contract assets* BHBE" - - = 98,613 98,613
Financial assets included in STABRNTIA K
prepayments, other receivables  FUB R E i EEH
and other assets TREE 102,630 - - - 102,630
Time deposits TEER 75,146 - - - 75,146
Pledged deposits EERER 76,170 - - - 76,170
Cash held on behalf of clients ~ REPHAEHNRSE 334,599 - - - 334,599
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBeEEY 1,455,454 - - - 1,455,454
Total 5 2,043,999 - - 362,120 2,396,119
* For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to which the Group * AREEERS(E T EETHENE S
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on JEW IR EREERANEEMS
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 21 and 22 to the financial ERBEEENE RS BB 7% & M
statements, respectively. 01 o0 EE o

280 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2023



39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor
° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event

° it is probable that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records and past
experience. The Group recognized allowance for financial assets
other than trade and bills receivables based on 12-month ECLs
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.

39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H
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o ERARAIEHRESETEMY
BEM

AEBERETRR EBERESMTE

BIHRAZRLEEONRERZE EHE

R TANEERR B VHRER

Eﬁ¢mi*bﬂ°

EEBERELGHECEMBELR
IS ET ATE SRR - E R WA Ko
HMEENSREEETERNE X
S H b WK IR B AT U [ 1 E 1T Y R
- AEBEEM2ME A AP EEFHIRE
ReMEE (BZHRUFIANEBKRZEE
B o1 B 1 48 - 3 3 A IR 1 R B A R B
IBIEH R -

BEREREARAT —S-=£5% 281



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated
cash flows from operations and lease liabilities. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has

adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and lease
liabilities as at the end of each reporting period, based on the

9. ¢ MAKREEEERKE

(%)
REE = @k

AEEN B R EBERRIEENE

2ReREMMERARE

N AE

1

Az R R S - AR B E i

MET2ESMN  URRESR BRI
BERBTEMBGEE-

REBEHR AEBEcHBENREE
BEERSORMBANRNIHRBE N

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows: S8
Group NEE
2023
20234
Less than 3to 12 1to5 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
TEEA 3ZE12f8A 1255 HiB5E @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥ETR AR¥Tr AR¥ETR AR¥ET:
Bank and other borrowings R1T R E A B 2,000 - - - 2,000
Trade and bills payables E 5 RIE R ER
E ¥/ 3 464,269 - - - 464,2699
Financial liabiliies included in AR FOE KRR
other payables and accruals ERAMERAE 328,275 - - - 328,275
Amounts due to related parties FES BB R 7 7R 477 - - - 477
Lease liabilities HEEE 7,002 21,803 40,561 653 70,019
Total 1B 802,023 21,803 40,561 653 865,040
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

CREAREEABRKE

(&)

REBETER (&)

Group AEE
2022
20224
Less than 3t012 1105 More than
3 months months years 5 years Total
TEHIEA  3E12[A 1E5%F BT B
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARET:R
Trade and bills payables BORNFBERENER 340,051 - - - 340,051
Financial liabiliies included in other 5t A ft & < 7008 I FE &t
payables and accruals ERMERARE 359,534 - - - 359,534
Contingent consideration payables ~ fER 8 AR (B 4,200 - - - 4,200
Amounts due to related parties FE< BB 7 70R 2,381 - - - 2,381
Lease liabilties HERR 8,533 22,021 39,366 985 70,905
Total Bt 714,699 22,021 39,366 985 777,071
Capital management ERXEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

AEBEREANEEZRRARERE
R - UXHBEEBRSEREERA
(o

AEBRBEEEMRRE N RABEERN
RS EEEARBIYEHRARE A
IS AREAEE AEEAEAE
MR TS - AR R E B A
BATHRAD c REBAF T M EF 58 H0
B & RN B SRA) R o 7 B £2023%F K 2022
FI2ABIBLLFE EBERANERZR:
BERSIEF I EE S -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RR M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (Continued)

The asset-liability ratios as at the end of each reporting period are

9. ¢ MAKREEEERKE

(&)
EXEE (&)
REFERRNEERBILENT

as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Total assets BEE 2,815,040 2,929,554
Total liabilities wmBeE 1,183,889 1,095,422
Asset-liability ratio BEAGBLE 42% 37%

Note: Asset-liability ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets
and multiplying the product by 100%.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events occurred after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB Rz

December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. R B BT T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the NN B RS B R BT ko /B R
Company at the end of the reporting NS
period is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRIMIRE 3,824,780 3,728,169
Total non-current assets IEMBEERE 3,824,780 3,728,169
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables — TE/~ Z/ 18  H b & Uk k78 K&
and other assets HEmEE 119 375
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Ut BB A &) K IE 42,632 155,222
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS ED 48,583 1,279
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEERAEBEN
TREE 117,045 -
Total current assets MBEERE 208,379 156,876
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Other payables and accruals Hib [ RIBRIERTE A 11,952 30,332
Amounts due to subsidiaries & B A R 3R0B 213,941 64,264
Total current liabilities mBBERARE 225,893 94,596
NET CURRENT RE(BE) EEFE
(LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (17,514) 62,280
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERARBDAS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,807,266 3,790,449
NET ASSETS BEFE 3,807,266 3,790,449
EQUITY =
Share capital & 75 513 514
Reserves 1 3,806,753 3,789,935
Total equity WS AEER 3,807,266 3,790,449
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RIB R M

December 31, 2023 2023%12A31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

M. AAFBBEMRRET (8)

The balances of the Company’s (deficits)/reserves and the

WEHN - RRFE (B, REERR

movements therein for the reporting period are presented as KM EEEFD RO
follows:
Foreign
Share-based currency
Treasury Capital Other payment translation Accumulated
shares reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
DA A E B
ERRH EXfif At WXARE MERERE 2itE# @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%ETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At January 1, 2022 R2022%1A1H - - (294,099) 437,494 235,699 (4213413 (3,834,319
Total comprenensive ~ FAZEHTAR
expense for the year - - - - (720,268) (928,727) (1,648,995)
Conversion of BRLRBER
redeemable BEERES:S b
convertiole prefered  [REBAL AR
shares into ordinary
shares upon IPO - 8,837,683 - - - - 8,837,683
Net proceeds of issue of  BRAREERTR
shares from IPO RREFEE - 143,369 - - - - 143,369
Repurchase of the vested FEIE 5 & H g
share options - - (18,229) (6,432) - - (23,655)
Share-based payment AR BERE T )
compensation ol - - - 315,852 - - 315,852
At December 31,2022 R2022F12A31A R
and January 1, 2003 202351 A 1A - 8981052 (312,322) 747 914 (484569 (5,142,140 378993
Total comprenensive ~ ERZERA/
income/(expense) (Ax)es
for the year - - - - 4303 (17,087) (12,784)
Repurchase of the BEEER
ordinary shares (61,164) (10,117) - - - - (71,281)
Exercise of share options T3k 1E - 49,154 - (44,883) - - 4,271
Share-based payment BRI BEE S (HE)
compensation i - - - 96,612 - - 9,612
At December 31,2023 720231274318 (61,164) 9,020,089 (312,322) 799,643 (480,266)  (5,159,227) 3,806,753

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. #tEM KR E

R RBRINAC02AFEIAI0OAREFT &
HefE N R T3 o

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue
by the board of directors on March 19, 2024.
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DEFINITIONS
B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the RARFHA BXERBAIEIN THFAZR

following expressions shall have the following meanings.

“AGM”
[BRBFEANE]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEg]

“Board of Directors” or
“Board”

EL3 1

“BVI”
[(REBRELES]

“CG Code”
[XER<TAl

“China” or “PRC”
[H B
“Company”, “our

Company”
AN

“Director(s)”
(&%)

“Global Offering
[EBREE]

“GP(s)”
(2R L]

” oo

“Group”, “our Group”,

“OUY”, “We”, or “US”

[AR&EE ] =k [P

“Hong Kong”

(&%

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[l

“IFRS”

BATEE-

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, June 20, 2024
RRARER2024F6 H208 (2HM) BITHRRBEF RS

the audit committee of the Board
EEgERLEE

the board of Directors

58

IS

the British Virgin Islands
RERIES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

EAR RIS CIERTE M [ EE AR

the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
PEARANE BAFHRLEHMRZ2EN S  TEEEE RFILAE

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd., an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on May 19, 2015 )
BIRERERAR AR R2015F5 108 R ERERS EEAMN LN EREE
[RA7A]

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARRABEFHEFEIA—RES

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
EEAHBEENERZEE

the general practitioner who treat common medical conditions and refer patients to
hospitals and other medical services for urgent and specialist treatment

AEERARLAEABE SR LARRRNSRBELTRSREARN2
8

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities, or any
one of them as the context may require or, where the context refers to any time prior
to its incorporation, the business which its predecessors or the predecessors of its
present subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may require, were or was
engaged in and which were subsequently assumed by it
RRBIAREMENB AR R EGEMBER AR EA—FHAR (MXEMIE)
sk (AR IR B MR S AR (RIS ) BRI B s HIR BB A RI& AT & - s E
ER—EAR (MXEME) RERHERHARNER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B E B R RITT R

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
DRRETREN FEEEEH

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by the
International Accounting Standards Board
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DEFINITIONS
B=

[ B B 7% e & 22 R

“Listing”
Mshil

“Listing Rules”
[ R 8]
“Model Code”
[1E <7l

“New Contractual
Arrangements”

[#& D HE ]
“Reporting Period”

[ ¥ 5 5

“Prospectus”

[ ER ]

“RMB”
[AR® ]

“Share(s)” or
“Ordinary Share(s)”
[ ] sk [ EimAk ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“SMO”
[SMO |

“Stock Exchange”
6 52 Ffr |

“Tencent”
[ Em ]

“Tencent Group”
[EAEE]

“United States” or “U.S.”

SN

"US§’
EH

ll%”
[% |
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B % & 51 2 B 3% =5 & A B AR A O BRI R B 7 o o E R

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PAD PO B A2 P E AR TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)
BEABMERIMARAARZ S AR (K TEHERT - s A B 75 HER)

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. o )
FTARRIMERCIME [ LM BT AZERETESF X MRS

the series of contractual arrangements entered into between, among others, the Sipai
Healthcare Investment, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the as detailed in the
announcement of the Company dated December 7, 2023 and as amended, restated,
renewed, reproduced or joined from time to time

B(EFREE BREREE GABBERIUN —RIEG0TH #FRARRAB
B A2023F 12 A7TEI A S K TKEET 8| FH - ERHSE A

for the year ended December 31, 2023
HE2023F12A31B I FE

the prospectus of the Company dated December 12, 2022
RATHEAR2022F 12 A12B M BRER

Renmjinbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR HBEEESE

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the
Company -
AN AR AN & AR EE0.0001 35 7T H 3 3@ AR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFE A

site management organization, an organization that provides clinical trial related
services to medical device companies having adequate infrastructure and staff to meet
the requirements of the clinical trial protocol

B ERAER RERSEMARREGERSARBEREHEE ZIRBEREBTER
KRBT RERNRTEERRBRAR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERIMAERATR

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 700) ) )

BEFIERR B R AR — KM ARERZFT ETH A A (AR5 700)

Tencent, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities

BB Ar RHREEEE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction B

EFBERE EEL B ASXERAEENTEHE

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBUEEE®

per cent
Bkt

., LTD. Annual Report 2023



Medbhanks

Sipai Health Technology Co., Lid.
REREHEARALT

MIX
Paper | Supporting

responsible forestry
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